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As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “TrueCar”, “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to TrueCar, Inc., and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries, TrueCar.com, Inc. and ALG, Inc., unless the context indicates otherwise. TrueCar.com, Inc. is referred 
to as “TrueCar.com” and ALG, Inc. is referred to as “ALG.”

Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, which 
statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future 
financial or operating performance. In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as 
“anticipates,” “believes,” “continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “likely,” “plans,” “potential,” 
“predicts” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms. Forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• our future financial performance and our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, gross profit or gross margin, 
operating expenses, ability to grow revenue, scale our business, generate cash flow, fulfill our mission and ability to achieve, 
and maintain, future profitability;

• our relationship with key industry participants, including car dealers and automobile manufacturers; 
• anticipated trends, growth rates and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate; 
• our ability to anticipate market needs and develop new and enhanced products and services to meet those needs, including an 

automotive trade-in product offering and new programs with automobile manufacturers, and our ability to successfully 
monetize them; 

• maintaining and expanding our customer base in key geographies, including our ability to increase the number of high 
volume brand dealers in our network generally and in key geographies; 

• our reliance on our third-party service providers;
• the impact of competition in our industry and innovation by our competitors; 
• our anticipated growth and growth strategies, including our ability to increase close rates and the rate at which site visitors 

prospect with a TrueCar certified dealer;
• our ability to successfully increase dealer subscription rates, and manage dealer churn, as the number of dealers on 

subscription billing arrangements increases relative to those on a pay-per-sale billing model; 
• our ability to anticipate or adapt to future changes in our industry; 
• the impact on our business of seasonality, cyclical trends affecting the overall economy, and actual or threatened severe 

weather events; 
• our ability to hire and retain necessary qualified employees, including anticipated additions to our dealer, product and 

technology teams;
• our ability to integrate recent additions to our management team; 
• our continuing ability to provide customers access to our products and services and the impact of any failure of our solution 

innovations; 
• the evolution of technology affecting our products, services and markets; 
• our ability to adequately protect our intellectual property; 
• the anticipated effect on our business of litigation to which we are a party; 
• our ability to stay abreast of new or modified laws and regulations that currently apply or become applicable to our business; 
• the expense and administrative workload associated with being a public company; 
• failure to maintain an effective system of internal controls necessary to accurately report our financial results and prevent 

fraud; 
• our liquidity and working capital requirements; 
• the estimates and estimate methodologies used in preparing our consolidated financial statements;
• the future trading prices of our common stock and the impact of securities analysts’ reports on these prices;
• the preceding and other factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in other reports we may file with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time; and
• the factors set forth in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations.”

 Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual 
results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss these risks in greater detail in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. You should not put undue reliance on any 
forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in 
assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking information, except to the extent required by applicable securities 



Table of Contents

4

laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates 
with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
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PART I

 Item 1. Business
Overview

 Our Mission: We exist to be the most transparent brand in automotive, to serve as a catalyst that dramatically improves the 
way people discover, buy and sell cars.

 We have established a diverse software ecosystem on a common technology infrastructure, powered by proprietary data and 
analytics. Our company-branded platform is available on our TrueCar website and mobile applications. In addition, we customize and 
operate our platform on a co-branded basis for our many affinity group marketing partners, including financial institutions like USAA, 
Chase and American Express, membership-based organizations like Consumer Reports, AARP, Sam's Club and AAA, and employee 
buying programs for large enterprises such as IBM and Walmart. We enable users to obtain market-based pricing data on new and used 
cars, and to connect with our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers. We also allow automobile manufacturers, known in the industry as 
OEMs, to connect with TrueCar users during the purchase process and efficiently deliver targeted incentives to consumers.
 
 We benefit consumers by providing information related to what others have paid for a make, model and trim of car in their 
area and guaranteed savings off the manufacturer’s suggested retail price, or MSRP, for that make, model and trim, as well as, in most 
instances, price offers on actual vehicle inventory, which we refer to as VIN-based offers, from our network of TrueCar Certified 
Dealers. Guaranteed savings off MSRP are reflected in a Guaranteed Savings Certificate which the consumer may then take to the 
dealer and apply toward the purchase of the specified make, model and trim of car. VIN-based offers provide consumers with price 
offers for specific vehicles from specific dealers. We benefit our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers by enabling them to attract 
these informed, in-market consumers in a cost-effective, accountable manner, which we believe helps them to sell more cars 
profitably. We benefit OEMs by allowing them to more effectively target their incentive spending at deep-in-market consumers during 
their purchase process.

 Our network of over 15,000 TrueCar Certified Dealers consists primarily of new car franchises, representing all major makes 
of cars, as well as independent dealers selling used vehicles. TrueCar Certified Dealers operate in all 50 states and the District of 
Columbia.

 Our subsidiary, ALG, Inc., provides forecasts and consulting services regarding determination of the residual value of an 
automobile at given future points in time. These residual values are used to underwrite automotive loans and leases to determine 
payments by consumers. In addition, financial institutions use this information to measure exposure and risk across loan, lease and 
fleet portfolios. We also obtain automobile purchase data from a variety of sources and use this data to provide consumers and dealers 
with highly accurate, geographically specific, real-time pricing information.

Products and Services
 

Consumer

 Consumers interface with us via our TrueCar branded website, affinity group marketing partner websites, and TrueCar 
branded and affinity group mobile applications.

 The following are key elements of our consumer experience:

 Market pricing data. Through our websites and mobile applications, a consumer selects a vehicle, adds desired options and 
inputs a ZIP code. In most instances, we then present the consumer with the TrueCar Curve, a graphical distribution of what others 
paid for a similar make, model and trim of car. Within this distribution, we include MSRP, factory invoice and average price paid for 
that make, model and trim in the consumer’s local market. We generally provide consumers with our TrueCar Average, a proprietary 
calculation based on the recent transactions of TrueCar users, that provides an understanding of what others have paid for similarly 
configured vehicles. This information enables the consumer to evaluate a potential price in the context of broader market data.

 Guaranteed Savings Certificates. After the consumer has received the context supplied by the market pricing data described 
above, the consumer may elect to connect with local TrueCar Certified Dealers by releasing the consumer’s contact information to 
those dealers. A consumer who makes this election then receives one or more Guaranteed Savings Certificates from the dealers that 
received the consumer’s contact information. The Guaranteed Savings Certificate issued by each TrueCar Certified Dealer will reflect 
the amount of guaranteed savings off MSRP that the consumer may then take to that dealer and apply toward the purchase of the 
specified make, model and trim of car.
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 VIN-based Offers. In most instances, in addition to receiving one or more Guaranteed Savings Certificates, the consumer will 
also receive price offers on in-stock vehicles with specified Vehicle Identification Numbers (“VINs”) from each of the Certified 
Dealers that has supplied the consumer with a Guaranteed Savings Certificate. These VIN-based offers provide consumers with price 
offers for specific vehicles from specific Certified Dealers.

Dealer

 Our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers interfaces with our platform primarily through our Dealer Portal, an application 
that can be accessed online or using a mobile device. The Dealer Portal is considered a sales enhancement tool, and it enables dealers 
to access unique information on their prospects unavailable to them in their standard customer relationship management (CRM) 
software. The Dealer Portal allows dealers to assess the competitiveness of their vehicle pricing relative to their market, create vehicle 
pricing rules, access details on potential buyers wants and needs, create custom detailed offers based on vehicles in stock, manage how 
their dealership profile appears on the network, assess their competitive market performance on vehicles sold through their dealership, 
as well a number of administrative and other management tools. With the mobile application for iOS and Android, dealers also have 
the ability to provide a price quote on a vehicle relative to the local market, regardless of whether the potential buyer was sourced via 
the TrueCar network or not. 

 
 Pricing tools. The Pricing Manager provides dealers with a single interface to assess the competiveness of their vehicle 
pricing relative to their market and set pricing on all makes and models they offer for sale. The Sales Analyzer helps dealers better 
understand how their pricing for recently sold vehicles compares to the market, whether or not the customer transaction was with one 
of our users.

 
 Sales closing tools. The Offer Tool helps dealers create custom detailed offers based on vehicles in stock. The Dealership 
Profile enables dealers to identify their selling benefits to customers, including salesperson names and pictures, dealership makes, 
hours of operation and website and social media links.

 
Manufacturers

 
 We enable manufacturers to target consumers based on membership in an affinity group and other criteria. Through our 
platform, manufacturers can create cash incentives targeted to specific consumers and provide the ability to generate a unique coupon 
code that can be redeemed and validated at any dealership across the country in connection with the purchase of a new car. By 
facilitating and tracking these incentive codes in their own reporting systems, manufacturers can account directly for this method of 
reaching consumers. These manufacturers pay a per-vehicle fee to us for this service.

Used car listings
 

 For consumers looking to purchase a used car, we provide an aggregated listing of used vehicles for sale in their local area. 
These listings are consolidated from a variety of sources, including members of our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers that sell 
used cars. In addition to displaying stated information made available by the seller about the pricing and condition of a car, we provide 
consumers with information related to the value of other cars of the same make, model, year and stated condition in the market. 
Through our websites and mobile applications, the user can contact the dealer, identifying herself as a TrueCar user, to initiate 
communications that may ultimately result in a completed transaction.

ALG

 We forecast data on residual values of cars and provide this information on a subscription and consultative basis via ALG, our 
wholly-owned subsidiary. Automotive manufacturers, lenders, lessors, dealers and software providers use information from ALG to 
determine the residual value of an automobile at given points in time in the future. These residual values are used to underwrite 
automotive loans and leases to determine payments by consumers. In addition, financial institutions use this information to measure 
exposure and risk across loan, lease and fleet portfolios.
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Sales and Marketing
 

Consumer marketing
 

 We reach consumers through the TrueCar website and our branded mobile applications and websites we maintain for our 
affinity group marketing partners. Our marketing is focused on building the TrueCar brand. The key tenets of our brand are providing 
transparent market price information and enhancing the car-buying experience for both consumers and dealers. We divide our 
marketing spend between traditional media sources, such as television and radio, and digital media. Our consumer brand awareness 
efforts are aided by the fact that we are quoted in various media outlets from time to time as a recognized industry authority on 
automotive retail and online data forecasting.

 We also support initiatives for our affinity group marketing partners, including USAA, Consumer Reports, AAA, American 
Express and PenFed. These initiatives are designed to promote awareness of the organizations’ car-buying programs among their 
memberships through a variety of media, including television, email, direct mail, website development, print, online advertising, 
Internet search engine marketing, Internet search engine optimization and social networking.

 
Dealer engagement and industry relations

 
 Our dealer sales force is responsible for supporting our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers, optimizing our TrueCar 
Certified Dealer coverage across brands and geographies and for providing onboarding and dealer support. Our sales force helps 
dealers grow their businesses by regularly providing data-driven insights on inventory management and pricing.

 
 Our ability to understand the needs of, actively listen to, and collaborate with our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers is 
crucial to our success. Many of our dealer sales force employees have worked at dealerships or OEMs. In response to feedback from 
our dealer network, in 2012 we formed an advisory panel of influential dealers to regularly meet with our senior management team to 
provide updates and opinions on how to improve our role in the car selling experience for dealers.

 
Competition

 
 The automotive retail industry is highly competitive and fragmented. Consumers use a variety of online and offline sources to 
research vehicle information, obtain vehicle pricing information and identify dealers. In addition, dealers use a variety of marketing 
channels to promote themselves to consumers.

 
Competition for consumer awareness

 
 We compete to attract consumers directly to our TrueCar.com website and mobile applications primarily on the basis of the 
quality of the consumer experience; the breadth, depth and accuracy of information; brand awareness and reputation.

 
 Our principal competitors for consumer awareness include:

• Internet search engines and online automotive sites such as Google, AutoTrader.com, eBay Motors, Autoweb.com 
(formerly Autobytel.com), Edmunds.com, KBB.com, Cargurus.com and Cars.com;

• sites operated by automobile manufacturers;

• providers of offline, membership-based car-buying services, such as the Costco Auto Program; and 

• offline automotive classified listings, such as trade periodicals and local newspapers.

 
Competition for car dealer marketing spend

 
 We compete for a share of car dealers’ overall marketing expenditures within online and offline media marketing channels. 
We compete primarily on the basis of the transaction-readiness of our users; the efficiency of customer acquisition as compared to 
alternative methods; the accountability and measurability of our service; product features, analytics and tools; dealer support; and the 
size of our prospective car buyer audience. Other businesses also derive a majority of their revenue by offering consumer marketing 
services to dealers. These companies include listings, information, lead generation and car-buying services, and compete with us for 
dealer marketing spend.
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 Our principal competitors for car dealer marketing spend include:
 

• online automotive content publishers such as Edmunds.com and KBB.com selling impression-based display advertising, 
and online automotive classified listing sites such as AutoTrader.com, Cargurus.com and Cars.com selling inventory-
based subscription billing;

• lead generators such as Autoweb.com selling pay-per-lead advertising;

• Internet search engines such as Google selling cost-per-click advertising; and

• offline media, including newspaper, outdoor advertising, radio, television and direct mail.

Technology

 
 We have designed our technology platform, website and products to provide consumers, dealers and other parties with the 
information they need to effect a successful car purchase. Consumers access this platform through the TrueCar branded website, 
affinity group marketing partner websites, and TrueCar branded and affinity group mobile applications. Dealers access the platform 
through the software tools available on our Dealer Portal. Supporting each of these user interfaces are advanced systems for 
processing and analyzing automotive data, including features such as vehicle configurators and predictive consumer behavior 
modeling, as well as our proprietary matching algorithm to compare our transaction-based data sources with our record of online users 
for processing and billing. We use a combination of open source and licensed software running on optimized hardware.

 
 We currently utilize cloud-based data processing and storage capabilities in connection with certain aspects of our business 
operations, while a portion of our data is housed in co-location facilities in Los Angeles and Chicago. We have adopted a centralized 
approach to quality assurance and testing for our technology platform and all products aimed at enhancing consumer and dealer 
experiences while seeking to optimize availability, scalability, security and performance.

 
Intellectual Property

 
 We protect our intellectual property through a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, domain names, 
trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions.

 
 At December 31, 2017, we had 32 U.S. issued patents, 38 pending U.S. patent applications, 7 issued foreign patents and 17 
pending foreign patent applications. The issued and allowed patents begin expiring in 2029 through 2035. We intend to pursue 
additional patent protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial to our competitive position.

 We have a number of registered and unregistered trademarks. We registered “TrueCar,” the TrueCar logo, various TRUE 
marks and other marks as trademarks in the U.S. and several other jurisdictions. We also have filed trademark applications for ALG 
and others in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, and will pursue additional trademark registrations to the extent we believe it would be 
beneficial to our competitive position.

 
 In addition to the protection provided by our intellectual property rights, we enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights 
agreements with our employees, consultants, contractors and business partners. Our employees and contractors are also subject to 
invention assignment agreements. We further control the use of our proprietary technology and intellectual property through 
provisions in both our general and product-specific terms of use on our website.

Regulatory Matters

 Various aspects of our business are or may be subject to U.S. federal and state regulation. In particular, the advertising and 
sale of new or used motor vehicles is highly regulated by the states in which we do business. Although we do not sell motor vehicles, 
the dealers from which we derive a significant portion of our revenues do sell motor vehicles. Moreover, state regulatory authorities or 
other third parties could take and, on some occasions, have taken the position that some of the regulations applicable to dealers or to 
the manner in which motor vehicles are advertised and sold generally are directly applicable to our business model.

In May 2015, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by the California New Car Dealers Association in the Superior 
Court for the County of Los Angeles (the “CNCDA Litigation”). The complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief based on 
allegations that we were operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker. On July 20, 2015, we 
filed a “demurrer” to the complaint, which is a pleading that requests the court to dismiss the case. On December 7, 2015, the court 
granted our demurrer in its entirety, but afforded the CNCDA the opportunity to file a second amended complaint. The CNCDA filed a 
second amended complaint on January 4, 2016. The second amended complaint reiterated the claims in the prior complaints and added 
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claims under theories based on the federal Lanham Act and California unfair competition law. On February 3, 2016, we filed a 
demurrer to the amended complaint. On March 30, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part our demurrer to the second 
amended complaint, dismissing the Lanham Act claim but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the demurrer stage of the 
litigation. On May 31, 2016, based on certain intervening developments in state law, the court announced that it would reconsider its 
March 30, 2016 order, and it invited the parties to file new briefs on the demurrer issues. On July 15, 2016, the court heard oral 
argument on reconsideration of the demurrer issues. On July 25, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part our demurrer to the 
second amended complaint, just as it had done in its March 30, 2016 order. The litigation was previously scheduled for trial in August 
2017. On April 3, 2017, the court indicated that the trial date would be postponed to a future date. On May 17, 2017, the court 
scheduled trial to begin on December 11, 2017. Prior to the commencement of trial, the parties entered into settlement negotiations, 
and on December 14, 2017, the parties entered into a binding Settlement Agreement and Release (the “CNCDA Settlement 
Agreement”) to fully resolve the litigation. Pursuant to the CNCDA Settlement Agreement, the litigation was dismissed with prejudice 
on December 21, 2017. In light of the resolution of this matter, we consider this matter to be resolved, but we cannot assure you that 
this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

 In July 2015, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in the California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles 
(the “Participating Dealer Litigation”). The complaint, filed by numerous dealers participating on the TrueCar Platform, and as 
subsequently amended, sought declaratory and injunctive relief based on allegations that the Company is engaging in unfairly 
competitive practices and is operating as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker in contravention of various state laws. On 
September 29, 2015, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed this lawsuit “without prejudice,” which means that the Participating Dealer 
Litigation is currently resolved, although it could be re-filed at a later date. There have been no further pleadings in this action.

 In September 2015, we received a letter from the Texas Department of Motor Vehicles (the “Texas DMV Notice”) asserting 
that certain aspects of our advertising in Texas constitute false, deceptive, unfair, or misleading advertising within the meaning of 
applicable Texas law. On September 24, 2015, we responded to the Texas DMV Notice in an effort to resolve the concerns raised by 
the Texas DMV Notice without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user experience in Texas. In 
light of the fact that no further action has been taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response to the Texas DMV Notice, 
we consider the issues raised by the Texas DMV Notice to be informally resolved, but we cannot assure you that this matter or similar 
matters will not reemerge in the future.

 In December 2015, we were named as a defendant in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Gordon Rose in the California 
Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles. The complaint asserts claims for unjust enrichment, violation of the California 
Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and Professions Code, based in part on allegations that we are 
operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker. The plaintiff seeks to represent a class of 
California consumers defined as “[a]ll California consumers who purchased an automobile by using TrueCar, Inc.’s price certificate 
during the applicable statute of limitations.” On January 12, 2016, the court entered an order staying all proceedings in the case 
pending an initial status conference, which was previously scheduled for April 13, 2016. On March 16, 2016, the case was reassigned 
to a different judge. As a result of that reassignment, the initial status conference was rescheduled for and held on May 26, 2016. By 
stipulation, the stay of discovery was continued until a second status conference, which was scheduled for October 12, 2016. On July 
13, 2016, the plaintiff amended his complaint. The amended complaint continues to assert claims for unjust enrichment, violation of 
the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and Professions Code. The amended complaint 
retains the same proposed class definition as the initial complaint. Like the initial complaint, the amended complaint seeks an award of 
unspecified damages, punitive and exemplary damages, interest, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. On September 
12, 2016, we filed a demurrer to the amended complaint. On October 12, 2016, the court heard oral argument on the demurrer. On 
October 13, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part our demurrer to the amended complaint, dismissing the unjust 
enrichment claim but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the demurrer stage of the litigation. At a status conference held 
on January 26, 2017, the court ruled that discovery could then proceed regarding matters related to class certification only. At a status 
conference held on July 25, 2017, the court set a deadline of January 8, 2018 for the filing of the plaintiff’s motion for class 
certification and provided that discovery could continue to proceed regarding matters related to class certification only at that time. 
Subsequently, the court extended to February 7, 2018 the deadline for the filing of plaintiff’s motion for class certification and for the 
completion of related discovery. On February 7, 2018, the plaintiff filed a motion for class certification. A hearing on the plaintiff’s 
class certification motion has been scheduled for May 25, 2018. We believe the amended complaint is without merit and intend to 
vigorously defend ourselves in this matter.

 In July 2016, we received a letter from the Mississippi Motor Vehicle Commission (the “Mississippi MVC Letter”) asserting 
that an aspect of our advertising in Mississippi was not in compliance with a regulation adopted by the Mississippi Motor Vehicle 
Commission. On July 19, 2016 we responded to the Mississippi MVC Letter in an effort to resolve the concerns raised by the 
Mississippi MVC Letter without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user experience in Mississippi. 
In light of the fact that no further action has been taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response to the Mississippi MVC 
Letter, we consider the issues raised by the Mississippi MVC Letter to be informally resolved, but we cannot assure you that this 
matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.
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 In August 2016, we met with investigators from the California Department of Motor Vehicles (the “California DMV”) 
regarding an allegation made by a dealer that we were operating as an unlicensed automobile auction in California (the “Unlicensed 
Auction Allegation”). We provided the investigators with information about our business in an effort to resolve the concerns raised by 
the Unlicensed Auction Allegation. In October 2016, we were informally advised by an investigator for the California DMV that the 
concerns raised by the Unlicensed Auction Allegation had been resolved, but that the investigators would continue to evaluate our 
responses regarding certain matters related to the advertising of new motor vehicles. We cannot assure you that this matter or similar 
matters will not reemerge in the future.

 In March 2017, we received an investigatory subpoena from the Consumer Protection Office of the Attorney General of the 
State of Ohio issued pursuant to the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act. The investigatory subpoena requested certain information 
related to online content displayed by us related to vehicles listed for sale by TrueCar Certified Dealers in Ohio. On April 18, 2017, we 
responded to the investigatory subpoena and supplied the information sought by it. In light of the fact that no further action has been 
taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response to the investigatory subpoena, we consider this matter to be resolved, but 
we cannot assure you that this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

In June 2017, we were named as a defendant in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Kip Haas in the U.S. District Court for 
the Central District of California (the “Federal Consumer Class Action”). The complaint asserted claims for violation of the California 
Business and Professions Code, based principally on allegations of false and misleading advertising and unfair business practices. The 
complaint sought an award of unspecified damages, interest, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. In the complaint, the plaintiff sought 
to represent a class of consumers defined as “[a]ll consumers who, between the applicable statute of limitations and the present, 
obtained a TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price” and “[a]ll consumers, who, between the applicable statute of limitations and the present, 
obtained a TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price pertaining to a vehicle located at Riverside Mazda.” On or around October 23, 2017, the parties 
reached an agreement in principle to settle this matter on an individual (non-classwide) basis in exchange for the payment of an 
immaterial amount to Mr. Haas. On November 27, 2017, the parties entered into a binding Confidential Settlement Agreement and 
Mutual Release (the “Haas Settlement Agreement”) on the same financial terms agreed to in principle on October 23, 2017. 
Thereafter, we fully satisfied the financial terms of the Haas Settlement Agreement, and pursuant to the Haas Settlement Agreement, 
the litigation was dismissed with prejudice on December 1, 2017. In light of the full resolution of this matter pursuant to the Haas 
Settlement Agreement, we consider this matter to be resolved, but we cannot assure you that this matter or similar matters will not 
reemerge in the future.

 
 In order to operate in this highly regulated environment, we have developed our products and services with a view toward 

appropriately managing the risk that our regulatory compliance or the regulatory compliance of the dealers in our dealer network 
could be challenged. If, and to the extent that, our products and services fail to satisfy relevant regulatory requirements, our business 
or our TrueCar Certified Dealers could be subject to significant civil and criminal penalties, including fines, or the award of significant 
damages in class action or other civil litigation, as well as orders interfering with our ability to continue providing our products and 
services in certain states.

  Given the regulatory environment in which we and our participating dealers operate, in designing our products and services, 
we have focused considerable attention on two areas of state regulation: state advertising regulations and state brokering or “bird-
dogging” regulations. With respect to advertising, we believe that most of the content displayed on the websites we operate does not 
constitute advertising for the sale of new motor vehicles. Nevertheless, we endeavor to design the content such that it would comply 
insofar as practicable with state advertising regulations if and to the extent that the content is considered to be new vehicle sales 
advertising. With respect to state brokering or “bird-dogging” regulations, we have designed our products and services in a manner 
that aims to avoid the applicability of those regulations.

  Our efforts to design products and services in a manner that appropriately manages the regulatory compliance risk for our 
business and our participating dealers are complicated by the fact that the related automotive sales and marketing laws vary from state 
to state, and even within a given state, are frequently susceptible to multiple interpretations. These laws were generally developed 
decades before the emergence of the Internet, are subject to significant revision or modification, and the manner in which they should 
be applied to our business model is frequently open to question. As a practical matter, state automobile dealer associations often have 
considerable influence over the construction of these laws by the relevant state regulatory authorities. Accordingly, in addition to our 
dialogues with relevant state agencies, we interface on a regular basis with representatives from automobile dealer associations in 
order to take their views into account as we continually update our products and services. The specific manner in which we have 
designed our products and services in an effort to manage state regulatory compliance concerns for us and our network of TrueCar 
Certified Dealers is the result of extensive analysis, which has required the investment of substantial resources that we believe 
represents a valuable asset of our business. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully comply with current or 
future regulations to which our business may be subject.
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Employees

 
 At December 31, 2017, we had 686 full-time employees at locations in Santa Monica, Austin, Denver and San Francisco as 
well as field employees in other locations throughout the United States. We also engage a number of temporary employees and 
consultants to support our operations. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining 
agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.

 

Corporate Information

 
 We were incorporated in Delaware in February 2005 under our then corporate name Zag.com Inc. and began business 
operations in April 2005. We completed our initial public offering in May 2014 and our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ 
Global Select Market under the symbol “TRUE.”

 
Available Information

 
 Our internet address is www.true.com. Our investor relations website is located at http://ir.true.com/. We make our Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) periodic reports (Forms 10-Q and Forms 10-K) and current reports (Forms 8-K), and 
amendments to these reports, available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed 
electronically with the SEC. We may from time to time provide important disclosures to investors by posting them in the investor 
relations section of our website, as allowed by SEC rules.

 
 Materials we file with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., 
Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and 
other information regarding our company that we file electronically with the SEC.

 

Item 1A. Risk Factors 
 

 Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties 
described below, together with all of the other information in this report, including our consolidated financial statements and related 
notes, and Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” before making 
an investment in our common stock. If any of the following risks is realized, our business, financial condition, operating results and 
prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you could 
lose part or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not believed by us to be material 
could also impact us.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The growth of our business relies significantly on our ability to grow and optimize the geographic coverage of dealers in 
our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers and increase the representation of high volume brands in our network, such that we 
are able to increase the number of transactions between our users and TrueCar Certified Dealers. Failure to do so would limit 
our growth.

Some automotive brands consistently achieve higher than average sales volume per dealer. As a consequence, dealers 
representing those brands make a disproportionately greater contribution to our unit volume. Our ability to grow and to optimize 
the geographic coverage of dealers in our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers, increase the number of dealers representing high 
volume brands and grow the overall number of dealers in our network is an important factor in growing our business.

As described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, we are a relatively new participant in the automobile retail industry 
and our business has sometimes been viewed in a negative light by car dealerships. Although we have taken steps intended to 
improve our relationships with, and image among, car dealerships, including the commitments made in our pledge to dealers, there 
can be no assurance that our efforts will be successful. We may be unable to maintain or grow the number of car dealers in our 
network, in a geographically optimized manner or at all, or increase the proportion of dealers in our network representing high 
volume brands. During the second half of 2015, we experienced both a decline in the proportion of such high volume dealers in our 
network and slowed quarter-over-quarter revenue growth. If we experience a similar decline in the future it could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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In addition, our ability to increase the number of TrueCar Certified Dealers in an optimized manner depends on strong 
relationships with other constituents, including car manufacturers and state dealership associations. From time to time, car 
manufacturers have communicated concerns about our business to the dealers in our network. For example, some car 
manufacturers maintain guidelines that prohibit dealers from advertising a car at a price that is below an established floor. If a 
TrueCar Certified Dealer submits pricing information to our users that falls below pricing guidelines established by the applicable 
manufacturer, the manufacturer may discourage that dealer from remaining in the network and may discourage other dealers within 
its brand from joining the network. For example, in late 2011, Honda publicly announced that it would not provide advertising 
allowances to dealers that remained in our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers. While we subsequently addressed Honda’s 
concerns and it ceased withholding advertising allowances from our TrueCar Certified Dealers, discord with specific car 
manufacturers impedes our ability to grow our dealer network. More recently, Toyota and Nissan modified their marketing 
covenants to include guidelines on minimum allowable advertised pricing in January 2016 and January 2017, respectively. We 
have implemented certain changes designed to accommodate these guidelines; however it is unclear whether we will ultimately be 
able to do so without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user experience. If we are unable to 
successfully accommodate these guidelines without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user 
experience, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows.

In addition, state dealership associations maintain significant influence over the dealerships in their state as lobbying 
groups and as thought leaders. To the extent that these associations view us in a negative light, our reputation with car dealers in 
the corresponding state may be negatively affected. If our relationships with car manufacturers or state dealership associations 
suffer, our ability to maintain and grow the number of car dealers in our network will be harmed.

We cannot assure you that we will expand our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers in a manner that provides a sufficient 
number of dealers by brand and geography for our unique visitors and failure to do so would limit our growth.

If key industry participants, including car dealers and automobile manufacturers, perceive us in a negative light or our 
relationships with them suffer harm, our ability to grow and our financial performance may be damaged.

Our primary source of revenue consists of fees paid by TrueCar Certified Dealers to us in connection with the sales of 
automobiles to our users. In addition, our value proposition to consumers depends on our ability to provide pricing information on 
automobiles from a sufficient number of automobile dealers by brand and in a given consumer’s geographic area. If our 
relationships with our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers suffer harm in a manner that leads to the departure of these dealers 
from our network, then our revenue and ability to maintain and grow unique visitor traffic will be adversely affected.

At the end of 2011 and the beginning of 2012, due to certain regulatory and publicity-related challenges, many dealers 
canceled their agreements with us and our franchise dealer count fell from 5,571 at November 30, 2011 to 3,599 at February 28, 
2012. More recently, 279 franchise dealers became inactive as the result of a contractual dispute with a large dealer group, and our 
franchise dealer count decreased from 9,300 at June 30, 2015 to 8,702 at September 30, 2015. At December 31, 2017 our franchise 
dealer count was 12,142.

TrueCar Certified Dealers have no contractual obligation to maintain their relationship with us. Accordingly, these dealers 
may leave our network at any time or may develop or use other products or services in lieu of ours. Further, while we believe that 
our service provides a lower cost, accountable customer acquisition channel, dealers may have difficulty rationalizing their 
marketing spend across TrueCar and other channels, which potentially has the effect of diluting our dealer value proposition. If we 
are unable to create and maintain a compelling value proposition for dealers to become and remain TrueCar Certified Dealers, our 
dealer network would not grow and could decline.

In addition, although the automobile dealership industry is fragmented, a small number of groups have significant 
influence over the industry. These groups include state and national dealership associations, state regulators, car manufacturers, 
consumer groups, individual dealers and consolidated dealer groups. To the extent that these groups believe that automobile 
dealerships should not do business with us, this belief may become quickly and widely shared by automobile dealerships and we 
may lose a significant number of dealers in our network. In May 2015, the California New Car Dealers Association filed a lawsuit 
alleging that we are operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker. For more information 
concerning this lawsuit, refer to the risk factor below: “We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.” A significant number of 
automobile dealerships are also members of larger dealer groups, and to the extent that a group decides to leave our network, this 
decision would typically apply to all dealerships within the group.
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Furthermore, automobile manufacturers may provide their franchise dealers with financial or other marketing support, 
provided that such dealers adhere to certain marketing guidelines. Automobile manufacturers may determine that the manner in 
which certain of their franchise dealers use our platform is inconsistent with the terms of such marketing guidelines, which 
determination could result in potential or actual loss of the manufacturers’ financial or other marketing support to the dealers 
whose use of the platform is deemed objectionable. The potential or actual loss of such marketing support may cause such dealers 
to cease being members of our TrueCar Certified Dealer network, which may adversely affect our ability to maintain or grow the 
number and productivity of dealers in our network or the revenue derived from those dealers.

We cannot assure you that we will maintain strong relationships with the dealers in our network of TrueCar Certified 
Dealers or that we will not suffer dealer attrition in the future. We may also have disputes with dealers from time to time, including 
relating to the collection of fees from them and other matters. We may need to modify our products, change pricing or take other 
actions to address dealer concerns in the future. If a significant number of these automobile dealerships decided to leave our 
network or change their financial or business relationship with us, then our business, growth, operating results, financial condition 
and prospects would suffer.

If we are unable to provide a compelling car-buying experience to our users, the number of transactions between our 
users and TrueCar Certified Dealers will decline and our revenue and results of operations will suffer harm.

The user experience on our company-branded platform on the TrueCar website has evolved since its launch in 2010, but 
has not changed dramatically. We cannot assure you that we are able to provide a compelling car-buying experience to our users, 
and our failure to do so could mean that the number of transactions between our users and TrueCar Certified Dealers may decline 
and we would be unable to effectively monetize our user traffic. We believe that our ability to provide a compelling car-buying 
experience is subject to a number of factors, including:

• our ability to launch new products that are effective and have a high degree of consumer engagement;

• our ability to constantly innovate and improve our existing products;

• compliance of the dealers within our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers with applicable laws, regulations and the rules 
of our platform, including honoring the TrueCar certificates submitted by our users; and

• our access to a sufficient amount of data to enable us to provide relevant pricing information to consumers.

Changes to management, including turnover of our top executives, or an inability to retain, attract and integrate 
qualified personnel, could harm our ability to develop and successfully grow our business.

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our executives and 
employees. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and 
skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. In order 
to attract and retain executives and other key employees in a competitive marketplace, we must provide competitive compensation 
packages, including cash and stock-based compensation. Our primary forms of stock-based incentive awards are stock options and 
restricted stock units. If the anticipated value of such stock-based incentive awards does not materialize, if our stock-based 
compensation otherwise ceases to be viewed as a valuable benefit, or if our total compensation package is not viewed as being 
competitive, our ability to attract, retain and motivate executives and key employees could be weakened.

The loss of any of our senior management or key employees could materially adversely affect our ability to execute our 
business plan and strategy, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. Our executive officers 
and other employees are at-will employees, which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, 
and their knowledge of our business and industry would be extremely difficult to replace. In the second half of 2015, we 
experienced increased turnover in key executive positions, including our chief executive officer and president. In January 2018, 
our chief financial officer resigned, and our chief accounting officer is currently serving as interim chief financial officer. Our 
current executives may view the business differently than prior members of management, and over time may make changes to our 
strategic focus, operations or business plans with corresponding changes in how we report our results of operations. We can make 
no assurances that our current executives will be able to properly manage any such shift in focus or that any changes to our 
business would ultimately prove successful. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any members of our 
senior management or other key employees. If we do not succeed in attracting well-qualified employees, retaining and motivating 
existing employees or integrating new executives and employees, our business could be materially and adversely affected.



Table of Contents

14

Our growth in recent years may not be indicative of our future growth and, we may not be able to manage future growth 
effectively.

Our revenue grew from $38.1 million in 2010 to $323.1 million in 2017. However, we expect that in the future, as our 
revenue increases, our rate of growth may decline. In addition, we may not be able to grow as fast or at all if we do not accomplish 
the following:

• expand our dealer network in a geographically optimized manner, including increasing dealers in our network 
representing high volume brands; 

• increase the number of transactions between our users and TrueCar Certified Dealers;

• successfully increase dealer subscription rates, and manage dealer churn, as the number of dealers on subscription billing 
arrangements increases relative to those on a pay-per-sale billing model and, as a result, our revenue and revenue growth 
potential become more subscription-based;

• successfully grow the revenue we derive from car manufacturer incentive programs;

• successfully transition and scale our automotive trade-in program from a pilot to a nationwide offering;

• successfully complete our technology replatforming project, which we believe will enable us to launch new products and 
offerings in the future;

• maintain and grow our affinity group marketing partner relationships and increase the productivity of our current affinity 
group marketing partners; 

• increase the number of users of our products and services, and in particular the number of unique visitors to the TrueCar 
website and our TrueCar branded mobile applications; 

• further improve the quality of our existing products and services, and introduce high quality new products and 
services; and 

• introduce third party ancillary products and services.

We may not successfully accomplish any of these objectives. We plan to continue our investment in future growth. We expect to 
continue to expend substantial financial and other resources on:

• marketing and advertising; 

• dealer outreach and training, including the hiring of additional personnel in our dealer team;

• technology and product development, including the hiring of additional personnel in our product development and 
technical teams, harmonization of our software infrastructure, and the development of new products and new features for 
existing products; and 

• general administration, including legal, accounting and other compliance expenses related to being a public company.

In addition, our historical growth has placed and may continue to place significant demands on our management and our 
operational and financial resources. We have also experienced significant growth in the number of users of our platform as well as 
the amount of data that we analyze. We have hired, and expect to continue hiring, additional personnel, particularly in our dealer, 
product and technology teams. The additional personnel in our dealer team are intended to enhance the service experience and the 
productivity of our dealer network while the additional personnel in our product and technology teams are focusing on developing 
new products and features, harmonizing our technology infrastructure and delivering a better experience to consumers and dealers. 
Finally, our organizational structure is becoming more complex as we continue to add additional staff, and we will need to improve 
our operational, financial and management controls as well as our reporting systems and procedures. We will require significant 
capital expenditures and the allocation of valuable management resources to grow and change in these areas without undermining 
our corporate culture of rapid innovation, teamwork and attention to the car-buying experience for the consumer and the economics 
of the dealer.
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We may be unable to maintain or grow relationships with information data providers or may experience interruptions in 
the data feeds they provide, which may limit the information that we are able to provide to our users and dealers as well as the 
timeliness of such information and may impair our ability to attract or retain consumers and TrueCar Certified Dealers and to 
timely invoice our dealers.

We receive automobile purchase data from many third-party data providers, including our network of TrueCar Certified 
Dealers, dealer management system, or DMS, data feed providers, data aggregators and integrators, survey companies, purveyors 
of registration data and our affinity group marketing partners. In the states in which we employ a pay-per-sale billing model, we 
use this data to match purchases with users that obtained a Guaranteed Savings Certificate from a TrueCar Certified Dealer so that 
we may collect a transaction fee from those dealers and recognize revenue from the related transactions.

From time to time, we experience interruptions in one or more data feeds that we receive from third-party data providers, 
particularly DMS system data feed providers, in a manner that affects our ability to timely invoice the dealers in our network. 
These interruptions may occur for a number of reasons, including changes to the software used by these data feed providers and 
difficulties in renewing our agreements with third-party data feed providers. In the states in which we employ a pay-per-sale billing 
model, an interruption in the data feeds that we receive may affect our ability to match automobile purchases with users that 
obtained a Guaranteed Savings Certificate from a TrueCar Certified Dealer, thereby delaying our submission of an invoice to an 
automobile dealer in our network for a given transaction and delaying the timing of cash receipts from the dealer. The 
redundancies of data feeds received from multiple providers may not result in sufficient data to match automobile purchases with 
users that obtained a Guaranteed Savings Certificate from a TrueCar Certified Dealer. In the case of an interruption in our data 
feeds, our billing structure may transition to a subscription model for automobile dealers in our network until the interruption 
ceases. However, our subscription billing model may result in lower revenues during an interruption and, when an interruption 
ceases, we are not always able to retroactively match a transaction and collect a fee. In addition, our likelihood of collection of the 
fee owed to us for a given transaction decreases for those periods in which we are unable to submit an invoice to automobile 
dealers. Interruptions which occur in close proximity to the end of a given reporting period could result in delays in our ability to 
recognize those transaction revenues in that reporting period and these shortfalls in transaction revenue could be material to our 
operating results.

We have a history of losses and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have not been profitable since inception and had an accumulated deficit of $351.1 million at December 31, 2017. 
From time to time in the past, we have made significant investments in our operations which have not resulted in corresponding 
revenue growth and, as a result, increased our losses. We expect to make significant future investments to support the further 
development and expansion of our business and these investments may not result in increased revenue or growth on a timely basis 
or at all. Our revenue growth has been highly influenced by marketing expenditures. Incremental marketing expenditures in certain 
situations do not result in sufficient incremental revenue to cover their cost. This limits the growth in revenue that can be achieved 
through marketing expenditures. In addition, as a public company, we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting 
and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. Such expenses will increase now that we have ceased to be an 
“emerging growth company.” For more information concerning our “emerging growth company” status, refer to the risk factor 
below: “Complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies has increased our costs and the demands on 
management and could harm our operating results.” As a result of these increased expenditures, we have to generate and sustain 
increased revenue to achieve and maintain profitability.

We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including slowing demand for our products and 
services, increasing competition, weakness in the automobile industry generally, as well as other risks described in this report, and 
we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown factors. If we incur losses in the 
future, we may not be able to reduce costs effectively because many of our costs are fixed. In addition, to the extent that we reduce 
variable costs to respond to losses, this may affect our ability to acquire consumers and dealers and grow our revenues. 
Accordingly, we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may continue to incur significant losses in the future, 
and this could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

We have operated our business at scale for a limited period of time and we cannot predict whether we will continue to 
grow. If we are unable to successfully respond to changes in the market, our business could be harmed.

Our business has grown as users and automobile dealers have increasingly used our products and services. However, our 
business is relatively new and has operated at a substantial scale for only a limited period of time. Given this limited history, it is 
difficult to predict whether we will be able to maintain or grow our business. We expect that our business will evolve in ways 
which may be difficult to predict. For example, marketing expenditures in certain situations become inefficient, particularly with 
respect to the TrueCar website and our branded mobile applications. Continued revenue growth will require more focus on 
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increasing the number of transactions from which we derive revenue by growing our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers, 
including dealers representing high volume brands, both on an overall basis and in important geographies, as well as growth in the 
revenue we derive from car manufacturer incentive programs. It is also possible that car dealers could broadly determine that they 
no longer believe in the value of our services. In the event of these or any other developments, our continued success will depend 
on our ability to successfully adjust our strategy to meet the changing market dynamics. If we are unable to do so, our business 
could be harmed and our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

The loss of a significant affinity group marketing partner or a significant reduction in the number of cars purchased 
from our TrueCar Certified Dealers by members of our affinity group marketing partners would reduce our revenue and harm 
our operating results.

Our financial performance is substantially dependent upon the number of automobiles purchased from TrueCar Certified 
Dealers by users of the TrueCar website, our branded mobile applications and the car-buying sites we maintain for our affinity 
group marketing partners. Currently, a majority of the automobiles purchased by our users were matched to the car-buying sites we 
maintain for our affinity group marketing partners. As a result, our relationships with our affinity group marketing partners are 
critical to our business and financial performance. However, several aspects of our relationship with affinity groups might change 
in a manner that harms our business and financial performance, including:

• affinity group marketing partners might terminate their relationship with us or make such relationship non-exclusive, 
resulting in a reduction in the number of transactions between users of our platform and TrueCar Certified Dealers; 

• affinity group marketing partners might de-emphasize the automobile buying programs within their offerings or alter the 
user experience for members in a way that results in a decrease in the number of transactions between their members and 
our TrueCar Certified Dealers; or 

• the economic structure of our agreements with affinity group marketing partners might change, resulting in a decrease in 
our operating margins on transactions by their members.

A significant change to our relationships with affinity group marketing partners may have a negative effect on our 
business in other ways. For example, the termination by an affinity group marketing partner of our relationship may create the 
perception that our products and services are no longer beneficial to the members of affinity groups or a more general negative 
association with our business. In addition, a termination by an affinity group marketing partner may result in the loss of the data 
provided to us by them with respect to automobile transactions. This loss of data may decrease the quantity and quality of the 
information that we provide to consumers and may also reduce our ability to identify transactions for which we can invoice 
dealers. If our relationships with affinity group marketing partners change our business, revenue, operating results and prospects 
may be harmed.

Any adverse change in our relationship with United Services Automobile Association, or USAA, could harm our 
business.

 The largest source of user traffic and unit sales from our affinity group marketing partners comes from the site we 
maintain for USAA, which is also a large stockholder. In 2017, 261,307 units, or 27%, of all units purchased by users from 
TrueCar Certified Dealers during that period, were matched to users of the car-buying site we maintain for USAA. As such, USAA 
has a significant influence on our operating results. We define units as the number of automobiles purchased by our users from 
TrueCar Certified Dealers through the TrueCar website and our branded mobile applications or the car-buying sites we maintain 
for our affinity group marketing partners. At December 31, 2017, USAA beneficially owned 9,042,990 shares, which represented 
9.0% of our outstanding common stock. 

In May 2014, we entered into an extension of our affinity group marketing agreement with USAA that extends through 
February 13, 2020, but we cannot assure you that our agreement with USAA will be extended at the expiration of the current 
agreement on terms satisfactory to us, or at all. In addition, USAA has broad discretion in how the car-buying site we maintain for 
USAA is promoted and marketed on its own website. Changes in this promotion and marketing have in the past and may in the 
future adversely affect the volume of user traffic we receive from USAA. During the third quarter of 2017, USAA made changes to 
the user experience for its car-buying site, which we believe contributed to a decrease in the number of transactions between its 
members and our TrueCar Certified Dealers during the second half of 2017 and may continue to impact the future volume of user 
traffic we receive from USAA. Changes in our relationship with USAA or its promotion and marketing of our platform, or future 
modifications of its car-buying site user experience could adversely affect our business and operating results in the future.



Table of Contents

17

The success of our business relies heavily on our marketing and branding efforts, especially with respect to the TrueCar 
website and our branded mobile applications, as well as those efforts of the affinity group marketing partners whose websites 
we power, and these efforts may not be successful.

We believe that an important component of our growth will be the growth of our business derived from the TrueCar 
website and our TrueCar branded mobile applications. Because TrueCar.com is a consumer brand, we rely heavily on marketing 
and advertising to increase the visibility of this brand with potential users of our products and services. We currently advertise 
through television and radio marketing campaigns, digital and online media, sponsorship programs and other means, the goal of 
which is to increase the strength, recognition and trust in the TrueCar brand and drive more unique visitors to our website and 
mobile applications. We incurred expenses of $185.4 million on sales and marketing during 2017.

Our business model relies on our ability to scale rapidly and to decrease incremental user acquisition costs as we grow. 
Our revenue growth has been highly influenced by marketing expenditures. Incremental marketing expenditures in certain 
situations do not result in the acquisition of sufficient users visiting our website and mobile applications to permit recovery of such 
costs through revenue growth. This limits the growth in revenue that can be achieved through marketing expenditures. If we are 
unable to recover our marketing costs through increases in user traffic and in the number of transactions by users of our platform it 
could have a material adverse effect on our growth, results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, to the extent that we discontinue our broad marketing campaigns or elect to reduce our sales and marketing 
costs to decrease our losses, this may affect our ability to acquire consumers and dealers and grow our revenues. Our current and 
potential competitors may have significantly more financial, marketing and other resources than we have and the ability to devote 
greater resources to the promotion and support of their products and services. The realities of competing for users and brand 
visibility, as well as ensuring the satisfaction of our dealers, may limit our ability to reduce our own marketing expenditures, 
potentially negatively impacting our operating margins and financial results.

In addition, the number of transactions generated by the members of our affinity group marketing partners depends in part 
on the emphasis that these affinity group marketing partners place on marketing the purchase of cars within their platforms. For 
example, USAA is a large diversified financial services group of companies serving the United States military community with 
hundreds of highly competitive product and service offerings. At any given time, USAA’s car-buying service may or may not be a 
priority relative to its other offerings. Consequently, changes in how USAA promotes and markets the car-buying site we maintain 
for them can and has, from time to time in the past, affected the volume of purchases generated by USAA members. For example, 
in the past USAA adjusted the location and prominence of the links to our platform on its web pages, adversely affecting the 
volume of traffic to our platform. Should USAA or one or more of our other affinity group marketing partners decide to de-
emphasize the marketing of our platform, or if their marketing efforts are otherwise unsuccessful, our revenue, business and 
financial results will be harmed.

Failure to increase our revenue or reduce our sales and marketing expense or our technology and development expense 
as a percentage of revenue would adversely affect our financial condition and profitability.

We expect to make significant future investments to support the further development and expansion of our business and 
these investments may not result in increased revenue or growth on a timely basis or at all. Furthermore, these investments may not 
decrease as a percentage of revenue if our business grows. In particular, we intend to increase expenditures to launch new products 
and enhance our existing products and services, continue to grow and train our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers and upgrade 
our system architecture. We also intend to continue investing to increase awareness of our brand, including via television and radio 
advertisements. There can be no assurance that these investments will increase revenue or that we will eventually be able to 
decrease our sales and marketing expense, or our technology and development expense, as a percentage of revenue, and failure to 
do so would adversely affect our financial condition and profitability.

We are subject to a complex framework of federal and state laws and regulations primarily concerning vehicle sales, 
advertising and brokering, many of which are unsettled, still developing and contradictory, which have in the past, and could in 
the future, subject us to claims, challenge our business model or otherwise harm our business.

Various aspects of our business are or may be subject, directly or indirectly, to U.S. federal and state laws and regulations. 
Failure to comply with such laws or regulations may result in the suspension or termination of our ability to do business in affected 
jurisdictions or the imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties, including fines or the award of significant damages 
against us and our TrueCar Certified Dealers in class action or other civil litigation.
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State Motor Vehicle Sales, Advertising and Brokering Laws

The advertising and sale of new or used motor vehicles is highly regulated by the states in which we do business. 
Although we do not sell motor vehicles, state regulatory authorities or third parties could take the position that some of the 
regulations applicable to dealers or to the manner in which motor vehicles are advertised and sold generally are directly applicable 
to our business. If our products and services are determined to not comply with relevant regulatory requirements, we or our 
TrueCar Certified Dealers could be subject to significant civil and criminal penalties, including fines, or the award of significant 
damages in class action or other civil litigation as well as orders interfering with our ability to continue providing our products and 
services in certain states. In addition, even absent such a determination, to the extent dealers are uncertain about the applicability of 
such laws and regulations to our business, we may lose, or have difficulty increasing the number of, TrueCar Certified Dealers in 
our network, which would affect our future growth.

Several states in which we do business have laws and regulations that strictly regulate or prohibit the brokering of motor 
vehicles or the making of so-called “bird-dog” payments by dealers to third parties in connection with the sale of motor vehicles 
through persons other than licensed salespersons. If our products or services are determined to fall within the scope of such laws or 
regulations, we may be forced to implement new measures, which could be costly, to reduce our exposure to those obligations, 
including the discontinuation of certain products or services in affected jurisdictions. Additionally, such a determination could 
subject us or our TrueCar Certified Dealers to significant civil or criminal penalties, including fines, or the award of significant 
damages in class action or other civil litigation.

In addition to generally applicable consumer protection laws, many states in which we do business have laws and 
regulations that specifically regulate the advertising for sale of new or used motor vehicles. These state advertising laws and 
regulations are frequently subject to multiple interpretations and are not uniform from state to state, sometimes imposing 
inconsistent requirements on the advertiser of a new or used motor vehicle. If the content displayed on the websites we operate is 
determined or alleged to be inaccurate or misleading, under motor vehicle advertising laws, generally applicable consumer 
protection laws, or otherwise, we could be subject to significant civil and criminal penalties, including fines, or the award of 
significant damages in class action or other civil litigation. Moreover, such allegations, even if unfounded or decided in our favor, 
could be extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay significant sums in settlements, and could interfere with our ability to 
continue providing our products and services in certain states.

From time to time, certain state authorities, dealer associations, and others have taken the position that aspects of our 
products and services violate state brokering, bird-dog, or advertising laws. When such allegations have arisen, we have 
endeavored to resolve the identified concerns on a consensual and expeditious basis, through negotiation and education efforts, 
without resorting to the judicial process. In certain instances, we have nevertheless been obligated to suspend all or certain aspects 
of our business operations in a state pending the resolution of such issues, the resolution of which included the payment of fines in 
2011 and 2012 in the aggregate amount of approximately $26,000. For example, in the beginning of 2012, following 
implementation of our first nationwide television advertising campaign, state regulatory inquiries with respect to the compliance of 
our products and services with state brokering, bird-dog, and advertising laws intensified to a degree not previously experienced by 
us. Responding to and resolving these inquiries, as well as our efforts to ameliorate the related adverse publicity and loss of 
TrueCar Certified Dealers from our network, resulted in decreased revenues and increased expenses and, accordingly, increased 
our losses during much of 2012.

In May 2015, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles (the 
“CNCDA Litigation”). The complaint, filed by the California New Car Dealers Association, sought declaratory and injunctive 
relief based on allegations that we were operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker. In 
December 2017, the parties entered into a binding settlement agreement to fully resolve the lawsuit, and the litigation was 
dismissed. For more information concerning the CNCDA Litigation, refer to the risk factor below: “We face litigation and are party 
to legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows.”

In July 2015, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in the California Superior Court for the County of Los 
Angeles (the “Participating Dealer Litigation”). The complaint, filed by numerous dealers participating on the TrueCar platform, 
and as subsequently amended, sought declaratory and injunctive relief based on allegations that the Company was engaging in 
unfairly competitive practices and was operating as an unlicensed automobile dealer and autobroker in contravention of various 
state laws. In September 2015, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed this lawsuit “without prejudice,” which means that the 
Participating Dealer Litigation is currently resolved, but that it could be re-filed at a later date. For more information 
concerning this lawsuit, refer to the risk factor below: “We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.”
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In September 2015, we received a letter from the Texas Department of Motor Vehicles (the “Texas DMV Notice”) 
asserting that certain aspects of our advertising in Texas constitute false, deceptive, unfair, or misleading advertising within the 
meaning of applicable Texas law. On September 24, 2015, we responded to the Texas DMV Notice in an effort to resolve the 
concerns raised by the Texas DMV Notice without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user 
experience in Texas. In light of the fact that no further action has been taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response 
to the Texas DMV Notice, we consider the issues raised by the Texas DMV Notice to be informally resolved, but we cannot assure 
you that this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

In December 2015, we were named as a defendant in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Gordon Rose in the 
California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles (the “California Consumer Class Action”). The complaint asserts claims 
for unjust enrichment, violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and 
Professions Code, based in part on allegations that we are operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile dealer 
and autobroker. The plaintiff seeks to represent a class of California consumers defined as “[a]ll California consumers who 
purchased an automobile by using TrueCar, Inc.’s price certificate during the applicable statute of limitations.” For more 
information concerning this lawsuit, refer to the risk factor below: “We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.”

In July 2016, we received a letter from the Mississippi Motor Vehicle Commission (the “Mississippi MVC Letter”) 
asserting that an aspect of our advertising in Mississippi was not in compliance with a regulation adopted by the Mississippi Motor 
Vehicle Commission. On July 19, 2016 we responded to the Mississippi MVC Letter in an effort to resolve the concerns raised by 
the Mississippi MVC Letter without making material, unfavorable adjustments to our business practices or user experience in 
Mississippi. In light of the fact that no further action has been taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response to the 
Mississippi MVC Letter, we consider the issues raised by the Mississippi MVC Letter to be informally resolved, but we cannot 
assure you that this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

 In August 2016, we met with investigators from the California Department of Motor Vehicles (the “California DMV”) 
regarding an allegation made by a dealer that we were operating as an unlicensed automobile auction in California (the 
“Unlicensed Auction Allegation”). We provided the investigators with information about our business in an effort to resolve the 
concerns raised by the Unlicensed Auction Allegation. In October 2016, we were informally advised by an investigator for the 
California DMV that the concerns raised by the Unlicensed Auction Allegation had been resolved, but that the investigators will 
continue to evaluate our responses regarding certain matters related to the advertising of new motor vehicles. In light of the fact 
that no further action has been taken with respect to this matter, we consider the issues raised by the Unlicensed Auction Allegation 
to be informally resolved, but we cannot assure you that this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

 In March 2017, we received an investigatory subpoena from the Consumer Protection Office of the Attorney General of 
the State of Ohio issued pursuant to the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act. The investigatory subpoena requested certain 
information related to online content displayed by us related to vehicles listed for sale by TrueCar Certified Dealers in Ohio. On 
April 18, 2017, we responded to the investigatory subpoena and supplied the information sought by it. In light of the fact that no 
further action has been taken with respect to this matter subsequent to our response to the investigatory subpoena, we consider this 
matter to be resolved, but we cannot assure you that this matter or similar matters will not reemerge in the future.

In June 2017, we were named as a defendant in the Federal Consumer Class Action. The complaint asserted claims for 
violation of the California Business and Professions Code, based principally on allegations of false and misleading advertising and 
unfair business practices. The complaint sought an award of unspecified damages, interest, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. In 
November 2017, the parties entered into a binding settlement agreement, and the litigation was dismissed in December 2017. For 
more information concerning this lawsuit, refer to the risk factor below: “We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.”

If state regulators or other third parties take the position in the future that our products or services violate applicable 
brokering, bird-dog, or advertising laws or regulations, responding to such allegations could be costly, could require us to pay 
significant sums in settlements, could require us to pay civil and criminal penalties, including fines, could interfere with our ability 
to continue providing our products and services in certain states, or could require us to make adjustments to our products and 
services or the manner in which we derive revenue from our participating dealers, any or all of which could result in substantial 
adverse publicity, loss of TrueCar Certified Dealers from our network, decreased revenues, increased expenses, and decreased 
profitability.
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Federal Advertising Regulations

The Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, has authority to take actions to remedy or prevent advertising practices that it 
considers to be unfair or deceptive and that affect commerce in the United States. If the FTC takes the position in the future that 
any aspect of our business constitutes an unfair or deceptive advertising practice, responding to such allegations could require us to 
pay significant damages, settlements, and civil penalties, or could require us to make adjustments to our products and services, any 
or all of which could result in substantial adverse publicity, loss of participating dealers, lost revenues, increased expenses, and 
decreased profitability.

In March 2015, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court in the Southern District of New 
York (the “NY Lanham Act Litigation”). The complaint, purportedly filed on behalf of numerous automotive dealers who are not 
on the TrueCar platform, seeks injunctive relief in addition to over $250 million in damages based on allegations that we violated 
the Lanham Act as well as various state laws prohibiting unfair competition and deceptive acts or practices related to our 
advertising and promotional activities. For more information concerning the NY Lanham Act Litigation, refer to the risk factor 
below: “We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.”

Federal Antitrust Laws

 The antitrust laws prohibit, among other things, any joint conduct among competitors that would lessen competition in the 
marketplace. Some of the information that we obtain from dealers is competitively sensitive and, if disclosed inappropriately, could 
potentially be used by dealers to impede competition or otherwise diminish independent pricing activity. A governmental or private 
civil action alleging the improper exchange of information, or unlawful participation in price maintenance or other unlawful or 
anticompetitive activity, even if unfounded, could be costly to defend and adversely impact our ability to maintain and grow our 
dealer network.

In addition, governmental or private civil actions related to the antitrust laws could result in orders suspending or 
terminating our ability to do business or otherwise altering or limiting certain of our business practices, including the manner in 
which we handle or disclose dealer pricing information, or the imposition of significant civil or criminal penalties, including fines 
or the award of significant damages against us and our TrueCar Certified Dealers in class action or other civil litigation.

Other

The foregoing description of laws and regulations to which we are or may be subject is not exhaustive, and the regulatory 
framework governing our operations is subject to continuous change. The enactment of new laws and regulations or the 
interpretation of existing laws and regulations in an unfavorable way may affect the operation of our business, directly or 
indirectly, which could result in substantial regulatory compliance costs, civil or criminal penalties, including fines, adverse 
publicity, loss of participating dealers, lost revenues, increased expenses, and decreased profitability. Further, investigations by 
government agencies, including the FTC, into allegedly anticompetitive, unfair, deceptive or other business practices by us or our 
TrueCar Certified Dealers, could cause us to incur additional expenses and, if adversely concluded, could result in substantial civil 
or criminal penalties and significant legal liability.

We face litigation and are party to legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2015, we were named as a defendant in the NY Lanham Act Litigation. The complaint in the NY Lanham Act 
Litigation, purportedly filed on behalf of numerous automotive dealers who are not on the TrueCar platform, alleges that we 
violated the Lanham Act as well as various state laws prohibiting unfair competition and deceptive acts or practices related to our 
advertising and promotional activities. The complaint seeks injunctive relief in addition to over $250 million in damages as a result 
of the alleged diversion of customers from the plaintiffs’ dealerships to TrueCar Certified Dealers. On April 7, 2015, we filed an 
answer to the complaint. Thereafter, the plaintiffs amended their complaint, and on July 13, 2015, we filed a motion to dismiss the 
amended complaint. On January 6, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part our motion to dismiss. Discovery in this 
matter has been completed, and the court has scheduled a hearing in April 2018 on the issue of the admissibility of testimony 
proffered by the plaintiffs’ expert. We believe that the portions of the amended complaint that survived our motion to dismiss are 
without merit, and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this matter. Based on the current stage of the proceedings in this 
case, the outcome of this legal proceeding, including the anticipated legal defense costs, remains uncertain; however, we may incur 
significant legal fees, settlements or damage awards resulting from this or other civil litigation. If this matter is not resolved in our 
favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.



Table of Contents

21

In May 2015, we were named as a defendant in the CNCDA Litigation. The complaint in the CNCDA Litigation sought 
declaratory and injunctive relief based on allegations that we were operating in the State of California as an unlicensed automobile 
dealer and autobroker. On July 20, 2015, we filed a “demurrer” to the complaint, which is a pleading that requests the court to 
dismiss the case. The plaintiffs subsequently amended their complaint, and on September 11, 2015, we filed a demurrer to the 
amended complaint. On December 7, 2015, the court granted our demurrer in its entirety, but afforded the CNCDA the opportunity 
to file a second amended complaint. The CNCDA filed a second amended complaint on January 4, 2016. The second amended 
complaint reiterated the claims in the prior complaints and added claims under theories based on the federal Lanham Act and 
California unfair competition law. On February 3, 2016, we filed a demurrer to the second amended complaint. On March 30, 
2016, the court granted in part and denied in part our demurrer to the second amended complaint, dismissing the Lanham Act claim 
but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the demurrer stage of the litigation. On May 31, 2016, based on certain 
intervening developments in state law, the court announced that it would reconsider its March 30, 2016 order, and it invited the 
parties to file new briefs on the demurrer issues. On July 15, 2016, the court heard oral argument on reconsideration of the 
demurrer issues. On July 25, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the Company’s demurrer to the second amended 
complaint, just as it had done in its March 30, 2016 order. The litigation was previously scheduled for trial in August 2017. On 
April 3, 2017, the court indicated that the trial date would be postponed to a future date. On May 17, 2017, the court scheduled trial 
to begin on December 11, 2017. Prior to the commencement of trial, the parties entered into settlement negotiations, and on 
December 14, 2017, the parties entered into the CNCDA Settlement Agreement to fully resolve the litigation. Pursuant to the 
CNCDA Settlement Agreement, the litigation was dismissed with prejudice on December 21, 2017. In light of the full resolution of 
this matter pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, we do not believe that an additional loss is probable. However, if similar 
litigation is filed against us, we may incur significant legal fees, adverse changes in our dealer network, settlements or damage 
awards as a result. If any such matters are not resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as 
well as ongoing defense costs or adverse changes in our dealer network, could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In May 2015, a purported securities class action complaint was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of 
California (the “Federal Securities Litigation”) by Satyabrata Mahapatra naming TrueCar and two other individuals not affiliated 
with TrueCar as defendants. On June 15, 2015, the plaintiff filed a Notice of Errata and Correction purporting to name Scott 
Painter and Michael Guthrie as individual defendants in lieu of the two individual defendants named in the complaint. On October 
5, 2015, the plaintiffs amended their complaint. As amended, the complaint in the Federal Securities Litigation sought an award of 
unspecified damages, interest and attorneys’ fees based on allegations that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements, 
and failed to disclose material adverse facts about TrueCar’s business, operations, prospects and performance. Specifically, the 
amended complaint alleges that during the putative class period, the defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or 
failed to disclose that: (i) TrueCar’s business practices violated unfair competition and deceptive trade practice laws (i.e., the issues 
raised in the NY Lanham Act Litigation); (ii) TrueCar acts as a dealer and broker in car sales transactions without proper licensing, 
in violation of various states’ laws that govern car sales (i.e., the issues raised in the CNCDA Litigation); and (iii) as a result of the 
above, TrueCar’s registration statements, prospectuses, quarterly and annual reports, financial statements, SEC filings, press 
releases, and other statements and documents were materially false and misleading at times relevant to the amended complaint and 
putative class period. The amended complaint asserted a putative class period stemming from May 16, 2014 to July 23, 2015. On 
October 19, 2015, we filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On December 9, 2015, the court granted our motion to 
dismiss and dismissed the case in its entirety. On January 8, 2016, the plaintiff filed a notice of appeal. On June 20, 2016, the 
plaintiff filed a motion for voluntary dismissal of the appeal. The motion was granted by the court on June 27, 2016. As this case 
has been dismissed, we do not anticipate a loss related to this matter. However, if similar litigation is filed against us, we may incur 
significant legal fees, adverse changes in our dealer network, settlements or damage awards as a result. If any such matters are not 
resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs or adverse 
changes in our dealer network, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows.

In July 2015, we were named as a defendant in the Participating Dealer Litigation. Both as originally filed and as 
subsequently amended, the complaint in the Participating Dealer Litigation sought declaratory and injunctive relief based on 
allegations that the Company is engaging in unfairly competitive practices and is operating as an unlicensed automobile dealer and 
autobroker in contravention of various state laws. Neither the original nor amended complaint sought an award of money damages. 
On September 29, 2015, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed this lawsuit “without prejudice,” which means that the Participating 
Dealer Litigation is currently resolved, but that it could be re-filed at a later date. If the Participating Dealer Litigation is re-filed at 
a later date or if similar litigation is filed against us, we may incur significant legal fees, adverse changes in our dealer network, 
settlements or damage awards as a result. If any such matters are not resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of 
litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs or adverse changes in our dealer network, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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In August 2015, the Company, certain of its executives and directors, and the underwriters of the Company’s initial public 
offering and secondary offering were named as defendants in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Ning Shen and William 
Fitzpatrick in California Superior Court under the federal securities laws (the “California State Court Securities Litigation”).  The 
complaint alleged that TrueCar’s registration statements in connection with the offerings contained false or misleading statements 
of material facts, and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, operations, prospects, and 
performance.  On September 2, 2015, following our removal of the action from California state court to the U.S. District Court for 
the Central District of California, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed this lawsuit “without prejudice,” which means that the 
California State Court Securities Litigation is currently resolved, but that it could be re-filed at a later date. If the California State 
Court Securities Litigation is re-filed at a later date or if additional similar litigation, such as the Federal Securities Litigation, is 
filed against us, we may incur significant legal fees, settlements or damage awards as a result. If any such matters are not resolved 
in our favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In December 2015, we were named as a defendant in the California Consumer Class Action. The complaint asserts claims 
for unjust enrichment, violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and 
Professions Code, based principally on factual allegations similar to those asserted in the NY Lanham Act Litigation and the 
CNCDA Litigation. In the complaint, the plaintiff seeks to represent a class of California consumers defined as “[a]ll California 
consumers who purchased an automobile by using TrueCar, Inc.’s price certificate during the applicable statute of limitations.” On 
January 12, 2016, the court entered an order staying all proceedings in the case pending an initial status conference, which was 
previously scheduled for April 13, 2016. On March 16, 2016, the case was reassigned to a different judge. As a result of that 
reassignment, the initial status conference was rescheduled for and held on May 26, 2016. By stipulation, the stay of discovery was 
continued until a second status conference, which was scheduled for October 12, 2016. On July 13, 2016, the plaintiff amended his 
complaint. The amended complaint continues to assert claims for unjust enrichment, violation of the California Consumer Legal 
Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and Professions Code. The amended complaint retains the same proposed 
class definition as the initial complaint. Like the initial complaint, the amended complaint seeks an award of unspecified damages, 
punitive and exemplary damages, interest, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. On September 12, 2016, the 
Company filed a demurrer to the amended complaint. On October 12, 2016, the court heard oral argument on the demurrer. On 
October 13, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the Company’s demurrer to the amended complaint, dismissing the 
unjust enrichment claim but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the demurrer stage of the litigation. At a status 
conference held on January 26, 2017, the court ruled that discovery could then proceed regarding matters related to class 
certification only. At a status conference held on July 25, 2017, the court set a deadline of January 8, 2018 for the filing of the 
plaintiff’s motion for class certification and provided that discovery could continue to proceed regarding matters related to class 
certification only at that time. Subsequently, the court extended to February 7, 2018 the deadline for the filing of plaintiff’s motion 
for class certification and for the completion of related discovery. On February 7, 2018, the plaintiff filed a motion for class 
certification. A hearing on the plaintiff’s class certification motion has been scheduled for May 25, 2018. We believe that the 
amended complaint is without merit, and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this matter. Based on the current stage of the 
proceedings in this case, the outcome of this legal proceeding, including the anticipated legal defense costs, remains uncertain; 
however, we may incur significant legal fees, settlements or damage awards resulting from this or other civil litigation. If this 
matter is not resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs, 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In June 2017, we were named as a defendant in the Federal Consumer Class Action. The complaint asserted claims for 
violation of the California Business and Professions Code, based principally on allegations of false and misleading advertising and 
unfair business practices. The complaint seeks an award of unspecified damages, interest, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. In 
the complaint, the plaintiff seeks to represent a class of consumers defined as “[a]ll consumers who, between the applicable statute 
of limitations and the present, obtained a TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price” and “[a]ll consumers, who, between the applicable statute of 
limitations and the present, obtained a TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price pertaining to a vehicle located at Riverside Mazda.” On or 
around October 23, 2017, the parties reached an agreement in principle to settle this matter on an individual (non-classwide) basis 
in exchange for the payment of an immaterial amount to Mr. Haas. On November 27, 2017, the parties entered into the Haas 
Settlement Agreement on the same financial terms agreed to in principle on October 23, 2017. Thereafter, the Company fully 
satisfied the financial terms of the Haas Settlement Agreement, and pursuant to the Haas Settlement Agreement, the litigation was 
dismissed with prejudice on December 1, 2017. In light of the full resolution of this matter pursuant to the Haas Settlement 
Agreement, and except with respect to the above-noted immaterial payment, we do not believe that an additional loss is probable. 
However, if similar litigation is filed against us, we may incur significant legal fees, settlements or damage awards as a result. If 
any such matters are not resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing 
defense costs, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In October 2017, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Cox Automotive, Inc. (“Cox Automotive”) in the 
Supreme Court of the State of New York in the County of Nassau (the “Cox Automotive Litigation”). As it relates to us, the 
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complaint in the Cox Automotive Litigation seeks an award of unspecified damages, disgorgement, return of property taken or 
retained, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees. The complaint in the Cox Automotive Litigation alleges that we engaged in tortious 
interference with a contractual relationship between Cox Automotive and one of its former employees, among other claims against 
the former Cox Automotive employee, who is also named as a defendant in the lawsuit. On October 20, 2017, the court granted a 
temporary restraining order prohibiting us from employing the former Cox Automotive employee pending the court’s ruling on the 
request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On November 13, 2017, oral argument was held on the 
request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On January 23, 2018, the court dissolved the temporary 
restraining order and denied the request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On February 27, 2018, the 
parties filed a “stipulation of discontinuance,” which terminated the case. We were not required to make any monetary payment or 
provide any other consideration in exchange for the stipulation of discontinuance. In light of the termination of the litigation on 
this basis, we do not believe a loss is probable. However, if similar litigation is filed against us, we may incur significant legal fees, 
settlements or damage awards as a result. If any such matters are not resolved in our favor, losses arising from the results of 
litigation or settlements, as well as ongoing defense costs, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows.

As a public company, we face the risk of shareholder lawsuits, particularly if we experience declines in the price of our 
common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of a particular company’s 
securities, securities class action lawsuits have often been instituted against affected companies, and as noted immediately above, 
such lawsuits have been instituted against us in the form of the Federal Securities Litigation and the California State Court 
Securities Litigation. Additional lawsuits of this type or similar types, if instituted against us or one or more of our officers or 
directors, whether arising from alleged facts the same as, similar to, or different from those alleged in the Federal Securities 
Litigation or the California State Court Securities Litigation, could result in significant legal fees, settlements, or damage awards, 
as well as the diversion of our management’s attention and resources, and thus could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

 We will incur significant legal fees in our defense of the NY Lanham Act Litigation and the California Consumer Class 
Action, and we may incur fees associated with additional lawsuits that may be filed against us or one or more of our officers or 
directors hereafter.  The legal fees arising from any or all of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We participate in a highly competitive market, and pressure from existing and new companies may adversely affect our 
business and operating results.

We face significant competition from companies that provide listings, information, lead generation, and car-buying 
services designed to reach consumers and enable dealers to reach these consumers.

Our competitors offer various products and services that compete with us. Some of these competitors include:

• Internet search engines and online automotive sites such as Google, AutoTrader.com, eBay Motors, Autoweb.com 
(formerly Autobytel.com), Edmunds.com, KBB.com, Cargurus.com and Cars.com; 

• sites operated by automobile manufacturers such as General Motors and Ford;

• providers of offline, membership-based car-buying services such as the Costco Auto Program; and 

• offline automotive classified listings, such as trade periodicals and local newspapers. 

We compete with many of the above-mentioned companies and other companies for a share of car dealers’ overall 
marketing budget for online and offline media marketing spend. To the extent that car dealers view alternative marketing and 
media strategies to be superior to TrueCar, we may not be able to maintain or grow the number of TrueCar Certified Dealers and 
our TrueCar Certified Dealers may sell fewer cars to users of our platform, and our business, operating results and financial 
condition will be harmed.

We also expect that new competitors will continue to enter the automotive retail industry with competing products and 
services, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue, business and financial results.

Our competitors could significantly impede our ability to expand and optimize our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers 
and to reach consumers. Our competitors may also develop and market new technologies that render our existing or future products 
and services less competitive, unmarketable or obsolete. In addition, if our competitors develop products or services with similar or 
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superior functionality to our solutions, we may need to decrease the prices for our solutions in order to remain competitive. If we 
are unable to maintain our current pricing structure due to competitive pressures, our revenue will be reduced and our operating 
results will be negatively affected.

Our current and potential competitors may have significantly more financial, technical, marketing and other resources 
than we have, and the ability to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and support of their products and services. 
Additionally, they may have more extensive automotive industry relationships than we have, longer operating histories and greater 
name recognition. As a result, these competitors may be better able to respond more quickly with new technologies and to 
undertake more extensive marketing or promotional campaigns. In addition, to the extent any of our competitors have existing 
relationships with dealers or automobile manufacturers for marketing or data analytics solutions, those dealers and automobile 
manufacturers may be unwilling to continue to partner with us. If we are unable to compete with these companies, the demand for 
our products and services could substantially decline.

In addition, if one or more of our competitors were to merge or partner with another of our competitors, the change in the 
competitive landscape could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Our competitors may also establish or strengthen 
cooperative relationships with our current or future third-party data providers, technology partners, or other parties with whom we 
have relationships, thereby limiting our ability to develop, improve and promote our solutions. We may not be able to compete 
successfully against current or future competitors, and competitive pressures may harm our revenue, business and financial results.

We rely, in part, on Internet search engines to drive traffic to our website, and if we fail to appear prominently in the 
search results, our traffic would decline and our business would be adversely affected.

We depend in part on Internet search engines such as Google, Bing and Yahoo! to drive traffic to our website. For 
example, when a user types an automobile into an Internet search engine, we rely on a high organic search ranking of our 
webpages in these search results to refer the user to our website. However, our ability to maintain high, non-paid search result 
rankings is not within our control. Our competitors’ Internet search engine optimization efforts may result in their websites 
receiving a higher search result page ranking than ours, or Internet search engines could revise their methodologies in a way that 
would adversely affect our search result rankings. If Internet search engines modify their search algorithms in ways that are 
detrimental to us, or if our competitors’ efforts are more successful than ours, overall growth in our user base could slow or our 
user base could decline. Internet search engine providers could provide automobile dealer and pricing information directly in 
search results, align with our competitors or choose to develop competing services. Our website has experienced fluctuations in 
search result rankings in the past, and we anticipate similar fluctuations in the future. Moreover, the use of voice recognition 
technology, such as Alexa, Google Assistant or Siri, may drive traffic away from search engines, which could reduce traffic to our 
website. Any reduction in the number of users directed to our website through Internet search engines could harm our business and 
operating results.

The failure to maintain our brand would harm our ability to grow unique visitor traffic and to expand our dealer 
network.

Maintaining and enhancing the TrueCar brand largely depends on the success of our efforts to maintain the trust of our 
users and TrueCar Certified Dealers and to deliver value to each of our users and TrueCar Certified Dealers. If our existing or 
potential users perceive that we are not focused primarily on providing them with a better car-buying experience or if dealers do 
not perceive TrueCar as offering a compelling value proposition, our reputation and the strength of our brand will be adversely 
affected.

Complaints or negative publicity about our business practices, our marketing and advertising campaigns, our compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations, the integrity of the data that we provide to users, data privacy and security issues, and other 
aspects of our business, irrespective of their validity, could diminish users’ and dealers’ confidence in and use of our products and 
services and adversely affect our brand. These concerns could also diminish the trust of existing and potential affinity group 
marketing partners. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain or enhance our brand, and failure to do so would 
harm our business growth prospects and operating results.

Our ability to enhance our current product offerings, or grow complementary product offerings, may be limited, which 
could negatively impact our growth rate, revenues and financial performance.

As we introduce new offerings, such as our automotive trade-in pilot program, or enhance existing products and services 
on our platform we may incur losses or otherwise fail to enter these markets successfully. Our expansion into these markets may 
place us in competitive and regulatory environments with which we are unfamiliar and involves various risks, including the need to 
invest significant resources and the possibility that returns on such investments will not be achieved for several years, if at all. In 
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attempting to establish our new product offerings we expect to incur significant expenses and face various other challenges, such 
as expanding our sales force and technology teams or management personnel to cover these markets and complying with 
complicated regulations that may apply to these markets. In addition, we may not successfully demonstrate the value of these 
expanded or complementary products to dealers or consumers, and failure to do so would compromise our ability to successfully 
expand our user experience and could harm our growth rate, revenue and operating performance.

If we suffer a significant interruption in our ability to gain access to third-party data, we may be unable to maintain key 
aspects of our user experience, including the TrueCar Curve, and our business and operating results will suffer.

Our business relies on our ability to analyze data for the benefit of our users and the TrueCar Certified Dealers in our 
network. We use data obtained pursuant to agreements with third parties to power certain aspects of the user experience on our 
platform, including the TrueCar Curve, a graphical distribution of what others paid for the same make and model of car. In 
addition, the effectiveness of our user acquisition efforts depends in part on the availability of data relating to existing and potential 
users of our platform. If we are unable to renew data agreements, or utilize alternative data sources, as certain agreements expire, 
and we experience a material disruption in the data provided to us, the information that we provide to our users and TrueCar 
Certified Dealers may be limited, the quality of this information may suffer, the user experience may be negatively affected and 
certain functionality on our platform may be disabled, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
could be materially and adversely affected.

Our business is subject to risks related to the larger automotive ecosystem, including consumer demand, global supply 
chain challenges and other macroeconomic issues.

Decreases in consumer demand could adversely affect the market for automobile purchases and, as a result, reduce the 
number of consumers using our platform. Consumer purchases of new and used automobiles generally decline during recessionary 
periods and other periods in which disposable income is adversely affected. For example, the number of new vehicle sales in the 
United States decreased from approximately 16.1 million in 2007 to approximately 10.4 million in 2009, according to the Bureau 
of Economic Analysis. Various economic uncertainties, including stock market and commodity pricing volatility, could lead to 
such a downturn that may impact our business. Purchases of new and used automobiles are typically discretionary for consumers 
and have been, and may continue to be, affected by negative trends in the economy, including the cost of energy and gasoline, the 
availability and cost of credit, reductions in business and consumer confidence, stock market volatility, new tariffs or border 
adjustment taxes and increased unemployment. A reduction in the number of automobiles purchased by consumers could adversely 
affect automobile dealers and car manufacturers and lead to a reduction in other spending by these constituents, including targeted 
incentive programs. In addition, our business may be negatively affected by challenges to the larger automotive ecosystem, 
including global supply chain challenges, such as those resulting from the Japanese tsunami in 2011 and other macroeconomic 
issues. The foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may fail to respond adequately to changes in technology and consumer demands that could lead to decreased demand 
for automobiles.

 In recent years, the market for motor vehicles has been characterized by rapid changes in technology and consumer 
demands.  Self-driving technology, ride sharing, transportation networks and other fundamental changes in automotive and 
transportation could have a substantial impact on consumer demand for the purchase or lease of automobiles.  If we fail to respond 
adequately to a decline in the demand for automobile purchases, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, growth, 
operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Our unique visitors, revenue and operating results fluctuate due to seasonality.

Our revenue trends are a reflection of consumers’ car buying patterns. Across the automotive industry, consumers tend to 
purchase a higher volume of cars in the second and third quarters of each year, due in part to the introduction of new vehicle 
models from manufacturers. In the past, these seasonal trends have not been pronounced due the overall growth of our business, 
but we expect that in the future our revenues will be affected by these seasonal trends. Our business will also be impacted by 
cyclical trends affecting the overall economy, specifically the retail automobile industry, as well as by actual or threatened severe 
weather events.
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We may require additional capital to pursue our business objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges or 
unforeseen circumstances. If capital is not available to us, our operating results, business and financial condition may be 
harmed.

Since our founding, we have raised substantial equity and debt financing to support the growth of our business. Because 
we intend to continue to make investments to support the growth of our business, we may require additional capital to pursue our 
business objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges or unforeseen circumstances, including to increase our 
marketing expenditures to improve our brand awareness, develop new products or services or further improve existing products 
and services, enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may 
need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. However, additional funds may not be available when we 
need them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. In addition, our current revolving credit facility contains restrictive 
covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, and any debt financing that we 
secure in the future could involve further restrictive covenants which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital 
and to pursue business opportunities. Volatility in the credit markets may also have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt 
financing.

If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders 
could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to 
those of holders of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when 
we require it, our ability to continue to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities, challenges or 
unforeseen circumstances could be significantly limited, and our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects 
could be adversely affected.

We collect, process, store, share, disclose and use personal information and other data, and our actual or perceived 
failure to protect such information and data could damage our reputation and brand and harm our business and operating 
results.

We collect, process, store, share, disclose and use personal information and other data provided by consumers and dealers. 
We rely on encryption and authentication technology licensed from third parties to effect secure transmission of such information. 
We may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. Any 
failure or perceived failure to maintain the security of personal and other data that is provided to us by consumers and dealers 
could harm our reputation and brand and expose us to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability, any of which could harm our 
business and operating results.

In addition, from time to time, concerns have been expressed about whether our products, services or processes 
compromise the privacy of our users. Concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use or disclosure of personal 
information or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded, could harm our business and operating results.

There are numerous federal, state and local laws around the world regarding privacy and the collection, processing, 
storing, sharing, disclosing, using and protecting of personal information and other data, the scope of which are changing, subject 
to differing interpretations, and which may be costly to comply with and may be inconsistent between countries and jurisdictions 
or conflict with other rules. We generally comply with industry standards and are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and 
privacy-related obligations to third parties. We strive to comply with all applicable laws, policies, legal obligations and industry 
codes of conduct relating to privacy and data protection, to the extent possible. However, it is possible that these obligations may 
be interpreted and applied in new ways or in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with 
other rules or our practices or that new regulations could be enacted. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our 
privacy policies, our privacy-related obligations to consumers or other third parties, or our privacy-related legal obligations, or any 
compromise of security that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of sensitive information, which may include personally 
identifiable information or other user data, may result in governmental enforcement actions, litigation or public statements against 
us by consumer advocacy groups or others and could cause consumers and automobile dealers to lose trust in us, which could have 
a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, if vendors, developers or other third parties that we work with violate 
applicable laws or our policies, such violations may also put consumer or dealer information at risk and could in turn harm our 
reputation, business and operating results.

A significant disruption in service on our website or of our mobile applications could damage our reputation and result 
in a loss of consumers, which could harm our business, brand, operating results and financial condition.

Our brand, reputation and ability to attract consumers, affinity groups and advertisers depend on the reliable performance 
of our technology platform and content delivery. We have on occasion in the past and may in the future experience interruptions 
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with our systems. Interruptions in these systems, whether due to system failures, computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks or 
physical or electronic break-ins, could affect the security or availability of our products and services on our website and mobile 
application, and prevent or inhibit the ability of consumers to access our products and services. Problems with the reliability or 
security of our systems or with the upgrading and architectural unification of those system could harm our reputation, result in a 
loss of consumers, dealers and affinity group marketing partners, and result in additional costs. In addition, a significant disruption 
in our billing systems could affect our ability to match automobile purchases with users that obtained a Guaranteed Savings 
Certificate and delay or prevent us from submitting invoices to TrueCar Certified Dealers, receiving payment for such invoices and 
recognizing revenue related to such purchases.

Although we are developing a unified architecture, our systems currently employ multiple software platforms. As we 
upgrade our system architecture we may encounter challenges that could impact our business, and our ability to quickly change 
aspects of our consumer and dealer experiences may be limited. During the third quarter of 2016 we began hosting certain of our 
systems using an enterprise cloud computing provider; however, a substantial portion of the computer hardware and 
communications and network infrastructure used to operate our website, mobile applications and billing systems continues to be 
located at co-location facilities in Los Angeles and Chicago. Although we have two locations, our systems are not fully redundant. 
In addition, we do not own or control the operation of these facilities. Our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage or 
interruption from fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, acts of war, denial-of-service attacks, 
electronic and physical break-ins, computer viruses, earthquakes and similar events. The occurrence of any of these events could 
result in damage to our systems and hardware or could cause them to fail.

Problems faced by our third-party web hosting providers could adversely affect the experience of our consumers and 
dealers. Such providers could close their facilities without adequate notice. Any financial difficulties, up to and including 
bankruptcy, faced by our third-party web hosting providers or any of the service providers with whom they contract may have 
negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict. If our third-party web hosting providers are 
unable to keep up with our growing capacity needs, our business could be harmed.

Any errors, defects, disruptions, or other performance or reliability problems with our network operations could cause 
interruptions in access to our products as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services and could 
harm our reputation, business, operating results and financial condition.

We have begun utilizing an enterprise cloud computing provider to operate certain aspects of our service and any 
disruption of or interference with our use of these operations could adversely affect our business operations and financial 
results.

We utilize a cloud-based computing platform operated by a third party in connection with certain aspects of our business 
operations. We are in the process of architecting our software and computer systems so as to utilize cloud-based data processing, 
storage capabilities and other cloud-based services. A portion of our computing processes are cloud-based, and we are working to 
significantly increase our use of enterprise cloud services. As a result, now and increasingly going forward, any disruption of or 
interference with the use of these cloud services, including disruptions due to system failures, denial-of-service or other 
cyberattacks and computer viruses, or an interruption to the third-party systems or in the infrastructure which allows us to connect 
to the third-party systems for an extended period, may impact our ability to operate the business and could adversely impact our 
operations and our business.

We are currently evaluating implementation of a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) software solution. If we do not 
appropriately manage this project, our operations could be significantly disrupted.

We are currently evaluating implementation of a new ERP software solution. This project could have a significant impact 
on our business processes, information systems and internal controls, and will require significant change management, investment 
in capital and personnel resources, and coordination of numerous software and system providers and internal business teams. We 
may experience difficulties as we manage these changes and transition to a new ERP solution, including loss or corruption of data, 
decreases in productivity as our personnel implement and become familiar with the new systems and processes, unanticipated 
expenses (including increased costs of implementation or costs of conducting business) and lost revenues. Difficulties in 
implementing a new ERP solution could disrupt our operations, divert management’s attention from key strategic initiatives, and 
have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property could harm our business and operating results.

Our business depends on our intellectual property, the protection of which is crucial to the success of our business. We 
rely on a combination of patent, trademark, trade secret and copyright law, and contractual restrictions to protect our intellectual 
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property. In addition, we attempt to protect our intellectual property, technology and confidential information by requiring our 
employees and consultants to enter into confidentiality and assignment of inventions agreements and third parties to enter into 
nondisclosure agreements. These agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential 
information, intellectual property, or technology and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or 
disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property, or technology. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, 
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our website features, software and functionality or obtain and use information 
that we consider proprietary.

Competitors may adopt service names similar to ours, thereby harming our ability to build brand identity and possibly 
leading to user confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of 
other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of the term “TrueCar.”

We currently hold the “TrueCar.com” and “True.com” Internet domain names as well as various other related domain 
names. The regulation of domain names in the United States is subject to change. Regulatory bodies could establish additional top-
level domains, appoint additional domain name registrars or modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we 
may not be able to acquire or maintain all domain names that use the name TrueCar.

We may in the future be subject to intellectual property disputes, which are costly to defend and could harm our business 
and operating results.

We may from time to time face allegations that we have infringed the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other 
intellectual property rights of third parties, including from our competitors or non-practicing entities.

Patent and other intellectual property litigation may be protracted and expensive, and the results are difficult to predict 
and may require us to stop offering some features, purchase licenses or modify our products and features while we develop non-
infringing substitutes or may result in significant settlement costs.

In addition, we use open source software in our products and will use open source software in the future. From time to 
time, we may face claims against companies that incorporate open source software into their products, claiming ownership of, or 
demanding release of, the source code, the open source software or derivative works that were developed using such software, or 
otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. These claims could also result in litigation, require us 
to purchase a costly license or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our platform or 
services, any of which would have a negative effect on our business and operating results.

Even if these matters do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements, these 
matters, and the time and resources necessary to litigate or resolve them, could harm our business, our operating results and our 
reputation.

Complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies has increased our costs and the demands on 
management and could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private 
company and these expenses will increase now that, effective December 31, 2017, we are no longer an “emerging growth 
company.” In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules implemented by the SEC and NASDAQ impose various requirements on 
public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel devote a 
substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations have increased and will continue 
to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs and have made, and will continue to make, some activities more 
time consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain 
director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or to incur substantial 
costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and 
retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or our board committees or as executive officers.

As we are no longer an “emerging growth company”, our independent registered public accounting firm is now required 
to undertake an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. As a consequence, the cost of our compliance with 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”) has correspondingly increased. Our compliance with applicable provisions 
of Section 404 requires that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management time on compliance-
related issues as we implement additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting requirements. Moreover, if 
we or our independent registered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that 
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are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or 
investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.

Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company may suffer if, in the future, material weaknesses are found, and this 
could cause a decline in the market price of our stock. Irrespective of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our internal 
control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our stated operating results and harm our reputation. If we 
are unable to implement these changes effectively or efficiently, it could harm our operations, financial reporting or financial 
results and could result in an adverse opinion on internal control from our independent registered public accounting firm.

In addition, we have previously taken advantage of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012's reduced disclosure 
requirements applicable to "emerging growth companies" regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the 
requirements of holding advisory say-on-pay votes on executive compensation. We are no longer eligible for such reduced 
disclosure requirements and exemptions and as such, we will be required to hold a say-on-pay vote and a say-on-frequency vote at 
our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders. As a result, we expect that our loss of “emerging growth company” status will require 
additional attention from management and will result in increased costs to us, which could include higher legal fees, accounting 
fees and fees associated with investor relations activities, among others.

We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in additional 
dilution to our stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business in response to the demands of consumers, dealers and 
other constituents within the automotive industry, as well as competitive pressures. In some circumstances, we may determine to 
do so through the acquisition of complementary businesses and technologies rather than through internal development, such as our 
acquisition of ALG in 2011. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and 
we may not be able to successfully complete identified acquisitions. The risks we face in connection with acquisitions include:

• diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration challenges; 

• coordination of technology, research and development and sales and marketing functions; 

• transition of the acquired company’s users to our website and mobile applications; 

• retention of employees from the acquired company; 

• cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization; 

• integration of the acquired company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other administrative 
systems; 

• the need to implement or improve controls, procedures and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may have 
lacked effective controls, procedures and policies; 

• potential write-offs of intangibles or other assets acquired in such transactions that may have an adverse effect our 
operating results in a given period;

• liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement claims, 
violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities, and other known and unknown liabilities; and 

• litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, 
consumers, former stockholders or other third parties.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions and 
investments could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur 
unanticipated liabilities, and harm our business generally. Future acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity 
securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses, or the write-off of goodwill, any of which could 
harm our financial condition. Also, the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions may not materialize.
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If our intangible assets and goodwill become impaired we may be required to record a significant non-cash charge to 
earnings which would materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

We had goodwill and intangible assets of $69.2 million at December 31, 2017. Under accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States, we review our goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be fully recoverable. We review our intangible 
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
While we have not recognized any impairment charges since our inception, we may recognize impairment charges in future 
periods in connection with our acquisitions or from other businesses we may seek to acquire in the future. The carrying value of 
our goodwill and intangible assets may not be recoverable due to factors such as a decline in our stock price and market 
capitalization, reduced estimates of future revenues or cash flows, or slower growth rates in our industry. Estimates of future 
revenues and cash flows are based on a long-term financial outlook of our operations. Actual performance in the near-term or long-
term could be materially different from these forecasts, which could impact future estimates and the recorded value of the 
intangibles. For example, a significant, sustained decline in our stock price and market capitalization may result in impairment of 
our intangible assets, including goodwill, and a significant charge to earnings in our consolidated financial statements during the 
period in which an impairment is determined to exist. In the event we had to reduce the carrying value of our goodwill or 
intangible assets, any such impairment charge could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

If our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes is limited, we may not receive the 
benefit of those assets.

We had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $393.6 million and state net operating loss 
carryforwards of approximately $247.5 million at December 31, 2017. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards begin 
to expire in the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2017, we had federal and state research 
and development credit carryforwards of approximately $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The federal credit 
carryforwards begin to expire in the year ending December 31, 2028. The state credit carryforwards can be carried forward 
indefinitely.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“IRC”), imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of net 
operating losses and other tax attributes in the event of an “ownership change” of a corporation. Accordingly, our ability to use pre-
change net operating loss and research tax credits may be limited as prescribed under IRC Sections 382 and 383. Therefore, if we 
generate taxable income in the future, our ability to reduce our federal income tax liability may be subject to limitation.

A cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three year period, along with other limitations imposed by 
certain state and local jurisdictions, may limit the amount of net operating losses and credits that we may utilize in any one year. As 
a result of historical equity issuances, we have determined that the annual utilization of our net operating losses and tax credits are 
subject to the provisions of IRC Sections 382 and 383. Future changes in our stock ownership, including future equity offerings, as 
well as other changes that may be outside our control, could potentially result in further limitations on our ability to utilize our net 
operating loss and credit carryforwards. For example, the Tax Act described below includes changes to the U.S. federal corporate 
income tax rate, and our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets and liabilities will be revalued at the newly 
enacted rate.

Changes in applicable tax regulations and resolutions of tax disputes could negatively affect our financial results.

 The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax 
legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The changes included in the Tax Act are broad and 
complex and, among other items, reduce the corporate tax rate. The final transition impacts of the Tax Act may differ from the 
estimates provided elsewhere in this report, possibly materially, due to, among other things, changes in interpretations of the Tax 
Act, any legislative action to address questions that arise because of the Tax Act, and any changes in accounting standards for 
income taxes or related interpretations in response to the Tax Act. The Tax Act, or future changes in tax laws applicable to us, 
could materially increase our future income tax expense.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidance or other expectations about our business and future operating 
results, which would cause our stock price to decline.
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We have provided and may continue to provide guidance about our business and future operating results, including 
financial results for the quarter ending March 31, 2018, as well as the year ending December 31, 2018, as part of our press releases, 
investor conference calls or otherwise. In developing this guidance, our management must make certain assumptions and 
judgments about our future performance. For example, in the second quarter of 2015, our business results varied significantly from 
guidance for the quarter and the price of our common stock declined. Our future business results may vary significantly from 
management’s guidance due to a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and which could materially and 
adversely affect our operations, financial condition and operating results. If our publicly announced guidance of future operating 
results fails to meet expectations of securities analysts, investors or other interested parties, the price of our common stock could 
decline.

Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors, their affiliates and holders of 5% or more 
of our outstanding commons stock may prevent new investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.

As of December 31, 2017, our executive officers, directors and holders of 5% or more of our outstanding common stock 
beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 68% of our outstanding shares of common stock. Some of these persons or 
entities may have interests that are different from yours. For example, these stockholders may support proposals and actions with 
which you may disagree or which are not in your interests. These stockholders are able to exercise a significant level of control 
over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, amendment of our certificate of incorporation 
and approval of significant corporate transactions. This control could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control 
of our company or changes in management and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the 
support of these stockholders, which in turn could reduce the price of our common stock.

The price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and the value of your investment could decline.

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile since our initial public offering and is likely to continue to 
fluctuate substantially. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, the trading price of our common stock fluctuated from a low 
of $10.16 per share to a high of $21.75 per share. The trading price of our common stock depends on a number of factors, 
including those described in this “Risk Factors” section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our 
operating performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock since you 
might be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you paid. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our 
common stock include the following:

• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time; 

• volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of high technology stocks; 

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our 
industry in particular; 

• sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders; 

• failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who 
follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors; 

• announcements by us or our competitors of new products; 

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

• rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry; 

• actual or anticipated changes in our operating results or fluctuations in our operating results; 

• actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally; 

• our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;

• litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our 
competitors; 
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• developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights; 

• announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors;

• new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business; 

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; 

• any significant change in our management; 

• conditions in the automobile industry; and 

• general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

The effect of such factors on the trading market for our stock may be enhanced by the lack of a large and established 
trading market for our stock. In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, have 
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance 
of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of 
our actual operating performance. Additionally, as a public company, we face the risk of shareholder lawsuits, particularly if we 
experience declines in the price of our common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the 
market prices of a particular company’s securities, securities class action lawsuits have often been instituted against affected 
companies. We have been, and may in the future be, subject to such legal actions.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales might occur, 
could depress the market price of our common stock.

The market price for our common stock could decline as a result of the sale of substantial amounts of our common stock, 
particularly sales by our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders, a large number of shares of our common stock 
becoming available for sale or the perception in the market that holders of a large number of shares intend to sell their shares.

At December 31, 2017, approximately 100.4 million shares of our common stock were outstanding. In addition, as of 
December 31, 2017, there were 16.7 million shares underlying options and 4.3 million shares underlying restricted stock units. If 
these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our stock could 
decline. Under Rule 144, shares held by non-affiliates for more than six months may generally be sold without restriction, other 
than a current public information requirement, and may be sold freely without any restrictions after one year. Shares held by 
affiliates may also be sold under Rule 144, subject to applicable restrictions, including volume and manner of sale limitations.

In January 2017, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 under which the Company may, from time to time, 
sell securities up to a total dollar amount of $100 million, and selling stockholders may sell, from time to time, up to 20 million 
shares of common stock (the “2017 Shelf Registration”) pursuant to which we may offer and sell from time to time up to $100 
million of securities of any combination of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, depositary shares, 
subscription rights and/or units at prices and on terms that we may determine, and pursuant to which up to 20 million shares of 
common stock may be offered and sold from time to time by selling stockholders. The 2017 Shelf Registration was declared 
effective by the SEC on February 6, 2017. On May 2, 2017, an offering pursuant to the 2017 Shelf Registration was effected. We 
sold 1.15 million shares of the Company's common stock and certain selling stockholders sold 9.2 million shares of common stock 
in the offering.

We or selling stockholders may periodically offer additional securities in amounts, prices and terms to be announced when 
and if the securities are offered. At the time any of the securities covered by the 2017 Shelf Registration are offered for sale, a 
prospectus supplement will be prepared and filed with the SEC containing specific information about the terms of any such 
offering.

You may experience future dilution as a result of future equity offerings.

To the extent that we raise additional funds through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of such 
securities will result in dilution to our stockholders. We may sell shares or other securities in any other offering at a price per share 
that is less than the price per share paid by investors in the past, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future 
could have rights superior to existing stockholders. The price per share at which we sell additional shares of our common stock, or 
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securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, in future transactions may be higher or lower than the price per share 
paid in the past.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, 
could impair a takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions which could have the effect of rendering 
more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors. Our corporate governance 
documents include provisions:

• creating a classified board of directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms;

• authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by our board of directors without stockholder approval 
and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to our common stock; 

• limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers; 

• limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings; 

• requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for 
nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors; 

• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board of directors and stockholder meetings; and 

• providing our board of directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings and to cancel 
previously scheduled special meetings.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our 
management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware 
General Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding common stock from 
engaging in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a 
change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and 
could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our 
market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could 
decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts 
may publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their 
recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, our 
stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly 
publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume 
to decline.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, 
the terms of our credit facility currently prohibit us from paying cash dividends on our capital stock. Consequently, investors may 
need to rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future 
gains on their investment. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our common stock.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
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None.
 

Item 2. Properties
 

 We maintain our principal offices in Santa Monica, California. We currently lease approximately 38,000 square feet at 120 
Broadway in Santa Monica, under a lease that expires in December 2025, and approximately 34,000 square feet at 1401 Ocean Avenue 
in Santa Monica that expires in 2029. We also lease approximately 38,000 square feet at 13215 Bee Cave Parkway in Austin, Texas, 
that expires in 2027. We maintain additional leased spaces in several other Santa Monica locations as well as spaces in San Francisco, 
California, and Denver, Colorado. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that 
should it be needed, we will be able to secure additional space to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

 
 Refer to the disclosure under the heading “Legal Proceedings” in Note 6 “Commitments and Contingencies” to our annual 
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this report for legal proceedings, which disclosure is incorporated by 
reference into this Item 3 of Part I.

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

 
Not applicable.
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PART II
 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

Market Information for Common Stock
 

 Our common stock has been listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “TRUE” since May 16, 2014. 
Our initial public offering was priced at $9.00 per share. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock. 
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock as reported on The 
NASDAQ Global Select Market:

 

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Year Ended December 31, 2016
  High Low High Low

First Quarter $ 15.96 $ 12.40 $ 9.47 $ 4.42
Second Quarter $ 19.96 $ 13.91 $ 7.98 $ 5.13
Third Quarter $ 21.75 $ 14.45 $ 11.13 $ 7.63
Fourth Quarter $ 16.45 $ 10.16 $ 13.29 $ 8.47

 
Holders of Record

 
 As of February 22, 2018, there were 132 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is 
greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street 
name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held 
in trust by other entities.

 
Dividend Policy

 
 We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and 
any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the 
foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will 
depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions, any restrictions on paying 
dividends, including the current restriction on our ability to pay dividends under our credit facility, and other factors that our board of 
directors may deem relevant.

 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

 
 None.

 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

 
 See Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements herein regarding information about securities authorized for issuance 
under our equity compensation plans.

Sales of Unregistered Securities 
 

 None.
 
Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

 On May 2, 2017, we closed a public offering of 1,150,000 shares of common stock sold by us and 9,200,000 shares of 
common stock sold by selling stockholders. The public offering price of the shares sold was $16.50 per share. We received aggregate 
net proceeds of $17.4 million, net of underwriting discounts, commissions, and offering costs of $1.6 million. We did not received any 
proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders. The offer and sale of all of the shares in the offering were registered 
under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-215614). Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan, 
RBC Capital Markets, JMP Securities, B. Riley & Co., Craig-Hallum Capital Group, Stephens Inc., and Loop Capital Markets acted as 
the underwriters. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from the offering as described in our final 
prospectus filed with the SEC on April 27, 2017 pursuant to Rule 424(b).
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Stock Performance Graph 
 

 The following shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or 
incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the 
extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing. The following graph shows a comparison from May 16, 2014 (the 
date our common stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market) through December 31, 2017 of the cumulative 
total return for our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index (NASDAQ Composite), and the RDG Internet Composite. The graph 
assumes that $100 was invested at the market close on May 16, 2014 in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite and the RDG 
Internet Composite, and the data for the NASDAQ Composite and the RDG Internet Composite assumes reinvestments of dividends. 
As discussed above, we have never declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying a 
cash dividend in the foreseeable future. The stock price performance of the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future 
stock price performance.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
 

 We have derived the following selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2017, 
2016 and 2015 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2017 and 2016 from our audited consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere herein. We have derived the selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 from our audited 
consolidated financial statements which are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not 
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future.

 
 You should read the following selected consolidated financial and other data together with the section titled “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements, related notes 
and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10 K. The selected consolidated financial data in 
this section is not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements and are qualified in their entirety by the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

  Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Revenues $ 323,149 $ 277,507 $ 259,838 $ 206,649 $ 133,958
Cost and operating expenses:          

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization presented separately below)(1): 28,227 25,167 23,657 17,513 15,295
Sales and marketing (1) 185,397 154,406 151,002 128,569 75,180
Technology and development (1) 59,070 53,580 48,021 36,563 23,685
General and administrative (1) 61,646 59,908 83,494 58,296 30,857
Depreciation and amortization 22,472 23,345 17,646 13,213 11,569

Total costs and operating expenses 356,812 316,406 323,820 254,154 156,586
Loss from operations (33,663) (38,899) (63,982) (47,505) (22,628)
Interest income 1,260 376 107 59 121
Interest expense (2,610) (2,530) (443) (380) (1,988)
Other income — — 13 37 18
Loss before income taxes (35,013) (41,053) (64,305) (47,789) (24,477)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (2,164) 655 606 640 579
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911) $ (48,429) $ (25,056)
 Net loss per share, basic and diluted (2) (3) $ (0.35) $ (0.49) $ (0.79) $ (0.68) $ (0.43)
 Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic

and diluted (2) (3) 94,865 84,483 81,914 70,837 58,540
Other Financial Information:          

Adjusted EBITDA (4) $ 28,884 $ 15,039 $ 7,572 $ 10,884 $ 2,140

Non-GAAP net income (loss) (5) $ 7,226 $ (11,115) $ (11,016) $ (3,290) $ (11,875)
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(1) The following table presents stock-based compensation expense included in each respective expense category:

  Year Ended
  December 31,
  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 1,105 $ 960 $ 792 $ 454 $ 141
Sales and marketing 10,353 5,837 4,493 4,743 2,561
Technology and development 8,060 4,398 4,294 5,013 1,762
General and administrative 12,723 13,544 32,984 19,123 4,882
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 32,241 $ 24,739 $ 42,563 $ 29,333 $ 9,346

 
(2) See Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the calculations of our basic and diluted net 

loss per share attributable to common stockholders.

(3) All share, per-share and related information has been retroactively adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the impact of a 2-for-3 
reverse stock split, which was effected on May 2, 2014.

(4) Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to 
net income, operating income or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA and 
a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.” 

(5) Non-GAAP net income (loss) is not a measure of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an 
alternative to net loss or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. For a definition of Non-GAAP net income (loss) 
and a reconciliation of Non-GAAP net income (loss), see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

  At December 31,
  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Data        
Cash and cash equivalents and short term investments $ 197,762 $ 107,721 $ 112,371 $ 147,539 $ 43,819
Working capital, excluding restricted cash 205,573 117,549 113,855 145,666 36,637
Property and equipment, net 70,710 66,941 71,390 30,731 15,238
Total assets 384,834 294,448 302,374 296,952 174,750
Total indebtedness — — — — 4,764
Lease financing obligation 29,129 28,833 26,987 6,093 —
Convertible preferred stock — — — — 29,224
Total stockholders’ equity 313,118 224,581 232,692 249,198 112,180

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
 

 Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) are financial measures that are not calculated in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude 
interest income, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, non-cash warrant expense, change in fair value of contingent 
consideration, stock-based compensation, IPO-related expenses, ticker symbol acquisition costs, certain litigation costs and legal 
settlements, severance charges, lease exit costs, and income taxes. We define Non-GAAP net income (loss) as net loss adjusted to 
exclude stock-based compensation, non-cash warrant expense, change in the fair value of contingent consideration, IPO-related 
expenses, ticker symbol acquisition costs, certain litigation costs and legal settlements, severance charges, and lease exit costs. We 
have provided below a reconciliation of each of Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) to net loss, the most directly 
comparable GAAP financial measure. Neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) should be considered as an 
alternative to net loss or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. In addition, 
our Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other 
organizations as they may not calculate Adjusted EBITDA or Non-GAAP net income (loss) in the same manner as we calculate these 
measures.
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 We use Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) as operating performance measures as each is (i) an integral part 
of our reporting and planning processes; (ii) used by our management and board of directors to assess our operational performance, 
and together with operational objectives, as a measure in evaluating employee compensation and bonuses; and (iii) used by our 
management to make financial and strategic planning decisions regarding future operating investments. We believe that using 
Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) facilitates operating performance comparisons on a period-to-period basis 
because these measures exclude variations primarily caused by changes in the excluded items noted above. In addition, we believe that 
Adjusted EBITDA, Non-GAAP net income (loss) and similar measures are widely used by investors, securities analysts, rating 
agencies and other parties in evaluating companies as measures of financial performance and debt service capabilities.

 
 Our use of each of Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should 
not consider them in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the payment or receipt of interest or the payment of income taxes;

• neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) reflects changes in, or cash requirements for, our working 
capital needs;

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be 
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such 
replacements or for new capital expenditures or any other contractual commitments;

• neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) reflects the cash costs to advance our claims in respect of 
certain litigation, or the costs to defend ourselves in various complaints filed against us or to settle such litigation, which 
we expect to continue to be significant;

• neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) reflect a non-recurring legal settlement in favor of the 
Company;

• neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) reflects the cash severance costs due to certain former 
executives and former members of our product and technology teams affected by a reorganization;

• neither Adjusted EBITDA non Non-GAAP net income (loss) reflects the lease exit costs associated with consolidation of 
the Company’s office locations in Santa Monica, California.

• neither Adjusted EBITDA nor Non-GAAP net income (loss) consider the potentially dilutive impact of shares issued or 
to be issued in connection with share-based compensation or warrant issuances; and

• other companies, including companies in our own industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income 
(loss) differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as a comparative measure.

 Because of these limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) alongside other 
financial performance measures, including our net loss, our other GAAP results, and various cash flow metrics. In addition, in 
evaluating Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) you should be aware that in the future we will incur expenses such as 
those that are the subject of adjustments in deriving Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss), and you should not infer 
from our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) that our future results will not be affected by these 
expenses or any unusual or non-recurring items.
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 The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods presented:

  Year Ended
  December 31,
  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Reconciliation of Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA:        
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911) $ (48,429) $ (25,056)
Non-GAAP adjustments:          
Interest income (1,260) (376) (107) (59) (121)
Interest expense 2,610 2,530 443 380 1,988
Depreciation and amortization 22,472 23,345 17,646 13,213 11,569
Stock-based compensation (1) 32,241 24,739 42,563 29,333 9,346
Warrant expense (reduction) — 46 (803) 9,808 3,740
Change in fair value of contingent consideration — — — — 95
IPO-related expenses — — — 3,717 —
Ticker symbol acquisition costs — — — 803 —
Certain litigation costs (2) 7,967 960 6,171 2,270 —
Legal settlement (3) — — — (792) —
Severance charges (4) — 1,783 3,732 — —
Lease exit costs (5) (133) 3,065 2,232 — —
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (2,164) 655 606 640 579
Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,884 $ 15,039 $ 7,572 $ 10,884 $ 2,140  

(1) Includes stock-based compensation of $10.7 million incurred in the fourth quarter of 2015 related to the departure of certain 
executives.

(2) The excluded amounts relate to legal costs incurred in connection with a claim we filed against Sonic Automotive Holdings, Inc. 
(the “Sonic Litigation”), complaints filed by non-TrueCar dealers and the California New Car Dealers Association against 
TrueCar, and securities and consumer class action lawsuits. We believe the exclusion of these costs is appropriate to facilitate 
comparisons of our core operating performance on a period-to-period basis. We do not believe significant trademark litigation like 
the Sonic Litigation is reflective of a trend in our underlying operations. Based on the nature of the specific claims underlying the 
excluded litigation matters, once these matters are resolved, we do not believe our operations are likely to entail defending against 
the types of claims raised by these matters. We expect the cost of defending these claims to continue to be significant pending 
resolution.

(3) Represents a non-recurring legal settlement in favor of the Company. We believe excluding the impact of this non-recurring legal 
settlement is appropriate to facilitate period-to-period operating performance comparisons.

(4) In 2016, we incurred severance costs of $1.3 million related to a reorganization of our product and technology teams to better 
align our resources with business objectives as we transition from multiple software platforms to a unified architecture. In 
addition, we incurred severance costs of $0.5 million related to an executive who terminated during 2016. In 2015, we incurred 
severance costs of $3.4 million for executive-level employees who terminated during the second half of the year ended December 
31, 2015. In addition, we also incurred $0.3 million of related recruiting fees for the placement of our new CEO in the fourth 
quarter of 2015. We believe excluding the impact of these terminations from 2016 and 2015 is consistent with our use of these 
non-GAAP measures as we do not believe they are a useful indicator of ongoing operating results.

(5) Represents the initial estimate and updates to that estimate of lease termination costs associated with the consolidation of the 
Company’s office locations in Santa Monica, California in December 2015. We believe that their exclusion is appropriate to 
facilitate period-to-period operating performance comparisons.
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 The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to Non-GAAP net income (loss) for each of the periods presented:
 

  Year Ended

  December 31,

  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Reconciliation of Net Loss to Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss):        
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911) $ (48,429) $ (25,056)
Non-GAAP adjustments:          
Stock-based compensation (1) 32,241 24,739 42,563 29,333 9,346
Warrant expense (reduction) — 46 (803) 9,808 3,740
Change in fair value of contingent consideration — — — — 95
IPO-related expenses — — — 3,717 —
Ticker symbol acquisition costs — — — 803 —
Certain litigation costs (2) 7,967 960 6,171 2,270 —
Legal settlement (3) — — — (792) —
Severance charges (4) — 1,783 3,732 — —
Lease exit costs (5) (133) 3,065 2,232 — —

Non-GAAP net income (loss) (6) $ 7,226 $ (11,115) $ (11,016) $ (3,290) $ (11,875)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation of $10.7 million incurred in the fourth quarter of 2015 related to the departure of certain 
executives.

(2) The excluded amounts relate to legal costs incurred in connection with the Sonic Litigation, complaints filed by non-TrueCar 
dealers and the California New Car Dealers Association against TrueCar, and securities and consumer class action lawsuits. We 
believe the exclusion of these costs is appropriate to facilitate comparisons of our core operating performance on a period-to-
period basis. We do not believe significant trademark litigation like the Sonic Litigation is reflective of a trend in our underlying 
operations. Based on the nature of the specific claims underlying the excluded litigation matters, once these matters are resolved, 
we do not believe our operations are likely to entail defending against the types of claims raised by these matters. We expect the 
cost of defending these claims to continue to be significant pending resolution.

(3) Represents a non-recurring legal settlement in favor of the Company. We believe excluding the impact of this non-recurring legal 
settlement is appropriate to facilitate period-to-period operating performance comparisons.

(4) In 2016, we incurred severance costs of $1.3 million related to a reorganization of our product and technology teams to better 
align our resources with business objectives as we transition from multiple software platforms to a unified architecture. In 
addition, we incurred severance costs of $0.5 million related to an executive who terminated during 2016. In 2015, we incurred 
severance costs of $3.4 million for executive-level employees who terminated during the second half of the year ended December 
31, 2015. In addition, we also incurred $0.3 million of related recruiting fees for the placement of our new CEO in the fourth 
quarter of 2015. We believe excluding the impact of these terminations from 2016 and 2015 is consistent with our use of these 
non-GAAP measures as we do not believe they are a useful indicator of ongoing operating results.

(5) Represents the initial estimate and updates to that estimate of lease termination costs associated with the consolidation of the 
Company’s office locations in Santa Monica, California in December 2015. We believe that their exclusion is appropriate to 
facilitate period-to-period operating performance comparisons.

(6) There is no income tax impact related to the adjustments made to calculate Non-GAAP net income (loss) because of our available 
net operating loss carryforwards and the full valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 
2017 and December 31, 2016.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

 The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included herein. In addition to historical financial 
information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking 
statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere herein. See “Special Note 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

 
Overview

 
 Our Mission: We exist to be the most transparent brand in automotive, to serve as a catalyst that dramatically improves the 
way people discover, buy and sell cars.

 We have established a diverse software ecosystem on a common technology infrastructure, powered by proprietary data and 
analytics. Our company-branded platform is available on our TrueCar website and mobile applications. In addition, we customize and 
operate our platform on a co-branded basis for our many affinity group marketing partners, including financial institutions like USAA, 
Chase and American Express, membership-based organizations like Consumer Reports, AARP, Sam’s Club and AAA, and employee 
buying programs for large enterprises such as IBM and Walmart. We enable users to obtain market-based pricing data on new and used 
cars, and to connect with our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers. We also allow automobile manufacturers, known in the industry as 
OEMs, to connect with TrueCar users during the purchase process and efficiently deliver targeted incentives to consumers.

 
 We benefit consumers by providing information related to what others have paid for a make, model and trim of car in their 
area and guaranteed savings off the manufacturer’s suggested retail price, or MSRP, for that make, model and trim, as well as, in most 
instances, price offers on actual vehicle inventory, which we refer to as VIN-based offers, from our network of TrueCar Certified 
Dealers. Guaranteed savings off MSRP are reflected in a Guaranteed Savings Certificate which the consumer may then take to the 
dealer and apply toward the purchase of the specified make, model and trim of car. VIN-based offers provide consumers with price 
offers for specific vehicles from specific dealers. We benefit our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers by enabling them to attract 
these informed, in-market consumers in a cost-effective, accountable manner, which we believe helps them to sell more cars 
profitably. We benefit OEMs by allowing them to more effectively target their incentive spending at deep-in-market consumers during 
their purchase process.

 Our network of over 15,000 TrueCar Certified Dealers consists primarily of new car franchises, representing all major makes 
of cars, as well as independent dealers selling used vehicles. TrueCar Certified Dealers operate in all 50 states and the District of 
Columbia.

 Our subsidiary, ALG, Inc., provides forecasts and consulting services regarding determination of the residual value of an 
automobile at given future points in time. These residual values are used to underwrite automotive loans and leases to determine 
payments by consumers. In addition, financial institutions use this information to measure exposure and risk across loan, lease, and 
fleet portfolios. 

 
 During the year ended December 31, 2017, we generated revenues of $323.1 million and recorded a net loss of $32.8 million. 
Of the $323.1 million in revenues, 94.0% consisted of transaction revenues with the remaining 6.0% derived primarily from the sale of 
forecasts, consulting and other services to the automotive and financial services industries. Revenues from the sale of forecasts, 
consulting and other services are derived primarily from the operations of our ALG subsidiary. Transaction revenues primarily consist 
of fees paid to us by our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers.
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Key Metrics
 

 We regularly review a number of key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our 
business, formulate financial projections and make operating and strategic decisions.

  Year Ended
  December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Average Monthly Unique Visitors 7,380,838 7,004,863 5,999,606
Units(1) 952,834 806,953 750,108
Monetization $ 319 $ 322 $ 322
Franchise Dealer Count 12,142 11,151 9,094
Independent Dealer Count 2,979 2,597 2,082

(1) We issued full credits of the amount originally invoiced with respect to 21,835, 19,021, and 12,484 units during the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The number of units has not been adjusted downwards related to units credited 
as discussed in the description of the unit metric below.

 
Average Monthly Unique Visitors

 
 We define a monthly unique visitor as an individual who has visited our website, our landing page on our affinity group 
marketing partner sites, or our mobile applications within a calendar month. We identify unique visitors through cookies for browser-
based visits on either a desktop computer or mobile device and through device IDs for mobile application visits. In addition, if a 
TrueCar.com user logs-in, we supplement their identification with their log-in credentials to attempt to avoid double counting on 
TrueCar.com across devices, browsers and mobile applications. If an individual accesses our service using different devices or 
different browsers on the same device within a given month, the first access through each such device or browser is counted as a 
separate monthly unique visitor, except where adjusted based upon TrueCar.com log-in information. We calculate average monthly 
unique visitors as the sum of the monthly unique visitors in a given period, divided by the number of months in that period. We view 
our average monthly unique visitors as a key indicator of the growth in our business and audience reach, the strength of our brand, and 
the visibility of car-buying services to the member base of our affinity group marketing partners.

 The number of average monthly unique visitors increased 5.4% to approximately 7.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 from approximately 7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. We attribute the growth in our average 
monthly unique visitors principally to television and digital marketing advertising campaigns and also to increased efforts from our 
affinity group marketing partners to drive greater member awareness and traffic to our platform.

 
Units

 
 We define units as the number of automobiles purchased by our users from TrueCar Certified Dealers through TrueCar.com, 
our TrueCar branded mobile applications or the car-buying sites we maintain for our affinity group marketing partners. A unit is 
counted following such time as we have matched the sale to a TrueCar user with one of TrueCar Certified Dealers. We view units as a 
key indicator of the growth of our business, the effectiveness of our product and the size and geographic coverage of our network of 
TrueCar Certified Dealers.

 
 On occasion we issue credits to our TrueCar Certified Dealers with respect to units sold. However, we do not adjust our unit 
metric for these credits as we believe that in substantially all cases a vehicle has in fact been purchased through our platform given the 
high degree of accuracy of our sales matching process. Credits are most frequently issued to a dealer that claims that it had a pre-
existing relationship with a purchaser of a vehicle, and we determine whether we will issue a credit based on a number of factors, 
including the facts and circumstances related to the dealer claim and the level of claim activity at the dealership. In most cases, we 
issue credits in order to maintain strong business relations with the dealer and not because we have made an erroneous sales match or 
billing error.

 
 The number of units increased 18.1% to 952,834 for the year ended December 31, 2017 from 806,953 for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. We attribute this growth in units to the effectiveness of our marketing activities, product enhancements, and the 
growing number and geographic coverage of TrueCar Certified Dealers in our network.
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Monetization
 

 We define monetization as the average transaction revenue per unit, which we calculate by dividing all of our transaction 
revenue in a given period by the number of units in that period. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our 
monetization was $319 and $322 per unit, respectively.  We expect our monetization to be affected in the future by changes in our 
pricing structure, the unit mix between new and used cars, with used cars providing higher monetization, and by the introduction of 
new products and services, including OEM incentive programs.

 
Franchise Dealer Count

 
 We define franchise dealer count as the number of franchise dealers in the network of TrueCar Certified Dealers at the end of 
a given period. This number is calculated by counting the number of brands of new cars sold by dealers in the TrueCar Certified 
Dealer network at their locations, and includes both single-location proprietorships as well as large consolidated dealer groups. The 
network comprises of dealers with a range of unit sales volume per dealer, with dealers representing certain brands consistently 
achieving higher than average unit sales volume. We view our ability to increase our franchise dealer count, particularly dealers 
representing high volume brands, as an indicator of our market penetration and the likelihood of converting users of our platform into 
unit sales. Our TrueCar Certified Dealer network includes independent non-franchised dealers that primarily sell used cars and are not 
included in franchise dealer count. 

 Our franchise dealer count increased to 12,142 at December 31, 2017 from 11,151 at December 31, 2016 and 9,094 at 
December 31, 2015. Note that our franchise dealer count excludes Genesis franchises on our program due to Hyundai’s transition of 
Genesis to a stand-alone brand. In order to facilitate period over period comparisons, we have continued to count each Hyundai 
franchise that also has a Genesis franchise as one franchise dealer rather than two. We intend to increase the number of dealers 
representing high volume brands in our dealer network, generally, and in key geographies, by investing to improve the dealer 
experience and increasing dealer satisfaction. 

Independent Dealer Count

 We define independent dealer count as the number of dealers in the network of TrueCar Certified Dealers at the end of a 
given period that exclusively sell used vehicles and are not directly affiliated with a new car manufacturer. This number is calculated 
by counting each location individually, and includes both single-location proprietorships as well as large consolidated dealer groups. 
Our independent dealer count increased to 2,979 at December 31, 2017 from 2,597 at December 31, 2016 and 2,082 at December 31, 
2015. 

Presentation of Financial Statements
 

 Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries in accordance with FASB ASC 
810 — Consolidation. Business acquisitions are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. Our 
purchase accounting resulted in all assets and liabilities of acquired businesses being recorded at their estimated fair values on the 
acquisition dates. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

 
 We report our financial results as one operating segment, with two distinct service offerings: transactions, and forecasts, 
consulting and other. Our operating results are regularly reviewed by our chief operating decision maker on a consolidated basis, 
principally to make decisions about how we allocate our resources and to measure our consolidated operating performance. Our chief 
operating decision maker regularly reviews revenue for each of our transaction and forecasts, consulting and other offerings in order to 
gain more depth and understanding of the factors driving our business.

 
Components of Operating Results

 
Revenues

 
 Our revenues are comprised of transaction revenues, and forecasts, consulting and other revenue.

 
 Transaction Revenue.   Revenue consists of fees paid by dealers participating in our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers. 
Dealers pay us these fees either on a per vehicle basis for sales to our users or in the form of a subscription arrangement. Subscription 
arrangements fall into several types: flat rate subscriptions, subscriptions subject to downward adjustment based on a minimum 
number of vehicle sales (“guaranteed sales”) and subscriptions based on introduction volume, including those subject to downward 
adjustment based on a minimum number of introductions (“guaranteed introductions”). 
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 Under flat rate subscription arrangements, fees are charged at a monthly flat rate regardless of the number of sales made to 
users of our platform by the dealer. For flat rate subscription arrangements, we recognize the fees as revenue over the subscription 
period on a straight line basis which corresponds to the period that we are providing the dealer with access to our platform. 

 Under guaranteed sales subscription arrangements, fees are charged based on the number of guaranteed sales multiplied by a 
fixed amount per vehicle. To the extent that the actual number of vehicles sold by the dealers to users of our platform is less than the 
number of guaranteed sales, we provide a credit to the dealer. To the extent that the actual number of vehicles sold exceeds the number 
of guaranteed sales, we are not entitled to any additional fees. 

 Certain of our subscription arrangements are charged based on volume of introductions provided while other introduction 
based subscription arrangements operate under a guaranteed introduction model. Under guaranteed introductions subscription 
arrangements, fees are charged based on a periodically-updated formula that considers, among other things, the introductions 
anticipated to be provided to the dealer. To the extent that the number of actual introductions is less than the number of guaranteed 
introductions, we provide a credit to the dealer. To the extent that the actual number of introductions provided exceeds the number 
guaranteed, we are not entitled to any additional fees.
 
 For guaranteed sales and guaranteed introductions subscription arrangements, we recognize revenue based on the lesser of (i) 
the actual number of sales generated or introductions delivered through our platform during the subscription period multiplied by the 
contracted price per sale/introduction or (ii) the guaranteed number of sales or introductions multiplied by the contracted price per 
sale/introduction.

 In addition, we enter into arrangements with automobile manufacturers to promote the sale of their vehicles through the 
offering of additional consumer incentives to members of our affinity group marketing partners. These manufacturers pay us a per-
vehicle fee for promotion of the incentive and we recognize the per-vehicle incentive fee when the vehicle sale has occurred between 
the consumer and the dealer.

 
 Forecasts, Consulting and Other Revenue. We derive this type of revenue primarily from the provision of forecasts and 
consulting services to the automotive and financial services industries through our ALG subsidiary. The forecasts and consulting 
services that ALG provides typically relate to the determination of the residual value of an automobile at given future points in time. 
These residual values are used to underwrite automotive loans and leases to determine payments by consumers. In addition, financial 
institutions use this information to measure exposure and risk across loan, lease and fleet portfolios. Our customers generally pay us 
for these services as information is delivered to them.

 
 For a description of our revenue accounting policies, see “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” below.

Costs and Operating Expenses
 

 Cost of Revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization).   Cost of revenue includes expenses related to the fulfillment of 
our services, consisting primarily of data costs and licensing fees paid to third party service providers and expenses related to 
operating our website and mobile applications, including those associated with our data centers, hosting fees, data processing costs 
required to deliver introductions to our network of TrueCar Certified Dealers, employee costs related to certain dealer operations, sales 
matching, employee and consulting costs related to delivering data and consulting services to our customers, and facilities costs. Cost 
of revenue excludes depreciation and amortization of software costs and other hosting and data infrastructure equipment used to 
operate our platforms, which are included in the depreciation and amortization line item on our statement of comprehensive loss.

 
 Sales and Marketing.    Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of: television, digital, and radio advertising; media 
production costs, affinity group partner marketing fees, which also includes loan subvention costs where we pay certain affinity group 
marketing partners a portion of consumers’ borrowing costs for car loan products offered by these affinity group marketing partners, 
and common stock warrants issued to USAA; marketing sponsorship programs; and digital customer acquisition. See Part III, Item 
13 “Certain Relationships, Related Party and Other Transactions — Strategic Partnerships — United Services Automobile 
Association” for a description of our arrangements with USAA. In addition, sales and marketing expenses include employee related 
expenses for sales, customer support, marketing and public relations employees, including salaries, bonuses, benefits, severance, and 
stock-based compensation expenses; third-party contractor fees; and facilities costs. Sales and marketing expenses also include costs 
related to common stock warrants issued to a service provider as part of our commercial arrangements with them. Marketing and 
advertising costs promote our services and are expensed as incurred, except for media production costs which are expensed the first 
time the advertisement is aired.

 
 Technology and Development.   Technology and development expenses consist primarily of employee related expenses 
including salaries, bonuses, benefits, severance and stock-based compensation expenses, third-party contractor fees, facilities costs, 
software costs, as well as our product development, product management, research and analytics, and internal IT functions.
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 General and Administrative.   General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee related expenses including 
salaries, bonuses, benefits, severance, and stock-based compensation expenses for executive, finance, accounting, legal, and human 
resources. General and administrative expenses also include legal, accounting, and other third-party professional service fees, bad 
debt, lease exit costs, and facilities costs.

 
 Depreciation and Amortization.   Depreciation consists primarily of depreciation expense recorded on property and 
equipment. Amortization expense consists primarily of amortization recorded on intangible assets, capitalized software costs and 
leasehold improvements.

 
 Interest Income.   Interest income consists of interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents.

 
 Interest Expense.   Interest expense primarily consists of interest on our built-to-suit lease financing obligations.

 (Benefit from) / Provision for Income Taxes.   We are subject to federal and state income taxes in the United States. We 
provided a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 as it is more 
likely than not that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a result of the valuation allowance, our income tax 
benefit (or expense) is significantly less than the federal statutory rate of 34%. Our benefit for income taxes in 2017 primarily reflects 
a benefit associated with the reduction in corporate tax rates and a benefit due to the decrease in valuation allowance associated with 
the partial recognition of the Company's tax-deductible goodwill amortization as an available source of income to realize deferred tax 
assets. Our provision for income taxes in 2016 and 2015 primarily reflect a tax expense associated with the amortization of tax-
deductible goodwill. 

 
 We have accumulated federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $393.6 million and state net operating loss 
carryforwards of approximately $247.5 million at December 31, 2017.

 
 See Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements included herein for more information about our provision for income 
taxes.

Results of Operations
 

 The following table sets forth our selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods indicated.

Year Ended
December 31,

2017 2016 2015

(in thousands)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:      
Revenues $ 323,149 $ 277,507 $ 259,838
Costs and operating expenses:      

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization presented
separately below) 28,227 25,167 23,657
Sales and marketing 185,397 154,406 151,002
Technology and development 59,070 53,580 48,021
General and administrative 61,646 59,908 83,494
Depreciation and amortization 22,472 23,345 17,646

Total costs and operating expenses 356,812 316,406 323,820
Loss from operations (33,663) (38,899) (63,982)
Interest income 1,260 376 107
Interest expense (2,610) (2,530) (443)
Other income — — 13
Loss before income taxes (35,013) (41,053) (64,305)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (2,164) 655 606
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911)
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 The following table sets forth our selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of revenues for each of 
the periods indicated.

Year Ended
December 31,

2017 2016 2015
Revenues 100 % 100 % 100 %
Costs and operating expenses:      

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization presented separately
below) 9 9 9
Sales and marketing 57 56 58
Technology and development 18 19 18
General and administrative 19 22 32
Depreciation and amortization 7 8 7

Loss from operations (10) (14) (25)
Interest income * * *
Interest expense (1) (1) *
Other income * * *
Loss before income taxes (11) (15) (25)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (1) * *
Net loss (10)% (15)% (25)%  

* Less than 0.5% of revenues 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 
 

Revenues

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Revenues          

Transaction revenue $ 303,840 $ 259,516 $ 241,395 17.1% 7.5 %
Forecasts, consulting and other revenue 19,309 17,991 18,443 7.3% (2.5)%

Total revenues $ 323,149 $ 277,507 $ 259,838 16.4% 6.8 %
 

 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in our revenues of $45.6 
million or 16.4%, for 2017 as compared to 2016 primarily reflected the increase in our transaction revenue. Transaction revenue and 
forecasts, consulting and other revenue comprised 94.0% and 6.0%, respectively, of revenues for 2017 as compared to 93.5% and 
6.5%, respectively, of revenues for 2016. The increase in transaction revenue for 2017 primarily reflected a 18.1% increase in units. 
The 7.3% increase in forecasts, consulting and other revenue for 2017 as compared to 2016 is primarily due to revenue from the 
delivery of a large project in our ALG business in the first quarter of 2017. In 2018, we expect our year-over-year revenue to increase 
as the result of our investments in dealer and OEM relationships, in consumer messaging and in our technology platform, which we 
believe will enable our business to scale.

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in our revenues of $17.7 
million or 6.8%, for 2016 as compared to 2015 reflected the increase in our transaction revenue. Transaction revenue and forecasts, 
consulting and other revenue comprised 93.5% and 6.5%, respectively, of revenues for 2016 as compared to 92.9% and 7.1%, 
respectively, of revenues for 2015. The increase in transaction revenue for 2016 primarily reflected a 7.6% increase in units. 
The 2.5% decrease in forecasts, consulting and other revenue for 2016 as compared to 2015 is primarily due to a decrease in lead 
referral fees.
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Costs and Operating Expenses
 

 Cost of Revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

  (dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization) $ 28,227 $ 25,167 $ 23,657 12.2% 6.4%
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization) as a percentage of revenues 8.7% 9.1% 9.1%    

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in cost of revenue of $3.1 
million or 12.2% for 2017 as compared to 2016 was primarily due to costs for an automotive trade-in pilot program with a large 
vehicle wholesaler that commenced in the second quarter of 2017. Although we expect our cost of revenue to increase in dollar 
amount, we believe that the nature of our cost structure will enable us to realize operating leverage in our business over time. 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in cost of revenue of $1.5 
million or 6.4% for 2016 as compared to 2015 was primarily due to increased employee related costs associated with an increase in 
headcount. 

 Sales and Marketing Expenses

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Sales and marketing expense $ 185,397 $ 154,406 $ 151,002 20.1% 2.3%
Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of
revenues 57.4% 55.6% 58.1%    

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in sales and marketing 
expenses of $31.0 million or 20.1% for 2017 as compared to 2016 reflected a $12.3 million increase in salaries and employee related 
expenses primarily due to increased headcount, a $10.3 million increase in revenue share paid to affinity marketing partners, a $4.5 
million increase in stock-based compensation, a $2.7 million increase in conference and travel related expenses, a $0.7 million 
increase in advertising costs, and a $0.6 million increase in facilities costs. These increases were partially offset by a $0.9 million 
decrease in professional fees for outsourced services. We expect sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase in total due to 
increased headcount to better serve dealers and OEMs, as well as increased affinity group marketing partner fees, media production 
costs, television and radio advertising, digital customer acquisition costs, and marketing programs as we grow our business.

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in sales and marketing 
expenses of $3.4 million or 2.3% for 2016 as compared to 2015 reflected a $11.6 million increase in salaries and employee related 
expenses primarily due to our increased headcount and a $1.3 million increase in stock-based compensation. The increase was 
partially offset by a $6.7 million decrease in advertising as we reduced our expenditures to maintain the efficiency of our customer 
acquisition spending, a $1.3 million decrease in outsourced services and consulting fees, and a $1.1 million decrease in revenue share 
paid to affinity marketing partners. 
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 Technology and Development Expenses

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Technology and development expenses $ 59,070 $ 53,580 $ 48,021 10.2% 11.6 %
Technology and development expenses as a
percentage of revenues 18.3% 19.3% 18.5%    
Capitalized software costs $ 15,573 $ 12,025 $ 15,645 29.5% (23.1)%

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in technology and development 
expenses of $5.5 million or 10.2% for 2017 as compared to 2016 is primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation of $3.7 
million, an increase in hosting costs of $1.1 million, an increase in facilities costs of $0.9 million, and an increase in professional fees 
of $0.4 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in severance costs of $1.6 million primarily related to a 
reorganization in our product and technology teams in the second quarter of 2016.

 Capitalized software costs increased $3.5 million for 2017 as compared to 2016 primarily due to an increase in the amount of 
salaries capitalized for the development of internal use software of $1.9 million and an increase in the amount of capitalized third-
party developer and software costs of $1.6 million.

  We expect our technology and development expenses to increase in dollar amount as we continue to increase our developer 
headcount to upgrade and enhance our technology infrastructure, invest in our products, expand the functionality of our platform and 
provide new product offerings. We also expect technology and development expenses to continue to be affected by variations in the 
amount of capitalized internally developed software.

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in technology and development 
expenses of $5.6 million or 11.6% for 2016 as compared to 2015 includes an increase of $5.7 million in increased salaries and related 
expenses due to increased headcount, higher bonus expense in 2016 than in 2015, and $1.3 million of severance costs related to a 
reorganization in our product and technology teams made in the second quarter of 2016 to better align our resources with business 
objectives as we transition from multiple software platforms to a unified architecture. The increase in technology and development 
expense also includes a $1.7 million increase in software license and hosting expenses. These increases were partially offset by a $0.9 
million decrease in write-offs of capitalized software that we determined not to place in service and a $0.5 million increase in the 
amount of salaries capitalized for the development of internal use software costs, which reduced technology development expenses.

 Capitalized software costs decreased $3.6 million for 2016 as compared to 2015 primarily due to the decrease in the amount 
of capitalized third-party developer and software costs of $4.1 million, which was partially offset by an increase in the amount of 
salaries capitalized for the development of internal use software of $0.5 million. 

 General and Administrative Expenses

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
General and administrative expense $ 61,646 $ 59,908 $ 83,494 2.9% (28.2)%
General and administrative expense as a
percentage of revenues 19.1% 21.6% 32.1%    

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. General and administrative expenses 
increased $1.7 million or 2.9% for 2017 as compared to 2016. The increase is primarily due to a $6.9 million increase in legal related 
expenses. The increase was partially offset by a $4.0 million decrease in facilities costs primarily due to decreased lease exit charges 
of $3.2 million, a $1.2 million decrease in salaries and employee related expenses primarily due to decreased bonus expense, a $0.8 
million decrease in stock-based compensation primarily driven by a reduction in compensation expense related to employees who 
terminated in 2016, and a $0.4 million decrease in consulting costs.

 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease in general and administrative 
expenses of $23.6 million or 28.2% for 2016 as compared to 2015 is primarily due to a $19.4 million reduction in stock based-
compensation as a result of certain terminated executives who received accelerations and modifications of their equity awards in 2015. 
Additionally, the decrease in general and administration expense includes a $7.5 million decrease in professional services fees 
primarily due to decreased legal fees related to ongoing litigation. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $2.4 million 
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in facilities costs, which includes a $0.8 million increase in lease exit costs associated with certain leased facilities that we exited in 
the fourth quarter of 2015. For further discussion of executive severance, refer to Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements 
contained herein. 

 Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Depreciation and amortization expenses $ 22,472 $ 23,345 $ 17,646 (3.7)% 32.3%

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. Depreciation and amortization expenses 
decreased $0.9 million or 3.7% for 2017 as compared to 2016 due to lower capitalized software costs in 2016 than in 2015 that 
impacted depreciation and amortization of these assets in subsequent years. We expect our depreciation and amortization expenses to 
continue to be affected by the amount of capitalized internally developed software costs, property and equipment and the timing of 
placing projects in service.

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. Depreciation and amortization expenses 
increased $5.7 million or 32.3% for 2016 as compared to 2015. The increase was primarily related to growth in capitalized software 
costs and includes $2.1 million in accelerated depreciation related to software assets that we have determined to have shortened useful 
lives in light of recently commenced efforts to upgrade our technology infrastructure. The shortened useful lives of these assets result 
in comparatively greater depreciation in 2016 than the corresponding periods in 2015. 

 Interest Expense

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Interest expense $ 2,610 $ 2,530 $ 443 3.2% 471.1%

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016. Interest expense increased $0.1 million or 
3.2% for 2017 as compared to 2016. Interest expense relates to interest incurred on our lease financing obligation for our Santa 
Monica leased office space and San Francisco leased office space. We expect to incur a consistent level of interest expense on our 
lease financing obligation in 2018.

 Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in interest expense of $2.1 
million or 471.1% for 2016 as compared to 2015 is primarily due to our Santa Monica leased office space, for which we began 
expensing interest in December 2015.

 Benefit from / Provision for Income Taxes 

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015

(dollars in thousands)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes $ (2,164) $ 655 $ 606 (430.4)% 8.1%

 
 Years ended December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. Our benefit from income taxes for 2017 of 
$2.2 million included a $2.6 million impact from the change in tax law. Of the $2.6 million Tax Act impact, $1.2 million resulted from 
the remeasurement of our U.S. federal deferred tax assets and liabilities at the tax rate expected to apply when the temporary 
differences are realized/settled and $1.4 million resulted from the decrease in valuation allowance associated with the partial 
recognition of our tax-deductible goodwill amortization as an available source of income to realize deferred tax assets. Our provision 
for income taxes in 2016 and 2015 primarily reflected tax expense due to amortization of tax-deductible goodwill. 
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Quarterly Key Metrics and Results of Operations
 

 The following tables set forth selected key metrics and unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of comprehensive loss 
data for each of the quarters indicated. The consolidated financial statements for each of these quarters have been prepared on the 
same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included herein and, in the opinion of management, include all 
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the consolidated results of operations 
for these periods. You should read this information together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included 
herein. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of the results for any future period.

 

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,

2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016
Average Monthly Unique Visitors 7,260,931 7,702,254 7,215,456 7,344,712 7,046,065 7,600,900 6,683,027 6,689,458
Units(1) 239,521 253,527 242,130 217,656 218,807 220,633 192,531 174,982
Monetization $ 328 $ 306 $ 319 $ 324 $ 320 $ 319 $ 321 $ 328
Franchise Dealer Count (Ending) 12,142 12,286 12,204 11,734 11,151 10,759 10,135 9,281
Independent Dealer Count (Ending) 2,979 2,938 2,860 2,716 2,597 2,537 2,534 2,321

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,

2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016

(in thousands)
Revenues:                

Transaction revenues $ 78,679 $ 77,526 $ 77,203 $ 70,432 $ 69,960 $ 70,306 $ 61,841 $ 57,409
Forecasts, consulting, and other revenues 4,454 4,914 4,616 5,325 4,121 4,833 4,586 4,451

Total revenues 83,133 82,440 81,819 75,757 74,081 75,139 66,427 61,860

Costs and operating expenses:                
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization presented separately below) 7,617 7,088 7,130 6,392 6,257 6,320 6,365 6,225
Sales and marketing 47,899 48,383 46,933 42,182 41,609 42,557 38,129 32,111
Technology and development 15,953 15,357 14,131 13,629 13,265 13,153 14,022 13,140
General and administrative 17,612 14,993 15,413 13,628 14,649 13,765 15,998 15,496
Depreciation and amortization 4,955 5,765 5,668 6,084 5,538 6,035 5,868 5,904

Total costs and expenses 94,036 91,586 89,275 81,915 81,318 81,830 80,382 72,876
Loss from operations (10,903) (9,146) (7,456) (6,158) (7,237) (6,691) (13,955) (11,016)

Interest income 476 402 249 133 90 91 102 93
Interest expense (655) (654) (652) (649) (645) (645) (632) (608)

Loss before income taxes (11,082) (9,398) (7,859) (6,674) (7,792) (7,245) (14,485) (11,531)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (2,607) 121 201 121 158 191 170 136
Net loss $ (8,475) $ (9,519) $ (8,060) $ (6,795) $ (7,950) $ (7,436) $ (14,655) $ (11,667)

Net loss per share:                
Basic and diluted $ (0.08) $ (0.10) $ (0.09) $ (0.08) $ (0.09) $ (0.09) $ (0.17) $ (0.14)

Other Financial Information (2):                
Adjusted EBITDA $ 7,459 $ 8,018 $ 7,357 $ 6,050 $ 5,766 $ 5,791 $ 2,430 $ 1,052
Non-GAAP net income (loss) $ 4,932 $ 1,880 $ 1,085 $ (671) $ (485) $ (989) $ (4,138) $ (5,503)  

(1) We issued full credits of the amount originally invoiced with respect to 5,511, 5,048, 5,571, 5,705, 5,736, 4,547, 4,546, and 4,192, 
units during the three months ended December 31, 2017, September 30, 2017, June 30, 2017, March 31, 2017, December 31, 
2016, September 30, 2016, June 30, 2016, and March 31, 2016, respectively. The number of units has not been adjusted 
downwards related to units credited.

(2) Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) are not measures of our financial performance under GAAP and should not 
be considered as alternatives to net income, operating income or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. For 
definitions of Adjusted EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) and a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA and Non-
GAAP net income (loss), see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
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 The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods presented:

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,

2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016

(in thousands)
Reconciliation of Net Loss to
Adjusted EBITDA                                        
Net loss $ (8,475) $ (9,519) $ (8,060) $ (6,795) $ (7,950) $ (7,436) $ (14,655) $ (11,667)

Non-GAAP Adjustments:        
Interest income (476) (402) (249) (133) (90) (91) (102) (93)
Interest expense 655 654 652 649 645 645 632 608
Depreciation and
amortization 4,955 5,765 5,668 6,084 5,538 6,035 5,868 5,904

Stock-based compensation 9,580 9,908 6,846 5,907 6,706 6,241 5,900 5,892
Warrant expense — — — — 33 13 — —
Certain litigation costs (1) 3,827 1,491 2,299 350 345 193 150 272
Severance charges (2) — — — — — 1,783 —
Lease exit charges (3) — — — (133) 381 — 2,684 —
(Benefit from) / provision
for income taxes (2,607) 121 201 121 158 191 170 136

Adjusted EBITDA (4) $ 7,459 $ 8,018 $ 7,357 $ 6,050 $ 5,766 $ 5,791 $ 2,430 $ 1,052  

(1) The excluded amounts relate to legal costs incurred in connection with complaints filed by non-TrueCar dealers and the California 
New Car Dealers Association against TrueCar, and securities and consumer class action lawsuits. We believe the exclusion of 
these costs is appropriate to facilitate comparisons of our core operating performance on a period-to-period basis. Based on the 
nature of the specific claims underlying the excluded litigation matters, once these matters are resolved, we do not believe our 
operations are likely to entail defending against the types of claims raised by these matters. We expect the cost of defending these 
claims to continue to be significant pending resolution.

(2) We incurred $1.3 million in severance costs in the second quarter of 2016 related to a reorganization of our product and 
technology teams to better align our resources with business objectives as we transition from multiple software platforms to a 
unified architecture. In addition, we incurred severance costs of $0.5 million for executive-level employees who terminated 
during the second quarter of 2016. We believe excluding the impact of these terminations is consistent with our use of Adjusted 
EBITDA and Non-GAAP net income (loss) as we do not believe they are a useful indicator of ongoing operating results.

(3) Represents the updates to the initial estimate of lease termination costs associated with the consolidation of the Company’s office 
locations in Santa Monica, California in December 2015. We believe that their exclusion is appropriate to facilitate period-to-
period operating performance comparisons.

(4) Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to 
net income, operating income or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA, see 
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to Non-GAAP net income (loss) for each of the periods presented:

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,

2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016

(in thousands)
Reconciliation of Net Loss to
Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss)                                        
Net loss $ (8,475) $ (9,519) $ (8,060) $ (6,795) $ (7,950) $ (7,436) $ (14,655) $ (11,667)

Non-GAAP Adjustments:                

Stock-based compensation 9,580 9,908 6,846 5,907 6,706 6,241 5,900 5,892
Warrant expense — — — — 33 13 — —
Certain litigation costs (1) 3,827 1,491 2,299 350 345 193 150 272
Severance charges (2) — — — — — — 1,783 —
Lease exit charges (3) — — — (133) 381 — 2,684 —

Non-GAAP net income (loss)
(4) (5) $ 4,932 $ 1,880 $ 1,085 $ (671) $ (485) $ (989) $ (4,138) $ (5,503)

(1) The excluded amounts relate to legal costs incurred in connection with complaints filed by non-TrueCar dealers and the California 
New Car Dealers Association against TrueCar, and securities and consumer class action lawsuits. We believe the exclusion of 
these costs is appropriate to facilitate comparisons of our core operating performance on a period-to-period basis. Based on the 
nature of the specific claims underlying the excluded litigation matters, once these matters are resolved, we do not believe our 
operations are likely to entail defending against the types of claims raised by these matters. We expect the cost of defending these 
claims to continue to be significant pending resolution.

(2) We incurred $1.3 million in severance costs in the second quarter of 2016 related to a reorganization of our product and 
technology teams to better align our resources with business objectives as we transition from multiple software platforms to a 
unified architecture. In addition, we incurred severance costs of $0.5 million related to an executive who terminated during the 
second quarter of 2016. We believe excluding the impact of these terminations is consistent with our use of Adjusted EBITDA and 
Non-GAAP net income (loss) as we do not believe they are a useful indicator of ongoing operating results.

(3) Represents the updates to the initial estimate of lease termination costs associated with the consolidation of the Company’s office 
locations in Santa Monica, California in December 2015. We believe that their exclusion is appropriate to facilitate period-to-
period operating performance comparisons.

(4) There is no income tax impact related to the adjustments made to calculate Non-GAAP net income (loss) because of our available 
net operating loss carryforwards and the full valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 
2017 and 2016.

(5) Non-GAAP net income (loss) is not a measure of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an 
alternative to net loss or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. For a definition of Non-GAAP net income (loss) 
see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

 At December 31, 2017, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents totaling $197.8 million. Since 
inception, our operations have been financed primarily by net proceeds from the sales of shares of our capital stock and proceeds from 
the issuance of indebtedness.

 
 We have incurred cumulative losses of $351.1 million from our operations through December 31, 2017, and expect to incur 
additional losses in the future. We believe that our existing sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the 
next 12 months. However, our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the 
expansion of our sales and marketing activities, and the timing and extent of our spending to support our technology and development 
efforts. To the extent that existing cash and cash equivalents, and cash from operations are insufficient to fund our future activities, we 
may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms 
favorable to us or at all.
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Credit Facility
 

 On February 18, 2015, we amended our credit facility to provide advances of up to $35.0 million. This amended credit 
facility provides a $10.0 million subfacility for the issuance of letters of credit and contains an increase option permitting us, subject to 
the lenders consent, to increase the revolving credit facility by up to $15.0 million, to an aggregate maximum of $50 million. The 
credit facility has a three-year term and matures on February 18, 2018. No amounts were outstanding at December 31, 2017. The 
amount available under the amended credit facility at December 31, 2017 was $31.0 million, reduced for the letters of credit issued 
and outstanding under the subfacility of $4.0 million. In February 2018, we entered into an amendment to extend the maturity date of 
our credit facility for another three years to expire on February 18, 2021. See Note 5 of our consolidated financial statements herein 
for more information about our amended credit facility.

 
Cash Flows

 
 The following table summarizes our cash flows:

 

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

(in thousands)
Consolidated Cash Flow Data:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 22,118 $ 2,768 $ (11,369)
Net cash used in investing activities (19,809) (16,639) (29,836)
Net cash provided by financing activities 87,732 9,221 6,037

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 90,041 $ (4,650) $ (35,168)
 

Operating Activities
 

 Our net loss and cash flows used in operating activities are significantly influenced by our investments in headcount and 
infrastructure to support our growth, and marketing and advertising expenses. Our net loss has been significantly greater than cash 
used in or provided by operating activities due to the inclusion of non-cash expenses and charges.

 
 Cash provided by operating activities in 2017 was $22.1 million. This was primarily due to our net loss of $32.8 million, 
which, adjusted for non-cash items, including stock-based compensation expense of $32.2 million, depreciation and amortization 
expense of $22.4 million, deferred income tax benefit of $2.2 million and bad debt expense of $1.4 million, resulted in $21.6 million 
in cash from operations. Cash from operating activities was also affected by a $0.6 million increase from changes in operating assets 
and liabilities, which primarily reflected an increase of $4.8 million in accounts payable primarily due to increased marketing fees, an 
increase of $1.1 million in other liabilities, a decrease of $0.8 million in other current assets, and a decrease of $0.6 million in prepaid 
expenses. These were partially offset by an increase of $3.7 million in accounts receivable primarily related to increased revenues, and 
a $2.7 million decrease in accrued employee expenses primarily due to a decrease in accrued bonus.  

 Cash provided by operating activities in 2016 was $2.8 million. This was primarily due to our net loss of $41.7 million, 
which, adjusted for non-cash items, including stock-based compensation expense of $24.7 million, depreciation and amortization 
expense of $23.2 million, bad debt expense of $1.3 million, and other non-cash adjustments of $1.5 million, resulted in $9.0 million in 
cash from operations. This was offset by a decrease of $6.2 million in changes to operating assets and liabilities, which primarily 
reflected a decrease of $4.6 million in accounts payable primarily due to decreased affinity group marketing fees, an increase of $4.4 
million in accounts receivable primarily related to increased revenues, and an increase of $1.5 million in other current assets and other 
assets due to increased legal insurance recoveries and increased lease deposits. These were partially offset by a $1.5 million increase in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities, a $1.5 million increase in other liabilities, and a $1.2 million increase in accrued 
employee expenses primarily due to increased accrued bonus.

 Cash used in operating activities in 2015 was $11.4 million. This was primarily due to our net loss of $64.9 million, which, 
adjusted for non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization expense of $17.3 million, stock-based compensation expense 
of $42.6 million, and loss on disposal of fixed assets of $1.6 million, resulted in $2.7 million in cash used in operations. This use of 
cash was also due to $8.6 million in changes to operating assets and liabilities, which primarily reflected a decrease of $6.5 million in 
accrued employee expenses primarily related to lower accrued bonuses, an increase of $5.9 million in accounts receivable primarily 
related to increased revenues, a decrease of $1.8 million in accrued expenses and other current liabilities primarily due to decreased 
marketing fees. These were partially offset by a $5.3 million increase in accounts payable primarily due to increased affinity group 
marketing fees and growth in our business and a decrease of $1.1 million in other current assets primarily due to a decrease in a 
receivable from a legal settlement in our favor.
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Investing Activities
 

 Our investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures for capitalized software development costs and property and 
equipment.

 Cash used in investing activities of $19.8 million for 2017 resulted primarily from $13.5 million of investments in software, 
$3.9 million of investments in furniture, leasehold, and facility improvements, and $2.4 million of investment in computer hardware.
 
 Cash used in investing activities of $16.6 million for 2016 resulted primarily from $11.5 million of investments in software, 
$3.8 million of investments in furniture, leasehold, and facility improvements, and $1.3 million of investment in computer hardware.
 
 Cash used in investing activities of $29.8 million for 2015 resulted primarily from $13.8 million of investments in software, 
$12.7 million of investments in furniture, leasehold, and facility improvements primarily associated with our San Francisco and Santa 
Monica office spaces, and $3.3 million of investment in computer hardware.
    
Financing Activities

 
 Cash provided by financing activities of $87.7 million for 2017 primarily reflects $70.3 million of proceeds from the exercise 
of stock options, net of taxes paid for the net share settlement of certain equity awards, and $17.4 million of proceeds from our public 
offering of common stock that closed in May 2017, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs.

 Cash provided by financing activities of $9.2 million for 2016 primarily reflects $7.8 million of proceeds from the exercise of 
stock options, net of taxes paid for the net share settlement of certain equity awards, and a $1.5 million tenant improvement 
reimbursement related to our Santa Monica capitalized facility lease, partially offset by $0.1 million paid for the repurchase of 
common stock option awards.

 Cash provided by financing activities of $6.0 million for 2015 primarily reflects $5.4 million of proceeds from the exercise of 
stock options, net of taxes paid for the net share settlement of certain equity awards, and a $0.6 million tenant improvement 
reimbursement related to a build-to-suit capitalized lease.

 
Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requirements

 
Contractual Obligations

 
 Set forth below is information concerning our known contractual obligations at December 31, 2017 that are fixed and 
determinable.

 

  Total
 Less Than

1 Year 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years
More Than

5 Years
  (in thousands)

Lease obligations $ 77,096 $ 9,503 $ 19,867 $ 15,993 $ 31,733
Purchase obligations 5,654 3,226 2,428 — —

Total $ 82,750 $ 12,729 $ 22,295 $ 15,993 $ 31,733
 

 Our lease obligations consist of various leases for office space and have not been reduced by minimum non-cancelable 
sublease rentals aggregating $5.3 million. Purchase obligations include long-term agreements to purchase data information, software 
related licenses and support services, and other obligations that are enforceable and legally binding as of December 31, 2017. Purchase 
obligations exclude agreements that are cancelable without penalty. Contingent obligations arising from unrecognized tax benefits are 
not included in the contractual obligations because it is expected that the unrecognized benefits would only result in an insignificant 
amount of cash payments.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
 We do not engage in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as 
entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, as part of our ongoing business. Accordingly, our operating 
results, financial condition, and cash flows are not subject to off-balance sheet risks.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

 Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or 
GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an 
ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions on an ongoing basis and that we believe 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

 
 We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, sales allowances and allowances for 
doubtful accounts, the fair value of assets and liabilities assumed in business combinations, the recoverability of goodwill and long-
lived assets, valuation allowances with respect to deferred tax assets, the expensing and capitalization of software and website 
development costs, and the valuation and assumptions underlying stock-based compensation and other equity instruments have the 
greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies 
and estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements 
included herein.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
 We recognize revenue when all of the following criteria have been met: 

• Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. 

• Delivery has occurred or services have been rendered. 

• The fees are fixed or determinable. 

• Collectability is reasonably assured. We assess collectability based primarily on the creditworthiness of the customer as 
determined by credit checks and analysis, as well as the customer’s payment history.

 Deferred revenue is recognized on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets when payments are received in advance of 
us meeting all of the revenue recognition criteria described above.

 
Transaction Revenue

 
 We recognize revenue for fee arrangements based on a per vehicle basis when the vehicle sale has occurred between the 
automotive buying website program user and dealer. Under the contractual terms and conditions with our network of TrueCar 
Certified Dealers, the dealer is required to pay us upon the sale of a vehicle to a user that has been provided to the dealer by us. 
Revenue recognition is not contingent on verification or acceptance of the transaction by the dealer.

 
 Upon a user deciding to proceed with the user’s vehicle purchase through us, the user provides his or her name, address, e-
mail, and phone number during the process of obtaining a Guaranteed Savings Certificate, which gives us the identity and source of a 
TrueCar lead provided to a specific dealer prior to an actual sale occurring. After a sale occurs, we receive real-time information 
regarding the sale, including the identity of the purchaser, via the Dealer Management System, “DMS,” used by the dealer that made 
the sale. To the extent that a sale is not matched via comparison of user information we have to sale information provided by the DMS, 
we also establish matches via one or more of the over 20 different data feeds provided to the Company by third party data aggregators, 
loan and insurance files provided by our affinity group marketing partners and other publicly available sources. This process often 
results in overlapping sales matches between the DMS and multiple data feeds, resulting in a high degree of certainty with respect to 
our ability to identify user leads that we provide to the dealers. This data is also used to invoice dealers shortly after the completion of 
the sales transactions. As a result of the various data sources available to us, it is unusual for us to have difficulty in reconciling 
introductions provided to our network of dealers to actual vehicle sales under our platform.

 
 Revenue is recognized net of estimated sales allowances. We establish sales allowances at the time of revenue recognition 
based on our history of adjustments and credits provided to our TrueCar Certified Dealers. Sales allowances relate primarily to credits 
issued where a dealer claims that an introduction was previously identified by the dealer from a source other than us. While the dealer 
is contractually obligated to pay the invoice, we may issue a credit against the invoice to maintain overall dealer relations. In assessing 
the adequacy of the sales allowance, we evaluate our history of adjustments and credits made through the date of the issuance of the 
financial statements. While estimated sales adjustments and credits and ultimate losses may vary from actual results, and could be 
material to the financial statements, actual sales allowances have been materially consistent with our estimates.

 
 We also recognize revenue from dealers under subscription arrangements. Subscription fee arrangements are short-term in 
nature with terms ranging from one to six months and are cancelable by the dealer or us at any time. Subscription arrangements fall 
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into three types: flat rate subscriptions, subscriptions subject to downward adjustment based on a minimum number of vehicle sales 
(“guaranteed sales”) and subscriptions based on introduction volume, including those subject to downward adjustment based on a 
minimum number of introductions (“guaranteed introductions”). Under flat rate subscription arrangements, fees are charged at a 
monthly flat rate regardless of the number of sales made to users of our platform by the dealer. For flat rate subscription arrangements, 
we recognize the fees as revenue over the subscription period on a straight line basis which corresponds to the period that we are 
providing the dealer with access to our platform. Under guaranteed sales subscription arrangements fees are charged based on the 
number of guaranteed sales multiplied by a fixed amount per vehicle. To the extent that the actual number of vehicles sold by the 
dealers to users of our platform is less than the number of guaranteed sales, we provide a credit to the dealer. To the extent that the 
actual number of vehicles sold exceeds the number of guaranteed sales, we are not entitled to any additional fees. Certain of our 
subscription arrangements are charged based on volume of introductions provided while other introduction based subscription 
arrangements operate under a guaranteed introduction model. Under guaranteed introductions subscription arrangements, fees are 
charged based on a periodically-updated formula that considers, among other things, the introductions anticipated to be provided to the 
dealer. To the extent that the number of actual introductions is less than the number of guaranteed introductions, we provide a credit to 
the dealer. To the extent that the actual number of introductions provided exceeds the number guaranteed, we are not entitled to any 
additional fees. For guaranteed sales and guaranteed introductions subscription arrangements, we recognize revenue based on the 
lesser of (i) the actual number of sales generated or introductions delivered through our platform during the subscription period 
multiplied by the contracted price per sale/introduction or (ii) the guaranteed number of sales or introductions multiplied by the 
contracted price per sale/introduction.

 
 In addition, some automobile manufacturers promote the sale of their vehicles through the offering of additional consumer 
incentives to members of our affinity group marketing partners. These manufacturers pay a per-vehicle fee to us for promotion of the 
incentive and we recognize as revenue the per-vehicle incentive fee at the time the sale of the vehicle has occurred between the 
Automotive Website Program user and the dealer.

 
Forecasts, Consulting and Other Revenue

 
 We also derive revenue from providing forecasts, consulting and other services to the automotive and financial services 
industries. Additional revenue sources include lead referral fees, advertising fees earned from display advertisements on the 
TrueCar.com website, and data licensing fees earned for licensing certain proprietary data to third parties. We generally recognize 
revenue upon delivery of such services.

 
 Sales of forecasts, consulting and other services may include multiple deliverables including sale of lease residual data, 
guidebooks and consulting services. We therefore recognize revenues for these arrangements in accordance with FASB ASC 605-25, 
Revenue Recognition — Multiple-Element Arrangements (“ASC 605-25”). ASC 605-25 was updated by Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) — Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements — a Consensus of the Emerging 
Issues Task Force (“ASU 2009-13”).

 
 For multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, we first assess whether each deliverable has value to the customer on a 
standalone basis and performance is considered probable and substantially in our control. Forecasts and consulting services are sold 
both on a standalone basis and as part of multiple deliverable arrangements. Accordingly, the services have standalone value to the 
customer. Based on that standalone value of the deliverables, we allocate our revenues among the separate deliverables in the 
arrangement using the relative selling price method hierarchy established in ASU 2009-13. This hierarchy requires the selling price of 
each deliverable in a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement to be based on, in descending order: (i) vendor-specific objective 
evidence, or VSOE, (ii) third-party evidence of selling price, or TPE, or (iii) management’s best estimated selling price, or BESP.
 
 We have not established VSOE or TPE for our forecasts, consulting and other services because the deliverables are not sold 
separately within a sufficiently narrow price range or third party pricing for comparable services is not available; therefore, we apply 
judgment to determine BESP. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the service were 
sold on a stand-alone basis. The determination of BESP requires us to make significant estimates and judgments and we consider 
numerous factors in this determination, including the nature of the deliverables, market conditions and our competitive landscape, 
internal costs, and our pricing and discounting practices associated with actual transactions. We update our estimates of BESP on a 
periodic basis as events and as circumstances may require.

 
 Revenue from the sale of lease residual value data and guidebooks is recognized in the period that the data or report is 
delivered. Revenue in connection with consulting services is recognized in the period the report is completed and delivered to the 
customer.
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Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
 

 We determine our allowance for doubtful accounts based on our historical write-off experience and when specific 
circumstances make it likely that recovery will not occur. We review the allowance for doubtful accounts periodically and assesses the 
aging of account balances, with an emphasis on those that are past due over ninety days. Account balances are charged off against the 
allowance when we determine that it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.

 
Business Combinations

 
 The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are included in our consolidated financial statements from the 
date of the acquisition. Purchase accounting results in assets and liabilities of an acquired business being recorded at their estimated 
fair values on the acquisition date. Any excess consideration over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized 
as goodwill.

 
 We perform valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for an acquisition and allocate the purchase price to the 
respective net tangible and intangible assets. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires 
management to use significant judgment and estimates including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future 
revenues and cash flows and discount rates. We engage the assistance of valuation specialists in arriving at fair value measurements in 
connection with fair values of assets and liabilities assumed in a business combination.

 
 Transaction costs associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred, and are included in general and 
administrative expenses in our consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

 
Goodwill

 
 Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price paid over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
acquired in our business combinations. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Events or changes in circumstances which could 
trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, 
unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy 
for our overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, or significant underperformance relative to expected 
historical or projected future results of operations.

 
 We have the option to assess goodwill for possible impairment by performing a qualitative analysis to determine it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount or perform the first step in an impairment test. 

 The first step (“Step 1”) involves comparing the estimated fair value of a reporting unit with its respective book value, 
including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no additional steps 
are necessary. If, however, the fair value of the reporting unit is less than book value, then the second step is to compare the carrying 
amount of the goodwill to its implied fair value. The estimate of implied fair value of goodwill may require valuations of certain 
internally generated and unrecognized intangible assets. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that 
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess.

 
 We test for goodwill impairment annually at December 31. During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, there 
were no impairment charges recorded on our goodwill. We performed a qualitative goodwill assessment at December 31, 2017 and 
concluded there was no impairment based on a number of factors considered, including the improvement in key operating metrics over 
the prior year, the value of our common stock, overall strength of the automotive industry and general economy, and continued 
execution against our overall strategic objectives. The fair value of the reporting units significantly exceeded their carrying value and 
accordingly, we concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill.

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

 
 We assess the impairment of long-lived assets, consisting primarily of property and equipment and intangible assets resulting 
from business combinations, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be 
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured first by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the 
future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, an impairment 
loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. When measuring the recoverability of these assets, 
we make assumptions regarding our estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If our estimates or related 
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to impair these assets. We have not recognized any impairment of long-lived 
assets to date.
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Software and Website Development Costs

 
 Costs incurred in the preliminary project and post-implementation stages of development and maintenance of our platform 
are expensed as incurred. Certain costs incurred in the application development stage of a new product or projects to provide 
significant additional functionality to existing products are capitalized if certain criteria are met. Maintenance and enhancement costs 
are typically expensed as incurred. Such costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related 
assets, which are estimated to be three years. Amortization expense is included in depreciation and amortization in the statements of 
comprehensive loss.

 
Stock-Based Compensation

 
 We recognize stock-based compensation expense for stock-based compensation awards granted to our employees, consultants 
and other service providers that can be settled in shares of our common stock. We estimate the grant date fair value of option grants, 
and the resulting stock-based compensation using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For restricted stock units, we use the 
market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant to determine the fair value of the award. Stock-based compensation 
for employee awards is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite period, except for performance-based awards, which are 
recognized using the graded-vesting model. 

 
 Determining the fair value of awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective 
assumptions, including the expected term and the price volatility of the underlying stock, which are key inputs in the determination of 
the fair value of stock-based awards. These assumptions include:

 
• Risk-free interest rate.   The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with 

maturities approximately equal to the expected term of the options;

• Expected term.  We use the simplified method under the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, to 
calculate expected term for plain vanilla share options.  For performance-based option awards and out-of-the money option 
grants, we determine the expected term based upon historical exercise and post-vesting cancellations, adjusted for expected 
future exercise behavior;

• Expected volatility.   As we do not have a significant trading history for our common stock, expected volatility is derived 
from the historical stock volatilities of several comparable publicly listed peers over a period approximately equal to the 
expected term of the options. When making the selections of our comparable industry peers to be used in the volatility 
calculation, we considered the size, operational and economic similarities to our principal business operations; and

• Dividend yield.   The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends and have no current 
plans to pay any dividends on our common stock.

 In 2016, the FASB issued guidance to simplify several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment award transactions, 
including accounting for forfeitures. Companies have the choice to elect as an accounting policy whether to continue to estimate 
forfeitures or recognize forfeitures when they occur. As part of our early adoption of this guidance in 2016, we elected to account for 
forfeitures as they occur. Prior to 2016, in addition to the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, we estimated a 
forfeiture rate to calculate the stock-based compensation for our awards. We evaluated the appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based 
on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover, and other factors.  

 
 We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected volatility and expected terms utilized for our stock-based 
compensation calculations on a prospective basis. As we continue to accumulate additional data related to our common stock, we may 
have refinements to the estimates of our expected volatility and expected term, which could materially impact our future stock-based 
compensation expense.

 
 At December 31, 2017 total remaining stock-based compensation expense for unvested awards was $101.8 million, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

 
 Prior to the date our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Global Select Market, the fair value of our common 
stock had been approved by the board of directors at each grant date based on a variety of factors, including periodic valuations of our 
common stock, our financial position, historical financial performance, projected financial performance, valuations of publicly traded 
peer companies arm’s-length sales of our common stock, and the illiquid nature of common stock. Since our initial public offering, we 
determine the fair value of our common stock based on the closing price as quoted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market of our 
common stock on the grant date.
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Income Taxes
 

 We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such 
assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in 
the year that includes the enactment date. We determine deferred tax assets including net operating losses and liabilities, based on 
temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is established to reduce net 
deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be realized. We consider all available evidence, both positive and 
negative, in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. We have a full valuation allowance, and have concluded, based on the 
weight of all available evidence, that it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets will not be realized, primarily due to our 
historical net operating losses.

 We utilize a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Step one, recognition, requires us to determine if the 
weight of available evidence indicates that a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, including resolution of 
related appeals or litigation processes, if any. If a tax position is not considered “more likely than not” to be sustained, no benefits of 
the position are recognized. If we determine that a position is “more likely than not” to be sustained, then we proceed to step two, 
measurement, which is based on the largest amount of benefit which is more likely than not to be realized on effective settlement. This 
process involves estimating our actual current tax exposure, including assessing the risks associated with tax audits, together with 
assessing temporary differences resulting from the different treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. If actual 
results differ from our estimates, our net operating loss and credit carryforwards could be materially impacted.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
 See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included herein.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

 Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices 
and rates. We are exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates.

 
Interest Rate Risk

 
 We had cash and cash equivalents of $197.8 million at December 31, 2017, which consists entirely of bank deposits and 
short-term money market funds. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. To date, fluctuations in interest 
income have not been significant.

 
 We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to 
manage our interest rate risk exposure.

 
 To the extent we borrow funds under our credit facility, we would be subject to fluctuations in interest rates. See Part II, Item 
7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital Resources.” As 
of December 31, 2017, we had no borrowings under the credit facility. We believe that we do not have a material exposure to changes 
in the fair value as a result of changes in interest rates.

 
Inflation Risk

 
 We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations. However, if our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such 
higher costs through price increases.  Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, operating results and financial 
condition.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 
 
 Historically, as our operations and sales have been primarily in the United States, we have not faced any significant foreign 
currency risk. If we plan for international expansion, our risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates will become greater, and 
we will continue to reassess our approach to managing this risk.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 

 The information required by this item appears in a separate section of this annual report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1 
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

 None.
 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

 The phrase “disclosure controls and procedures” refers to controls and procedures designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, 
such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
rules and forms of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to 
ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer, or CEO, 
and chief financial officer, or CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 
 Our management, with the participation of our CEO and CFO has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2017, the end of the period 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of December 31, 
2017, our disclosure controls and procedures were designed at a reasonable assurance level and were effective to provide reasonable 
assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 
 Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined 
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria described in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded 
that, as of December 31, 2017, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective. 

 The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report that is included herein.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 
 There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to 
Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the fourth quarter of 2017 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
 

 In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, management 
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of 
achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over 
financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in 
evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
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Item 9B. Other Information

 On February 28, 2018, TrueCar, Inc. (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Borrowers”), 
amended its existing secured revolving credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank pursuant to an amendment (the “Amendment”) to its 
Third Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2015 (as amended, the “Loan Facility”).  
Effective as of February 18, 2018, the Amendment, among other things, extends the maturity date of the Loan Facility to February 18, 
2021 and amends the maximum consolidated leverage ratio covenant and fixed charge coverage ratio definition.

 The foregoing description of the Amendment is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Amendment, which has been 
filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART III
 

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

 The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

 
 Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all officers, directors, and 
employees, which is available on our website (ir.true.com) under “Corporate Governance – Documents and Charters.” We intend to 
satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on the website address and location specified above.

 
Item 11.  Executive Compensation

 
 The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

 
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

 
 The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

 
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

 
 The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

 
Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

 
 The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
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PART IV

 

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements:
 

Index:  F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016  F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017  F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017  F-6
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  F-8

2. Financial Statements Schedule
 

 All schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not present in amounts sufficient to require 
submission of the schedule, or the required information is otherwise included in our consolidated financial statements and related 
notes.

 
3. Exhibits

 
 The following exhibits are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference in, this annual report on Form 10-K:

 

Exhibit Exhibit Title
Filed

Herewith

Incorp-
orated by
Reference Form

Exhibit
No. Date Filed

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of the Registrant. X S-1 3.2 May 5, 2014

3.2 Bylaws of the Registrant. X S-1 3.4 May 5, 2014
4.1 Seventh Amended and Restated Investors’ 

Rights Agreement, dated November 22, 2013, by 
and among the Registrant and certain of its 
stockholders. X S-1 4.1 April 4, 2014

4.2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the 
Registrant. X S-1 4.2 May 5, 2014

4.3 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock, 
dated May 1, 2014, by and between the 
Registrant and United Services Automobile 
Association. X S-1 4.16 May 5, 2014

10.1# Form of Indemnification Agreement between the 
Registrant and each of its directors and executive 
officers. X S-1 10.1 April 4, 2014

10.2# 2005 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of 
agreements thereunder. X S-1 10.2 April 4, 2014

10.3# 2008 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of 
agreements thereunder. X S-1 10.3 April 4, 2014

10.4# 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of 
agreements thereunder. X S-1 10.4 May 15, 2014

10.5# Employment Agreement, dated October 25, 
2013, by and between the Registrant and 
Michael Guthrie. X S-1 10.6 April 4, 2014

10.6# Employment Agreement, dated May 1, 2014, by 
and between the Registrant and John Krafcik. X S-1 10.15 May 5, 2014
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Exhibit Exhibit Title
Filed

Herewith

Incorp-
orated by
Reference Form

Exhibit
No. Date Filed

10.7 Clock Tower Building Office Lease, dated May 
10, 2010, by and between the Registrant and 
Clock Tower, LLC, as amended by the 
Amendment to Lease Re Additional Space and 
Term Extension dated November 20, 2010 and 
the Second Amendment to Lease, dated 
September 19, 2013, by and between the 
Registrant and SaMo Clock Tower, LLC 
(successor in interest to Clock Tower, LLC). X S-1 10.14 April 4, 2014

10.8 Office Lease, dated October 15, 2010, by and 
between the Registrant and Douglas Emmett 
1995, LLC. X S-1 10.15 April 4, 2014

10.9 Second Amendment, dated February 11, 2015, to 
Office Lease, dated October 15, 2010, by and 
between the Registrant and Douglas Emmett 
1995, LLC. X 10-K 10.18 March 12, 2015

10.10 1540 Second Street Office Lease, dated 
September 30, 2013, by and between the 
Registrant and RBE 1540 Second Street LLC. X S-1 10.16 April 4, 2014

10.11 1401 Ocean Avenue Office Lease Agreement, 
dated July 10, 2014, by and between the 
Registrant and Mani Brothers Portofino Plaza 
(DE), LLC. X 10-Q 10.5 August 14, 2014

10.12 Office Lease Agreement, dated May 3, 2016, by 
and between the Registrant and Hill Country 
Texas Galleria, LLC. X 10-Q 10.1 August 9, 2016

10.13 Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 15, 
2009, by and between the Registrant and Silicon 
Valley Bank, as amended by the Amended and 
Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated 
November 12, 2010, the First Amendment to 
Amended and Restated Loan and Security 
Agreement dated December 31, 2010, the 
Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 
Loan and Security Agreement dated November 
11, 2011, the Third Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated 
February 9, 2012, the Second Amended and 
Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated 
June 13, 2012, the First Amendment to the 
Second Amended and Restated Loan and 
Security Agreement, dated October 11, 2012, the 
Second Amendment to the Second Amended and 
Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated 
June 13, 2013, and the Third Amendment to the 
Second Amended and Restated Loan and 
Security Agreement, dated August 11, 2014, but 
effective as of June 13, 2014. X S-1 10.21 October 28, 2014

10.14 Third Amended & Restated Loan and Security 
Agreement, dated February 18, 2015, by and 
between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank. X 10-K 10.22 March 12, 2015

10.15 First Amendment to Third Amended & Restated 
Loan and Security Agreement dated February 
28, 2018, by and between the Registrant and 
Silicon Valley Bank. X
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Exhibit Exhibit Title
Filed

Herewith

Incorp-
orated by
Reference Form

Exhibit
No. Date Filed

10.16+ Zag Services & Maintenance Agreement, dated 
February 13, 2007, by and between the 
Registrant and United Services Automobile 
Association, as amended by Amendment #1 
dated September 22, 2008, Amendment #2 dated 
May 12, 2009, Amendment #4 dated June 25, 
2010, Amendment #5 dated October 26, 2010, 
Amendment #7 dated June 1, 2011, Amendment 
#9 dated March 13, 2012, Amendment #11 dated 
May 17, 2012, Amendment #12 dated May 17, 
2012, Amendment #14 dated October 16, 2012, 
Amended and Restated Amendment #15 dated 
November 12, 2012, Amendment #16 dated 
December 12, 2012, Amendment #17 dated May 
17, 2012, Amendment #18 dated January 17, 
2013, Amendment #20 dated April 2, 2013, 
Amendment #22 dated July 22, 2013, 
Amendment #23 dated September 10, 2013, 
Amendment #24 dated August 30, 2013, 
Amendment #26 dated April 4, 2014, and 
Amendment #27 dated May 1, 2014. X S-1 10.21 May 5, 2014

10.17# 2014 Incentive Plan. X S-1 10.22 May 5, 2014
10.18# Executive Incentive Compensation Plan. X S-1 10.23 May 5, 2014
10.19# 2015 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan. X 8-K 10.1 December 16, 2015
10.20# 2015 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan - Form 

of Stock Option Agreement. X 8-K 10.2 December 16, 2015
10.21# Separation Agreement and Release, dated 

November 20, 2015, by and between the 
Registrant and Scott Painter. X 10-K 10.28 March 10, 2016

10.22# Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 
2015, by and between the Registrant and Chip 
Perry. X 10-K 10.31 March 10, 2016

10.23# Employment Agreement, dated June 30, 2015, 
by and between the Registrant and Neeraj 
Gunsagar. X 10-K 10.33 March 1, 2017

10.24# Employment Agreement, dated February 16, 
2016, by and between the Registrant and Brian 
Skutta. X 10-K 10.34 March 1, 2017

10.25# Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated 
February 16, 2016, by and between the 
Registrant and Brian Skutta. X 10-K 10.35 March 1, 2017

10.26# Employment Agreement, dated January 25, 
2017, by and between the Registrant and Jeffrey 
Swart. X 10-K 10.36 March 1, 2017

10.27# Employment Agreement, dated August 3, 2017, 
by and between the Registrant and Michael 
Guthrie. X 10-Q 10.1 August 9, 2017

10.28# Employment Agreement, dated February 28, 
2017, by and between the Registrant and 
Michael Darrow. X

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant. X S-1 21.1 April 4, 2014
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. X
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page). X
31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer 

Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
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Exhibit Exhibit Title
Filed

Herewith

Incorp-
orated by
Reference Form

Exhibit
No. Date Filed

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer 
Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer 
and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

Linkbase Document.

 

#     Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
+     Portions of this exhibit have been granted confidential treatment by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES
 

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Santa Monica, State of California, on February 28, 2018. 

 

  TRUECAR, INC.
  By: /s/ Chip Perry
    Chip Perry

    President and Chief Executive Officer
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints John 
Pierantoni and Jeff Swart, jointly and severally, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and 
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do 
or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature   Title   Date
/s/ Chip Perry   President & Chief Executive Officer and Director   February 28, 2018

Chip Perry   (Principal Executive Officer)    
         

/s/ John Pierantoni   Interim Chief Financial Officer & Chief Accounting
Officer

  February 28, 2018

John Pierantoni   (Principal Financial Officer & Principal Accounting
Officer)

   

         
/s/ Robert Buce   Director   February 28, 2018

Robert Buce        
         

/s/ Christopher Claus   Director   February 28, 2018
Christopher Claus        

         
/s/ Steven Dietz   Director   February 28, 2018

Steven Dietz        
         

/s/ John Krafcik   Director   February 28, 2018
John Krafcik        

         
/s/ Erin Lantz   Director   February 28, 2018

Erin Lantz        
         

/s/ John Mendel   Director   February 28, 2018
John Mendel        

         
/s/ Wesley Nichols   Director   February 28, 2018

Wesley Nichols        
 

/s/ Ion Yadigaroglu   Director   February 28, 2018
Ion Yadigaroglu        
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TrueCar, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TrueCar, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2017, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial 
statements”).  We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO).  

 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2017 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

 The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in 
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A.  Our responsibility is to express 
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audits.  We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and 
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  

 Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those 
risks.  Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.  Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our 
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.
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 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 28, 2018

 We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.
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TrueCar, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value and share data)

  December 31,
  2017 2016

Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 197,762 $ 107,721
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,030 and $2,600 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively
(includes related party receivables of $169 and $393 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively) 39,169 36,867
Prepaid expenses 5,475 6,044
Other current assets 1,145 2,278

Total current assets 243,551 152,910
Property and equipment, net 70,710 66,941
Goodwill 53,270 53,270
Intangible assets, net 15,912 19,774
Other assets 1,391 1,553

Total assets $ 384,834 $ 294,448

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities    
Accounts payable (includes related party payables of $3,200 and $2,925 at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) $ 18,620 $ 13,827
Accrued employee expenses 6,568 8,951
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (includes related party accrued expenses of $52 and $992 at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively) 12,790 12,583

Total current liabilities 37,978 35,361
Deferred tax liabilities 812 2,994
Lease financing obligation, net of current portion 29,129 28,833
Other liabilities 3,797 2,679

Total liabilities 71,716 69,867

Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)

Stockholders’ Equity    
Preferred stock — $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016 — —
Common stock — $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively; 100,428,656 and 86,159,527 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 10 9
Additional paid-in capital 664,192 542,807
Accumulated deficit (351,084) (318,235)

Total stockholders’ equity 313,118 224,581
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 384,834 $ 294,448

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TrueCar, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands except per share data)

  Year Ended
  December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Revenues $ 323,149 $ 277,507 $ 259,838
Costs and operating expenses:      

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization presented
separately below) 28,227 25,167 23,657
Sales and marketing (includes related party expenses of $16,531, $13,910, and
$20,852, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively) 185,397 154,406 151,002
Technology and development 59,070 53,580 48,021
General and administrative 61,646 59,908 83,494
Depreciation and amortization 22,472 23,345 17,646
Total costs and operating expenses 356,812 316,406 323,820

Loss from operations (33,663) (38,899) (63,982)
Interest income 1,260 376 107
Interest expense (2,610) (2,530) (443)
Other income — — 13
Loss before income taxes (35,013) (41,053) (64,305)
(Benefit from) / provision for income taxes (2,164) 655 606
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.35) $ (0.49) $ (0.79)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 94,865 84,483 81,914
Other comprehensive loss:      
Comprehensive loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TrueCar, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands except share data)

  Common Stock  
Accumulated

deficit
Stockholders’

Equity  Shares Amount APIC
Balance at December 31, 2014 79,811,769 $ 8 $ 460,179 $ (210,989) $ 249,198
Net loss — — — (64,911) (64,911)
Stock-based compensation — — 43,888 — 43,888
Repurchase of common stock awards — — (100) — (100)
Issuance of warrants and change in fair value of unvested warrants
related to marketing agreements — — (803) — (803)
Net exercise of warrants to purchase common stock 959,676 — — — —

Shares issued in connection with employee stock plans, net of
shares withheld for employee taxes 2,245,290 — 5,420 — 5,420
Balance at December 31, 2015 83,016,735 $ 8 $ 508,584 $ (275,900) $ 232,692
Cumulative-effect of accounting change adopted as of January 1,
2016 — — 627 (627) —
Net loss — — — (41,708) (41,708)
Stock-based compensation — — 25,751 — 25,751

Issuance of warrants relating to marketing agreements — — 46 — 46
Shares issued in connection with employee stock plans, net of
shares withheld for employee taxes 3,142,792 1 7,799 — 7,800
Balance at December 31, 2016 86,159,527 $ 9 $ 542,807 $ (318,235) $ 224,581
Net loss — — — (32,849) (32,849)
Issuance of common stock in follow-on offering, net of
underwriting discounts and offering costs 1,150,000 — 17,398 — 17,398
Stock-based compensation — — 33,648 — 33,648
Shares issued in connection with employee stock plans, net of
shares withheld for employee taxes 13,119,129 1 70,339 — 70,340
Balance at December 31, 2017 100,428,656 $ 10 $ 664,192 $ (351,084) $ 313,118

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TrueCar, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

  For the Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 22,391 23,169 17,267
Deferred income taxes (2,182) 581 581
Bad debt expense and other reserves 1,385 1,285 925
Stock-based compensation 32,241 24,739 42,563
Common stock warrant expense (benefit) — 46 (803)
Non-cash interest expense on lease financing obligation 370 396 —
Write-off and loss on disposal of fixed assets 194 474 1,631

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,687) (4,391) (5,938)
Prepaid expenses 569 4 (855)
Other current assets 765 (846) 1,087
Other assets 162 (613) (458)
Accounts payable 4,803 (4,552) 5,312
Accrued employee expenses (2,683) 1,152 (6,510)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (479) 1,531 (1,781)
Other liabilities 1,118 1,501 521

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 22,118 2,768 (11,369)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (19,809) (16,639) (29,836)
Net cash used in investing activities (19,809) (16,639) (29,836)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from public offering, net of underwriting discounts and offering costs 17,398 — —
Repurchase of common stock option awards — (100) —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 73,543 9,112 6,328
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (3,209) (1,312) (908)
Proceeds from financing obligation drawdown — 1,521 622
Payments for lease financing obligation — — (5)
Net cash provided by financing activities 87,732 9,221 6,037
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 90,041 (4,650) (35,168)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 107,721 112,371 147,539
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 197,762 $ 107,721 $ 112,371

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 2,099 $ 2,133 $ 617
Income taxes 43 82 48

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash activities
Stock-based compensation capitalized for software development 1,407 1,012 1,325
Recognition of leased facility asset and lease financing obligation — — 23,683
Capitalized assets included in accounts payable, accrued employee expenses
and other accrued expenses 1,980 1,078 1,635

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Nature of Business

 TrueCar, Inc. (“TrueCar”) is an Internet-based information, technology, and communication services company. Hereinafter, 
TrueCar, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries TrueCar.com, Inc. and ALG, Inc. are collectively referred to as “TrueCar” or the 
“Company”; TrueCar.com, Inc. is referred to as “TrueCar.com” and ALG, Inc. is referred to as “ALG.” TrueCar was incorporated in 
the state of Delaware in February 2005 and began business operations in April 2005. Its principal corporate offices are located in Santa 
Monica, California.

 TrueCar is a digital automotive marketplace that (i) provides pricing transparency about what other people paid for their cars 
and enables consumers to engage with TrueCar Certified Dealers who are committed to providing a superior purchase experience; (ii) 
empowers Certified Dealers to attract these informed, in-market consumers in a cost-effective, accountable manner; and (iii) allows 
automobile manufacturers (“OEMs”) to more effectively target their incentive spending at deep-in-market consumers during their 
purchase process. TrueCar has established a diverse software ecosystem on a common technology infrastructure, powered by 
proprietary data and analytics. Consumers access TrueCar’s platform through the TrueCar.com website and TrueCar mobile 
applications or through the car buying websites and mobile applications that TrueCar operates for its affinity group marketing partners 
(“Auto Buying Programs”). An affinity group is comprised of a network of members or employees that provides discounts to its 
members.

 ALG provides forecasts, consulting, and other services regarding determination of the residual value of an automobile at 
future given points in time, which are used to underwrite automotive loans and leases and by financial institutions to measure 
exposure and risk across loan, lease, and fleet portfolios. ALG also obtains automobile purchase data from a variety of sources and 
uses this data to provide consumers and dealers with highly accurate, geographically specific, real-time pricing information.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

 The Company’s accounting and financial reporting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TrueCar and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
Business acquisitions are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. The 
Company’s purchase accounting resulted in all assets and liabilities of acquired businesses being recorded at their estimated fair values 
on the acquisition dates. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

 The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates 
of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Assets and liabilities which are subject to judgment and use of estimates include sales allowances 
and allowances for doubtful accounts, the fair value of assets and liabilities assumed in business combinations, fair value of the 
capitalized facility lease, the recoverability of goodwill and long-lived assets, valuation allowances with respect to deferred tax assets, 
useful lives associated with property and equipment and intangible assets, lease exit liabilities, contingencies, and the valuation and 
assumptions underlying stock-based compensation and other equity instruments. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its 
estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets 
and liabilities. In addition, the Company engaged valuation specialists to assist with management’s determination of the valuation of 
its capitalized facility lease, fair values of assets and liabilities assumed in business combinations, the fair value of reporting units in 
connection with annual goodwill impairment testing, and in periods prior to the Company’s initial public offering, valuation of 
common stock.

Segments

 The Company has one operating segment. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the President and 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, who manage the Company’s operations based on consolidated financial 
information for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. 

 The CODM reviews financial information on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about transaction revenue 
and forecasts, consulting and other revenue (Note 13). All of the Company’s principal operations, decision-making functions and 
assets are located in the United States.

Fair Value Measurements

 Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in 
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date.

 Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. Accounting standards describe a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are 
considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value which are the following:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities or funds.
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• Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets 
or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of 
the assets or liabilities.

Fair Value Methods

 Fair value is based on quoted market prices, if available. If listed prices or quotes are not available, fair value is based on 
internally developed models that primarily use market-based or independently sourced market parameters as inputs.

 For assets and liabilities measured at fair value, the following section describes the valuation methodologies, key inputs and 
significant assumptions.

 Cash equivalents, consisting primarily of money market instruments and debt securities represent highly liquid investments 
with maturities of three months or less at purchase. Generally, market prices are used to determine the fair value of money market 
instruments and debt securities.

 The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts 
payable, and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these items. The fair value of the Company’s 
revolving line of credit approximates carrying value based on the Company’s current incremental borrowing rate for similar types of 
borrowing arrangements.

 Certain assets, including long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets are also subject to measurement at fair value on a 
non-recurring basis if they are deemed to be impaired as a result of an impairment review. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 
2016, and 2015, no impairments were identified on those assets required to be measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

 The following table summarizes the Company’s assets at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2017 and 2016 by 
level within the fair value hierarchy. There were no liabilities measure at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2017 and 
2016. These assets are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement (in 
thousands):

  At December 31, 2017 At December 31, 2016

    Total Fair   Total Fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 195,584 $ — $ — $ 195,584 $ 107,721 $ — $ — $ 107,721

Total Assets $ 195,584 $ — $ — $ 195,584 $ 107,721 $ — $ — $ 107,721
 

Concentrations of Credit and Business Risk

 Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable. 

 The Company, at times, maintains cash balances at financial institutions in excess of amounts insured by United States 
government agencies or payable by the United States government directly. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with 
high credit quality financial institutions.

 Credit is extended to customers based on an evaluation of their financial condition and other factors. The Company generally 
does not require collateral or other security to support accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its 
customers and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on these evaluations. No single customer comprised more than 
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10% of the Company’s total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. No single customer comprised more 
than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2017. At December 31, 2016, one customer accounted for 
approximately 13% of the accounts receivable balance. 

 The Company’s single largest source of unique visitors and unit sales from affinity group marketing partners comes from its 
relationship with United Services Automobile Association (“USAA”), a related party (Note 12). Changes in the Company’s 
relationship with USAA and its promotion and marketing of the Company’s Auto Buying Programs may have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

 The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original or remaining maturity at the date of 
purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, cash and cash equivalents were comprised of 
cash held in money market funds and checking accounts.

Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, and Sales Allowances

 The Company extends credit in the normal course of business to its customers and performs credit evaluations on a case-by-
case basis. The Company does not obtain collateral or other security related to its accounts receivable.

 Accounts receivable are recorded based on the amount due from the customer and do not bear interest. The Company reduces 
accounts receivable for sales allowances and allowance for doubtful accounts.

 The Company establishes sales allowances at the time of revenue recognition based on its history of adjustments and credits 
provided to its network of dealers. Sales allowances relate primarily to credits issued where a dealer claims that an introduction was 
previously identified by the dealer from a source other than the Company. While contractually obligated to pay the invoice, the 
Company may issue a credit against the invoice to maintain overall dealer relations. In assessing the adequacy of the sales allowance, 
the Company evaluates its history of adjustments and credits made through the date of the issuance of the financial statements. 
Estimated sales adjustments and credits and ultimate losses may vary from actual results which could be material to the financial 
statements; however, to date, actual sales allowances have been materially consistent with the Company’s estimates.

 The Company determines its allowance for doubtful accounts based on its historical write-off experience and when specific 
circumstances make it likely that recovery will not occur. The Company reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts each reporting 
period and assesses the aging of account balances, with an emphasis on those that are past due over ninety days. Account balances are 
charged off against the allowance when the Company determines that it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. The 
Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers. 

 The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts and sales allowances (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Allowances, at beginning of period $ 2,600 $ 2,720 $ 2,069
Charged as a reduction of revenue 7,734 7,042 6,716
Charged to bad debt expense in general and administrative expenses 1,385 1,285 925
Write-offs, net of recoveries (8,689) (8,447) (6,990)
Allowances, at end of period $ 3,030 $ 2,600 $ 2,720
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Property and Equipment, net

 Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is generally three years for computer hardware and software, five years for 
furniture and equipment, and over the shorter of lease term or useful life of the assets for leasehold improvements. Buildings are 
depreciated over a useful life of forty years. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise 
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in 
the Company’s results of operations.

Build-to-Suit Leases

 The Company establishes assets and liabilities for the fair value of the building and estimated construction costs incurred 
under lease arrangements when it is considered the owner (for accounting purposes only), or build-to-suit leases, to the extent it is 
involved in the construction of structural improvements or takes on construction risk. Upon completion of construction of facilities 
under build-to-suit leases, the Company assesses whether these arrangements qualify for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback 
accounting guidance, and if so, the leased facility and lease financing obligation are removed from the balance sheet. If the Company 
does not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting, then the facilities are accounted for as financing leases.

Software and Website Development Costs

 The Company accounts for the costs of computer software obtained or developed for internal use in accordance with FASB 
ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other. Computer software development costs and website development costs are expensed as 
incurred, except for internal use software or website development costs that qualify for capitalization as described below, and include 
certain employee related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensation expenses; costs of computer 
hardware and software; and costs incurred in developing features and functionality. These capitalized costs are included in property 
and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets.

 The Company expenses costs incurred in the preliminary project and post implementation stages of software development 
and capitalizes costs incurred in the application development stage and costs associated with significant enhancements to existing 
internal use software applications.

 Software costs are amortized using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of three years commencing when the 
software project is ready for its intended use.

 Costs incurred related to less significant modifications and enhancements as well as maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

 At December 31, 2017 and 2016, capitalized software costs were $71.2 million and $55.7 million, respectively, before 
accumulated amortization of $48.8 million and $35.3 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company wrote off capitalized software costs of $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, relating to the Company’s decision to 
abandon additional development activities relating to specific software projects. As these capitalized assets had never been placed in 
service, the write-off was recorded in technology and development expense and there was no accumulated amortization and no 
acceleration of amortization. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded accelerated amortization of 
$1.7 million and $2.1 million, respectively, related to software assets that were determined to have shortened useful lives due to 
upgrades to the Company’s technology infrastructure. 
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 Expected amortization expense with respect to capitalized software costs at December 31, 2017 for each of the five years 
through December 31, 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,  
2018 $ 11,529
2019 6,822
2020 3,849
2021 103
2022 50

Total amortization expense $ 22,353
 

Intangible Assets Acquired in Business Combinations

 The Company performs valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business 
combination, and allocates the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on its best 
estimate of fair value. Acquired intangible assets include: trade names, customer relationships, and developed technology. The 
Company determines the appropriate useful life of intangible assets by performing an analysis of cash flows based on historical 
experience of the acquired businesses. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives based on the pattern in which 
the economic benefits associated with the asset are expected to be consumed, which to date has approximated the straight-line method 
of amortization. The estimated useful lives for trade names, customer relationships, and technology are generally, one to fifteen years, 
five to ten years, and three to ten years, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

 The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets with finite useful lives for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Such triggering events or changes in 
circumstances may include: a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse change in the extent 
or manner in which a long-lived asset is being used, significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, the impact 
of competition or other factors that could affect the value of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse deterioration in the amount of 
revenue or cash flows expected to be generated from an asset group, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount 
originally expected for the acquisition or development of a long-lived asset, current or future operating or cash flow losses that 
demonstrate continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset, or a current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-
lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. The Company 
performs impairment testing at the asset group level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely 
independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
an asset group may not be recoverable and the expected undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the asset group are less than the 
carrying amount of the asset group, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. 
Fair value is determined based upon estimated discounted future cash flows. During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 
2015, there were no impairment charges recorded on the Company’s long-lived assets.

Goodwill

 Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price paid over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
acquired in the Company’s business combinations. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Events or changes in 
circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in business climate, an adverse action or 
assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired 
assets or the Company’s overall business strategy, significant negative industry or economic trends, or significant underperformance 
relative to expected historical or projected future results of operations.
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 The Company has the option to assess goodwill for possible impairment by performing a qualitative analysis to determine if 
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount or perform the first step on an 
impairment test.

 The first step involves comparing the estimated fair value of a reporting unit with its respective book value, including 
goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are 
necessary. If, however, the fair value of the reporting unit is less than book value, then the second step is to compare the carrying 
amount of the goodwill to its implied fair value. The estimate of implied fair value of goodwill may require valuations of certain 
internally generated and unrecognized intangible assets. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that 
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess.

 The Company tests for goodwill impairment annually at December 31. During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 
2015, there were no impairment charges recorded on goodwill. In 2017 and 2016, the Company qualitatively assessed whether it was 
more likely than not that the respective fair values of its reporting units are less than their carrying amounts, including goodwill. Based 
on the assessment of the qualitative factors, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the 
reporting units were greater than their carrying amounts. As such, performing the first step of the two-step impairment test was 
unnecessary. In 2015, the Company conducted a quantitative goodwill assessment of its reporting units. The fair value of the reporting 
units exceeded their respective carrying values and accordingly, the Company concluded there was no impairment of its goodwill.

Revenue Recognition

 The Company recognizes revenue, net of sales allowances, when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 
(ii) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, (iii) the fees are fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably 
assured. Deferred revenue is recognized on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets when payments are received in advance of 
the Company meeting all of the revenue recognition criteria described above. 

Transaction Revenues

Auto Buying Program Revenues

 Revenues consist of fees paid by dealers participating in the Company’s dealer network with which the Company has an 
agreement (“TrueCar Certified Dealers” or “Dealers”). TrueCar Certified Dealers pay the Company fees either on a per-vehicle basis 
for sales to Auto Buying Program users or in the form of a subscription arrangement.

 The Company recognizes revenue for fee arrangements based on a per-vehicle basis when the vehicle sale has occurred 
between the Auto Buying Program user and the Dealer. Under the contractual terms and conditions of arrangements with its network 
of participating TrueCar Certified Dealers, the dealer is required to pay the Company upon the sale of a vehicle to an Auto Buying 
Program user that has been provided to the dealer by the Company. Recognition of revenue from the sale is not contingent upon 
verification or acceptance of the transaction by the dealer.

 Upon a user deciding to proceed with the user’s vehicle purchase through the Company, the user provides his or her name, 
address, e-mail, and a phone number during the process of obtaining a Guaranteed Savings Certificate, which gives the Company the 
identity and source of a TrueCar introduction provided to a specific dealer prior to an actual sale occurring. After a sale occurs, the 
Company receives information regarding the sale, including the identity of the purchaser, via the Dealer Management System used by 
the dealer that made the sale. The Company also receives information regarding vehicle sales from a variety of data sources, including 
third party car sales aggregators, car dealer networks, and other publicly available sources (collectively, “sales data”) and uses this 
sales data to further verify that a sale has occurred between an Auto Buying Program user and a TrueCar Certified Dealer, as well as a 
means to invoice the Dealer shortly after the completion of the sales transaction. Actual vehicle sales data is reported on a daily basis 
shortly following the date of sale.

 The Company also recognizes revenue from dealers under subscription agreements. Subscription fee arrangements are short-
term in nature with terms ranging from one to six months and are cancellable by the dealer or the Company at any time. Subscription 
arrangements fall into three types: flat rate subscriptions, subscriptions subject to downward adjustment based on a minimum number 
of vehicle sales (“guaranteed sales”), and subscriptions based on introduction volume, including those subject to downward 
adjustment based on a minimum number of introductions (“guaranteed introductions”). Under flat rate subscription arrangements, fees 
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are charged at a monthly flat rate regardless of the number of sales made to users of the Company’s platform by the dealer. For flat 
rate subscription arrangements, the Company recognizes the fees as revenue over the subscription period on a straight line basis which 
corresponds to the period that the Company is providing the dealer access to the Auto Buying Program. Under guaranteed sales 
subscription arrangements, fees are charged based on the number of guaranteed sales multiplied by a fixed amount per vehicle. To the 
extent that the actual number of vehicles sold by the dealers to users of the Company’s platform is less than the number of guaranteed 
sales, the Company provides a credit to the dealer. To the extent that the actual number of vehicles sold exceeds the number of 
guaranteed sales, the Company is not entitled to any additional fees. Certain of our subscription arrangements are charged based on 
volume of introductions provided while other introduction based subscription arrangements operate under a guaranteed introduction 
model. Under guaranteed introductions subscription arrangements, fees are charged based on a periodically-updated formula that 
considers, among other things, the introductions anticipated to be provided to the dealer. To the extent that the number of actual 
introductions is less than the number of guaranteed introductions, the Company provides a credit to the dealer. To the extent that the 
actual number of introductions provided exceeds the number guaranteed, the Company is not entitled to any additional fees. For 
guaranteed sales and guaranteed introductions subscription arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue based on the lesser of 
(i) the actual number of sales generated or introductions delivered through the Auto Buying Program during the subscription period 
multiplied by the contracted price-per-sale/introduction or (ii) the guaranteed number of sales or introductions multiplied by the 
contracted price per sale/introduction.

OEM Incentives

 The Company enters into arrangements with automobile manufacturers (“OEM”) to promote the sale of their vehicles 
through the offering of additional consumer incentives. These manufacturers pay a per-vehicle fee to the Company for promotion of 
the incentive and the Company recognizes as revenue the per-vehicle incentive fee at the time the sale of the vehicle has occurred 
between the Auto Buying Program user and the dealer. 

Forecasts, Consulting and Other Revenues

 Revenues are generated from the sale of forecasts of lease residual value data for new and used leased automobiles, 
guidebooks, and consulting services. Sales are principally made to vehicle manufacturers, vehicle financing companies, investment 
banks, automobile dealers, and insurance companies. Forecasts and consulting services customers typically prepay annually in the 
form of a subscription agreement for lease residual value data and guidebooks.

 Forecasts and consulting services sales arrangements may include multiple deliverables, such as sale of lease residual 
forecasts from guidebooks and consulting services. For multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, the Company first assesses 
whether each deliverable has value to the customer on a standalone basis and performance is considered probable and substantially in 
its control. Forecasts and consulting services can be sold either on a standalone basis or as part of multiple deliverable arrangements. 
The deliverables constitute separate units of accounting because the deliverables have standalone value to the customer and as such, 
the total arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting using the relative selling price hierarchy. This hierarchy 
requires the selling price of each deliverable in a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement to be based on, in descending order: 
(i) vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, (ii) third-party evidence of selling price, or TPE, or (iii) management’s best estimated 
selling price, or BESP.

 The Company cannot establish VSOE or TPE because the deliverables are not sold separately within a sufficiently narrow 
price range or third party pricing for comparable services is not available; therefore, it applies judgment to determine BESP. The 
objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the service were sold on a stand-alone basis. 
The determination of BESP requires the Company to make significant estimates and judgments and the Company considers numerous 
factors in this determination, including the nature of the deliverables, market conditions and the competitive landscape, internal costs, 
and its pricing and discounting practices. The Company updates its estimates of BESP on a periodic basis as events and as 
circumstances may require.

 Revenue allocated to each element from the sale of lease residual value forecasts, guidebooks, and consulting services is 
recognized when the basic recognition criteria are met for each element. Sales attributed to residual value data and guidebooks are 
recognized when the data or guidebooks are delivered, and consulting services are recognized when the project is completed.
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Lead Referral Fees

 Lead referral fees revenues consist of fees earned through an online process that refers consumers to out-of-network auto 
dealers for new and used vehicles when the Company is unable to identify a dealer with a vehicle in the Company’s dealer network for 
which a prospective car buyer is searching. Fees are recognized at the time the lead referral is transmitted to, and accepted by, the 
lead-buying entities and are not contingent on the sale of a vehicle. The Company is not a party to the arrangement with, and is not the 
primary obligor to, the lead-buyer’s dealer; accordingly, revenue is recognized for the net fee received for the lead from the lead-
buyer.

Cost of Revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)

 Cost of revenue includes expenses related to the fulfillment of the Company’s services, consisting primarily of data costs and 
licensing fees paid to third party service providers and expenses related to operating the Company’s website and mobile applications, 
including those associated with its data centers, hosting fees, data processing costs required to deliver introductions to its network of 
TrueCar Certified Dealers, employee costs related to certain dealer operations, sales matching, and employee and consulting costs 
related to delivering data and consulting services to the Company’s customers. Cost of revenue excludes depreciation and amortization 
of software development costs and other hosting and data infrastructure equipment used to operate the Company’s platforms, which 
are included in the depreciation and amortization line item on its statement of comprehensive loss.

Sales and Marketing

 Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of: television, digital, and radio advertising; media production costs, affinity 
group partner marketing fees, which also includes loan subvention costs where the Company pays certain affinity group marketing 
partners a portion of consumers’ borrowing costs for car loan products offered by these affinity group marketing partners, and 
common stock warrants issued to USAA; marketing sponsorship programs; and digital customer acquisition. In addition, sales and 
marketing expenses include employee related expenses for sales, customer support, marketing and public relations employees, 
including salaries, bonuses, benefits, severance, and stock-based compensation expenses; third-party contractor fees; and facilities 
costs. Sales and marketing expenses also include costs related to common stock warrants issued to a service provider as part of the 
Company's commercial arrangements with the individual. 

 Marketing and advertising costs promote our services and are expensed as incurred, except for media production costs which 
are expensed the first time the advertisement is aired. Marketing and advertising expenses were $71.0 million, $70.7 million, and 
$79.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Prepaid expenses include prepaid media costs of 
$0.4 million and $1.6 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Accrued marketing and advertising expenses were $2.7 
million and $2.1 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and were included within accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Technology and Development

 Technology and development expenses consist primarily of employee related expenses for technology and development staff, 
including salaries, benefits, bonuses, severance, and stock-based compensation; the cost of certain third-party service providers; and 
facilities costs. Technology and development expenses are expensed as incurred.

General and Administrative

 General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee related expenses for administrative, legal, finance, and 
human resource staffs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, severance, and stock-based compensation; professional fees; insurance 
premiums; other corporate expenses; lease exit charges, and facilities costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

 The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options and restricted stock units 
based on the fair value of the awards on the grant date in accordance with the relevant standards. The Company estimates the grant 
date fair value of option grants, and the resulting stock-based compensation expense, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
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Stock-based compensation for employee awards is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite period, except for 
performance-based awards which are recognized using the graded-vesting model. 

 Compensation expense for non-employee stock-based awards is recognized in accordance with FASB ASC 505, Equity — 
Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. Under this standard, stock option awards issued to non-employees are accounted for at fair 
value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Management believes that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably 
measured than the fair value of the services received. The Company records compensation expense based on the then-current fair 
values of the stock options at each financial reporting date. Compensation recorded during the service period is adjusted in subsequent 
periods for changes in the stock options’ fair value until the earlier of the date at which the non-employee’s performance is complete 
or a performance commitment is reached, which is generally when the stock option vests.

 For issuances of restricted stock units, the Company determines the fair value of the award based on the market value of its 
common stock at the date of grant.

Income Taxes

 The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and are measured using the tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation 
allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

 The Company determines whether a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination based on the 
technical merits of the position. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax amount recognized in the 
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement 
with the relevant tax authority. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits, if any, in 
its income tax provision in the accompanying statements of comprehensive loss.

Comprehensive Loss

 Comprehensive loss encompasses all changes in equity other than those arising from transactions with stockholders and 
consists of net loss. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company had no other comprehensive income (loss) 
items and accordingly, net loss equaled comprehensive loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance simplifying the test for goodwill 
impairment. This standard eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test, instead requiring an entity to recognize a goodwill 
impairment charge for the amount by which the goodwill carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. This guidance is 
effective for interim and annual goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption 
permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.

 In October 2016, the FASB issued new guidance which requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intra-
entity transfer of an asset, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. This removes the exception to postpone recognition until the 
asset has been sold to an outside party. This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, 
including interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods, with early adoption permitted. It is required to be applied on 
a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of 
adoption. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
 In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance amending the existing accounting standards for lease accounting, including 
requiring lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets and making targeted changes to lessor accounting. The new guidance 
will be effective for public entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein. Early adoption 
is permitted. The new leases standard requires a modified retrospective transition approach for all leases existing at, or entered into 
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after, the date of initial application, with an option to use certain transition relief. The Company is evaluating the methods and impact 
of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance related to revenue from contracts with customers. Under this guidance, revenue is 
recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected 
to be received for those goods or services. The updated standard will replace all existing revenue recognition guidance under GAAP 
when it becomes effective and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. In August 2015, the 
FASB deferred the effective date to January 1, 2018, with early adoption beginning January 1, 2017. In 2016, the FASB issued 
additional guidance to clarify the implementation guidance. The Company will adopt this guidance beginning January 1, 2018 using 
the cumulative effect or “modified retrospective” transition method. Upon adoption, the Company will recognize the cumulative effect 
of adopting this guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit. Prior periods will not be retrospectively 
adjusted. 

 As a result of adoption, the Company expects to recognize transaction revenue earlier for certain of its Auto Buying Program 
and OEM incentives arrangements based on estimated variable consideration to be received upon the occurrence of subsequent vehicle 
sales between the Auto Buying Program user and the dealer. The Company expects the adoption of this guidance to result in a 
cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2018 to reduce accumulated deficit by approximately $3.0 million. On an ongoing basis, 
the Company expects there will not be a material impact to revenue.

 Also as a result of adoption, the Company has also identified an impact related to the recognition of costs to obtain customer 
contracts. Currently, sales commissions are expensed as incurred. Under the new revenue standard, certain sales commissions will be 
deferred and recognized over a period of time. The Company expects the adjustment to capitalize these sales commissions to result in 
a cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2018 to reduce accumulated deficit by approximately $3.0 million. The expected 
period over which these commissions will be amortized is 3 years. 
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3. Property and Equipment, net

 Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

  December 31,
  2017 2016

Computer equipment, software, and internally developed software $ 83,568 $ 65,973
Furniture and fixtures 4,779 3,705
Leasehold improvements 8,342 6,067
Capitalized facility leases 39,302 39,302
  135,991 115,047

Less: Accumulated depreciation (65,281) (48,106)
Total property and equipment, net $ 70,710 $ 66,941

 
 The Company is considered the owner, for accounting purposes only, of one of its Santa Monica, California leased office 
spaces and of its San Francisco, California leased office space (collectively, the “Premises”) as it had taken on certain risks of 
construction build cost overages above normal tenant improvement allowances. Accordingly, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company has capitalized $39.3 million related to the Premises, which represents the estimated fair value of the leased properties, 
additions for capitalized interest incurred during the construction periods, and capitalized costs related to improvements to the 
buildings. No interest costs related to the Premises were capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. At 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had recorded accumulated amortization of $2.2 million and $1.2 million for capitalized 
facility leases. Additionally, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized a corresponding lease financing obligation of 
approximately $31.4 million and $30.9 million, respectively. Refer to Note 6 for additional information. 

 Included in the table above are property and equipment of $7.8 million and $4.3 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively, which are capitalizable, but had not yet been placed in service. The $7.8 million and $4.3 million balances at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were comprised primarily of capitalized software not ready for its intended use.

 Total depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment was $18.6 million, $19.3 million and $13.5 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

 Amortization of internal use capitalized software development costs was $13.5 million, $14.7 million and $8.8 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

 Amortization of capitalized facility leases was $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. Amortization 
of capitalized facility leases was $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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4. Intangible Assets

 Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands, except years):

  At December 31, 2017

 
Gross Carrying

Value
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Acquired technology and domain name $ 31,090 $ (19,911) $ 11,179
Customer relationships 6,300 (4,425) 1,875
Tradenames 4,900 (2,042) 2,858

Total $ 42,290 $ (26,378) $ 15,912

  At December 31, 2016

 
Gross Carrying

Value
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Acquired technology and domain name $ 31,090 $ (16,876) $ 14,214
Customer relationships 6,300 (3,925) 2,375
Tradenames 4,900 (1,715) 3,185

Total $ 42,290 $ (22,516) $ 19,774
 

 Amortization expense by asset type for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 is shown below (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Acquired technology and domain name $ 3,035 $ 3,041 $ 3,047
Customer relationships 500 673 760
Trade names 327 327 327
Total amortization $ 3,862 $ 4,041 $ 4,134

 
 Expected amortization expense with respect to intangible assets at December 31, 2017 for each of the five years through 
December 31, 2022 and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

 

Years ended December 31,  
2018 $ 3,861
2019 3,791
2020 3,787
2021 2,922
2022 327
Thereafter 1,224

Total amortization expense $ 15,912
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5. Credit Facility

February 2015 Amended Credit Facility

 In February 2015, the Company entered into a third amended and restated loan and security agreement (“Third Amended 
Credit Facility”) with the same financial institution with which the Company had previous credit arrangements, effective as of 
February 18, 2015, for a $35.0 million secured revolving credit facility that expires on February 18, 2018. The Third Amended Credit 
Facility provides a $10.0 million subfacility for the issuance of letters of credit and contains an increase option permitting the 
Company, subject to the lenders consent, to increase the revolving credit facility by up to $15.0 million, to an aggregate maximum of 
$50 million.

 This amended credit facility bears interest, at the Company’s option, at either (i) the prime rate published by The Wall Street 
Journal, plus a spread of -0.25% to 0.50%, or (ii) a LIBOR rate determined in accordance with the terms of the credit facility, plus a 
spread of 1.75% to 2.50%. In each case, the spread is based on the Company’s adjusted quick ratio, which is a ratio of the Company’s 
cash and cash equivalents plus net billed accounts receivable to current liabilities plus all borrowings under the credit facility.

 Interest is due and payable quarterly in arrears for prime rate loans and on the earlier of the last day of each quarter or the end 
of an interest period, as defined in the Third Amended Credit Facility, for LIBOR rate loans. The Company is also obligated to pay an 
unused revolving line facility fee of 0.0% to 0.20% per annum based on the Company’s adjusted quick ratio. 

 
 This amended credit facility requires the Company to maintain an adjusted quick ratio of at least 1.5 to 1 on the last day of 
each quarter. If the adjusted quick ratio is not maintained, then the facility requires the Company to maintain, as measured at each 
quarter end, a maximum consolidated leverage ratio 3.00 or 2.50 to 1.00, and a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00.

 
 Consolidated leverage ratio is a ratio of all funded indebtedness, including all capital lease obligations, plus all letters of 
credit under the facility to the Company’s Adjusted EBITDA for the trailing twelve months. Fixed charge coverage ratio is the ratio of 
the Company's Adjusted EBITDA minus cash income taxes to its cash interest payments plus capital expenditures for the trailing 
twelve months. This credit facility also limits the Company’s ability to pay dividends. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company 
was in compliance with the financial covenants.

 
 The Company’s future material domestic subsidiaries are required, upon the lender’s request, to become co-borrowers under 
the credit facility. The credit facility contains acceleration clauses that accelerate any borrowings in the event of default. The 
obligations of the Company and its future material domestic subsidiaries are collateralized by substantially all of their respective 
assets, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. 

 At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had no outstanding amounts under the credit facility. At December 31, 2017 
and 2016, the amounts available were $31.0 million and $30.7 million, respectively, reduced for letters of credit issued and 
outstanding under the subfacility of $4.0 million and $4.3 million, respectively.

February 2018 Amendment to Credit Facility

 In February 2018, the Company entered into a first amendment to the Third Amended Credit Facility (“First Amendment”).  
The First Amendment extends the maturity date to February 18, 2021 and amends, among other things, the maximum consolidated 
leverage ratio covenant and the fixed charge coverage ratio definition, which is now defined as the ratio of the Company’s Adjusted 
EBITDA minus cash income taxes and capital expenditures to its cash interest payments measured on a trailing twelve-month basis. 
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6. Commitments and Contingencies

Office Lease Commitments

 At December 31, 2017, the Company had various non-cancellable leases related to the Company’s office facilities which 
expire through 2030. At December 31, 2017, future minimum payments for obligations under non-cancellable lease obligations, and 
related sublease income, are as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,
Lease

Commitments Sublease Income

2018 $ 9,503 $ (2,116)
2019 10,438 (1,970)
2020 9,429 (1,186)
2021 7,877 —
2022 8,116 —
Thereafter 31,733 —

Total minimum lease payments $ 77,096 $ (5,272)

 

 The Company recorded rent expense, net of sublease income, of $4.8 million, $7.4 million, and $6.3 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

 San Francisco Office Lease

 In May 2014, the Company entered into a facility lease in San Francisco (the “San Francisco Office”) with total future 
minimum lease commitments over 10 years, beginning August 1, 2014 of $7.0 million. The remaining future minimum lease 
commitments as of December 31, 2017 are included in the table above. In conjunction with this lease, the Company was required to 
obtain an irrevocable standby letter of credit in the amount of $0.8 million for the benefit of the landlord. Beginning August 1, 2017 
through August 1, 2020, the letter of credit is subject to an annual reduction to as little as $0.2 million.

 The Company had concluded that it was deemed the owner (for accounting purposes only) of the San Francisco Office during 
the construction period under build-to-suit lease accounting. As the Company assumed control of the construction project in the third 
quarter of 2014, the Company recorded the fair value of the leased property in “Property and equipment, net” and a corresponding 
liability in “Lease financing obligations” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized increases in the 
asset as additional building costs were incurred during the construction period. Additionally, imputed interest during the construction 
period was capitalized. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has capitalized $8.7 million in “Property and equipment, net” 
and a corresponding current and non-current lease financing obligation of $6.9 million and $6.8 million, respectively. 

 Upon completion of the construction during the first quarter of 2015, the Company retained the fair value of the San 
Francisco Office lease property and the obligation on its balance sheet as it did not qualify for sales and leaseback accounting due to 
requirements to maintain collateral in the lease. The Company records the rent payments as a reduction of the lease financing 
obligation and imputed interest expense and ground rent as an operating expense. The fair value of the lease property will be 
depreciated over the building’s estimated useful life of forty years. At the conclusion of the lease term, the Company will de-recognize 
both the then carrying values of the asset and financing obligation.

 Santa Monica Office Lease

 In July 2014, the Company entered into a facility lease in Santa Monica (the “Santa Monica Office”) with total future 
minimum lease commitments over fifteen years, beginning in January 2015, of $36.0 million. The remaining future minimum lease 
commitments as of December 31, 2017 are included in the future minimum lease payments table above. In connection with this lease, 
the Company obtained an irrevocable standby letter of credit in the amount of $3.5 million for the benefit of the landlord. Beginning 
October 1, 2019 through October 1, 2025, the letter of credit is subject to an annual reduction to as little as $1.2 million. 

 The Company had concluded that it was deemed the owner (for accounting purposes only) of the Santa Monica Office during 
the construction period under build-to-suit lease accounting. As the Company assumed control of the construction project in the first 
quarter of 2015, the Company recorded the fair value of the leased property in “Property and equipment, net” and a corresponding 
liability in “Lease financing obligations” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized increases in the 
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asset as additional building costs were incurred during the construction period. Additionally, imputed interest during the construction 
period was capitalized. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has capitalized $30.6 million in “Property and equipment, net” 
and a corresponding current and non-current lease financing obligation of $24.5 million and $24.0 million, respectively.

 Upon completion of construction during the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company retained the fair value of the Santa Monica 
Office lease property and the obligation on its balance sheet as it did not qualify for sales leaseback accounting due to requirements to 
maintain collateral in the lease. The Company records the rent payments as a reduction of the lease financing obligation and imputed 
interest expense; ground rent is recorded as an operating expense. The fair value of the lease property will be depreciated over the 
building’s estimated useful life of forty years. At the conclusion of the lease term, the Company will de-recognize both the then 
carrying values of the asset and financing obligation.

 Austin Office Lease

 In May 2016, the Company entered into a new office lease for approximately 38,000 square feet near Austin, Texas. The 
lease commenced in February 2017 and has a ten-year term. The Company has the option to extend the lease for two additional five-
year periods. The cumulative base rent over the initial lease term is approximately $9.9 million.

Lease Exit Costs

 In December 2015, the Company consolidated its Santa Monica, California office locations. In accordance with accounting 
for exit and disposal activities, the Company recognized a liability for lease exit costs incurred when it no longer derived economic 
benefit from the related leases. The liability was recognized and measured based on a discounted cash flow model when the cease use 
date occurred. The liability was determined based on the remaining lease rental due, reduced by estimated sublease rental income that 
could be reasonably obtained for the properties. The lease terms of the spaces exited expire in 2020. The liability is recorded in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities (current portion) and other liabilities (non-current portion) within the consolidated 
balance sheets. The costs are recorded in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. In 
2015, the Company recorded an initial $2.2 million in lease exit costs. In 2016 and 2017, the Company updated its estimates of 
sublease rental income for the spaces exited in December 2015 and recorded an additional expense of $3.1 million and a benefit of 
$0.1 million, respectively, in lease exit costs due to changes in the local commercial real estate market observed in 2016 and 2017. In 
2017, the Company completed subleasing the spaces. As of December 31, 2017, the Company recognized a total of $5.2 million in 
lease exit cost associated with these office locations. The Company does not expect to incur significant additional charges in future 
periods related to these exits. 

 The following table presents a roll forward of the lease exit liability for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in 
thousands):

Lease Exit Costs
Accrual at December 31, 2015 $ 1,988
Expense 3,065
Cash Payments (2,396)
Accrual at December 31, 2016 $ 2,657
Expense (133)
Cash Payments (1,170)
Accrual at December 31, 2017 $ 1,354
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Legal Proceedings

 From time to time, the Company may become subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary 
course of business. When the Company becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. 
In accordance with authoritative guidance, the Company records loss contingencies in its financial statements only for matters in 
which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Where a range of loss can be reasonably estimated with no best estimate in 
the range, the Company records the minimum estimated liability. If the loss is not probable or the amount of the loss cannot be 
reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the nature of the specific claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible 
and the amount involved is material. The Company continuously assesses the potential liability related to the Company’s pending 
litigation and revises its estimates when additional information becomes available. The Company is not currently a party to any 
material legal proceedings, other than as described below.

 On March 9, 2015, the Company was named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern 
District of New York (the “NY Lanham Act Litigation”). The complaint in the NY Lanham Act Litigation, purportedly filed on behalf 
of numerous automotive dealers who are not participating on the TrueCar platform, alleges that the Company has violated the Lanham 
Act as well as various state laws prohibiting unfair competition and deceptive acts or practices related to the Company’s advertising 
and promotional activities. The complaint seeks injunctive relief in addition to over $250 million in damages as a result of the alleged 
diversion of customers from the plaintiffs’ dealerships to TrueCar Certified Dealers. On April 7, 2015, the Company filed an answer to 
the complaint. Thereafter, the plaintiffs amended their complaint, and on July 13, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the 
amended complaint. On January 6, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the Company’s motion to dismiss with respect to 
some, but not all, of the advertising and promotional activities challenged in the amended complaint. Discovery in this matter has been 
completed, and the court has scheduled a hearing in April 2018 on the issue of the admissibility of testimony proffered by the 
plaintiffs’ expert. The Company believes that the portions of the amended complaint that survived the Company’s motion to dismiss 
are without merit, and it intends to vigorously defend itself in this matter. We have not recorded an accrual related to this matter as of 
December 31, 2017, as we do not believe a loss is probable or reasonably estimable. 

 On May 20, 2015, the Company was named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by the California New Car Dealers Association 
in the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles (the “CNCDA Litigation”). The complaint in the CNCDA Litigation sought 
declaratory and injunctive relief based on allegations that the Company was operating in the State of California as an unlicensed 
automobile dealer and autobroker. The complaint did not seek monetary relief. On July 20, 2015, the Company filed a “demurrer” to 
the complaint, which is a pleading that requests the court to dismiss the case. Thereafter, the plaintiffs amended their complaint, and 
on September 11, 2015, the Company filed a demurrer to the amended complaint. On December 7, 2015, the court granted the 
Company’s demurrer in its entirety, but afforded the CNCDA the opportunity to file a second amended complaint. The CNCDA filed a 
second amended complaint on January 4, 2016. The second amended complaint reiterated the claims in the prior complaints and added 
claims under theories based on the federal Lanham Act and California unfair competition law. On February 3, 2016, the Company 
filed a demurrer to the second amended complaint. On March 30, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the Company’s 
demurrer to the second amended complaint, dismissing the Lanham Act claim but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the 
demurrer stage of the litigation. On May 31, 2016, based on certain intervening developments in state law, the court announced that it 
would reconsider its March 30, 2016 order, and it invited the parties to file new briefs on the demurrer issues. On July 15, 2016, the 
court heard oral argument on reconsideration of the demurrer issues. On July 25, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the 
Company’s demurrer to the second amended complaint, just as it had done in its March 30, 2016 order. The litigation was previously 
scheduled for trial in August 2017. On April 3, 2017, the court indicated that the trial date would be postponed to a future date. On 
May 17, 2017, the court scheduled trial to begin on December 11, 2017. Prior to the commencement of trial, the parties entered into 
settlement negotiations, and on December 14, 2017, the parties entered into a binding Settlement Agreement and Release (the 
“CNCDA Settlement Agreement”) to fully resolve the litigation. Pursuant to the CNCDA Settlement Agreement, the litigation was 
dismissed with prejudice on December 21, 2017. In light of the full resolution of this matter pursuant to the CNCDA Settlement 
Agreement, the Company does not believe that an additional loss is probable.

 On December 23, 2015, the Company was named as a defendant in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Gordon Rose in 
the California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles. The complaint asserts claims for unjust enrichment, violation of the 
California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and Professions Code, based principally on factual 
allegations similar to those asserted in the NY Lanham Act Litigation and the CNCDA Litigation. The complaint seeks an award of 
unspecified damages, interest, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. In the complaint, the plaintiff seeks to represent a 
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class of California consumers defined as “[a]ll California consumers who purchased an automobile by using TrueCar, Inc.’s price 
certificate during the applicable statute of limitations.” On January 12, 2016, the court entered an order staying all proceedings in the 
case pending an initial status conference, which was previously scheduled for April 13, 2016. On March 16, 2016, the case was 
reassigned to a different judge. As a result of that reassignment, the initial status conference was rescheduled for and held on May 26, 
2016. By stipulation, the stay of discovery was continued until a second status conference, which was scheduled for October 12, 2016. 
On July 13, 2016, the plaintiff amended his complaint. The amended complaint continues to assert claims for unjust enrichment, 
violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, and violation of the California Business and Professions Code. The 
amended complaint retains the same proposed class definition as the initial complaint. Like the initial complaint, the amended 
complaint seeks an award of unspecified damages, punitive and exemplary damages, interest, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and 
attorneys’ fees. On September 12, 2016, the Company filed a demurrer to the amended complaint. On October 12, 2016, the court 
heard oral argument on the demurrer. On October 13, 2016, the court granted in part and denied in part the Company’s demurrer to the 
amended complaint, dismissing the unjust enrichment claim but declining to dismiss the balance of the claims at the demurrer stage of 
the litigation. At a status conference held on January 26, 2017, the court ruled that discovery could then proceed regarding matters 
related to class certification only. At a status conference held on July 25, 2017, the court set a deadline of January 8, 2018 for the filing 
of the plaintiff’s motion for class certification and provided that discovery could continue to proceed regarding matters related to class 
certification only at that time. Subsequently, the court extended to February 7, 2018 the deadline for the filing of plaintiff’s motion for 
class certification and for the completion of related discovery. On February 7, 2018, the plaintiff filed a motion for class certification. 
A hearing on the plaintiff’s class certification motion has been scheduled for May 25, 2018. The Company believes that the amended 
complaint is without merit, and it intends to vigorously defend itself in this matter. The Company has not recorded an accrual related 
to this matter as of December 31, 2017 as the Company does not believe a loss is probable or reasonably estimable.

 On June 30, 2017, the Company was named as a defendant in a putative class action lawsuit filed by Kip Haas in the U.S. 
District Court for the Central District of California. The complaint asserted claims for violation of the California Business and 
Professions Code, based principally on allegations of false and misleading advertising and unfair business practices. The complaint 
sought an award of unspecified damages, interest, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. In the complaint, the plaintiff sought to 
represent a class of consumers defined as “[a]ll consumers who, between the applicable statute of limitations and the present, obtained 
a TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price” and “[a]ll consumers, who, between the applicable statute of limitations and the present, obtained a 
TrueCar ‘guaranteed’ price pertaining to a vehicle located at Riverside Mazda.” On or around October 23, 2017, the parties reached an 
agreement in principle to settle this matter on an individual (non-classwide) basis in exchange for the payment of an immaterial 
amount to Mr. Haas. On November 27, 2017, the parties entered into a binding Confidential Settlement Agreement and Mutual 
Release (the “Haas Settlement Agreement”) on the same financial terms agreed to in principle on October 23, 2017. Thereafter, the 
Company fully satisfied the financial terms of the Haas Settlement Agreement, and pursuant to the Haas Settlement Agreement, the 
litigation was dismissed with prejudice on December 1, 2017. In light of the full resolution of this matter pursuant to the Haas 
Settlement Agreement, and except with respect to the above-noted immaterial payment, the Company does not believe that an 
additional loss is probable. 

 On October 18, 2017, the Company was named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Cox Automotive, Inc. ("Cox 
Automotive") in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in the County of Nassau (the “Cox Automotive Litigation”). As it relates 
to the Company, the complaint in the Cox Automotive Litigation seeks an award of unspecified damages, disgorgement, return of 
property taken or retained, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees. The complaint in the Cox Automotive Litigation alleges that the 
Company engaged in tortious interference with a contractual relationship between Cox Automotive and one of its former employees, 
among other claims against the former Cox Automotive employee, who is also named as a defendant in the lawsuit. On October 20, 
2017, the court granted a temporary restraining order prohibiting the Company from employing the former Cox Automotive employee 
pending the court’s ruling on the request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On November 13, 2017, oral 
argument was held on the request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On January 23, 2018, the court 
dissolved the temporary restraining order and denied the request by Cox Automotive for the entry of a preliminary injunction. On 
February 27, 2018, the parties filed a “stipulation of discontinuance,” which terminated the case. The Company was not required to 
make any monetary payment or provide any other consideration in exchange for the stipulation of discontinuance. In light of the 
termination of the litigation on this basis, the Company has not recorded an accrual related to this matter as of December 31, 2017, as 
the Company does not believe a loss is probable.
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Employment Contracts

 The Company has entered into employment contracts with certain executives of the Company. Employment under these 
contracts is at-will employment. However, under the provisions of the contracts, the Company would incur severance obligations of up 
to twelve months of the executive’s annual base salary for certain events, such as involuntary terminations. 

 In December 2015, pursuant to an executed separation agreement with the Company’s former CEO, the Company will pay its 
former CEO: (i) a 2015 bonus of $0.1 million; (ii) severance of approximately $0.5 million to be paid in approximately equal semi-
monthly payments through December 31, 2016; and (iii) an annual fee of $0.1 million for limited advisory services to the Company 
during the period from his termination date to May 2018. Additionally, the Company will continue to provide its former CEO health 
insurance benefits through the end of May 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded as severance costs of 
$0.9 million in general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for these 
obligations to the former CEO. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the remaining severance liability related to the former CEO was $0.1 
million and $0.2 million, respectively, and is included in the table below. 

 For the year ended December 31, 2015, in addition to its former CEO, the Company incurred severance costs totaling $2.5 
million for several executive-level employees who terminated their employment during the period. Of the total, the Company recorded 
$0.4 million in sales and marketing, $0.4 million in technology and development and $1.7 million in general and administrative 
expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2015. At December 
31, 2017 and 2016, there was no remaining severance liability related to these former executive-level employees.

 For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred severance costs totaling $1.8 million related to an executive 
who terminated during the year, and several other employees whose terminations related to a reorganization of the Company’s product 
and technology teams. The reorganization of the Company’s product and technology teams was necessary to better align the 
Company’s resources during its transition from multiple software platforms to a unified architecture. Of the total severance costs, the 
Company recorded $1.3 million in technology and development and $0.5 million in sales and marketing in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2017, there was no remaining 
severance liability related to these severance costs. At December 31, 2016, the remaining severance liability related to these severance 
costs was $0.2 million and is included in the table below. 

 The following table presents a roll forward of this severance liability for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in 
thousands):

Executive Severance and
Reorganization Costs

Accrual at December 31, 2015 $ 2,803
Severance Costs 1,783
Cash Payments (4,215)
Accrual at December 31, 2016 $ 371
Cash Payments (308)
Accrual at December 31, 2017 $ 63

Indemnifications

 In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, 
vendors, lessors, investors, directors, officers, employees, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited 
to, losses arising out of the Company’s breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company, or from intellectual 
property infringement claims made by third-parties. These indemnifications may survive termination of the underlying agreement and 
the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions 
may not be subject to maximum loss provisions. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required 
to make under these indemnification provisions is indeterminable. To date, there has not been a material claim paid by the Company, 
nor has the Company been sued in connection with these indemnification arrangements. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company has not accrued a liability for these guarantees, because the likelihood of incurring a payment obligation, if any, in 
connection with these guarantees is not probable or reasonably estimable.



Table of Contents

TrueCar, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

F-27

Purchase Obligations

 At December 31, 2017, the Company had the following purchase obligations (in thousands):

 

  Total Less Than 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years
More Than 5

Years

Purchase obligations $ 5,654 $ 3,226 $ 2,428 $ — $ —

 

 Purchase obligations include long-term agreements to purchase data information, software related licenses and support 
services, and other obligations that are enforceable and legally binding as of December 31, 2017. Purchase obligations exclude 
agreements that are cancelable without penalty.
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7. Stockholders’ Equity

Follow-on Public Offering

 On January 19, 2017, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 under which the Company may, from 
time to time, sell securities up to a total dollar amount of $100 million, and selling stockholders may sell, from time to time, up to 20 
million of shares of common stock (“2017 Shelf Registration”). The 2017 Shelf Registration was declared effective by the SEC on 
February 6, 2017. 

 On April 26, 2017, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement to sell up to 1,150,000 shares of its common stock 
at $16.50 per share in a public offering (including shares subject to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares). The 
Company sold 1,150,000 shares in the offering with aggregate net proceeds to the Company of $17.4 million, net of underwriting 
discounts and commissions and offering costs of $1.6 million. Selling stockholders party to the underwriting agreement also sold an 
aggregate of 9,200,000 shares of common stock in the offering (including shares subject to the underwriters' option to purchase 
additional shares). The Company did not receive any proceeds from the shares sold by the selling stockholders. The offering closed on 
May 2, 2017.

Warrants Issued to USAA

 In May 2014, the Company extended our affinity group marketing agreement with USAA, the largest affinity partner and a 
significant stockholder of the Company. As part of the agreement, on May 1, 2014, the Company issued to USAA a warrant to 
purchase 1,458,979 shares of the Company’s common stock, which will be exercisable in two tranches. The first tranche of 392,313 
shares has an exercise price of $7.95 per share and the second tranche of 1,066,666 shares has an exercise price of $15.00 per share. 
The warrant becomes exercisable based on the achievement of performance milestones based on the level of vehicle sales of USAA 
members through the Company’s auto buying platforms. The warrant terminates on the earlier of (i) the eighth anniversary of the date 
of issuance, (ii) the first anniversary of the termination of the USAA car-buying program, or (iii) the date on which the Company no 
longer operates the USAA car-buying program. In addition, the agreement provides for the Company to spend marketing program 
funds with the actual level of marketing spend to be mutually agreed upon by USAA and the Company, subject to limits based on the 
number of actual vehicle sales generated through the affinity group marketing program (Note 12).

 For the year ended December 31, 2017, there was no warrant expense recognized. For the years ended December 31, 2016 
and 2015, the Company recognized expense of $0.1 million and $0.2 million related to warrants to purchase 10,666 shares and 71,330 
shares of common stock that have been earned and are vested, respectively. The fair value of the warrants was based on the following 
assumptions using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015

Risk-free interest rate 1.13% to 1.98% 1.51% to 2.03%
Contractual life (years) 5.3 to 6.3 6.3 to 7.2
Expected volatility 46.7% to 48.8% 47.8% to 54.2%
Dividend yield — —

 At December 31, 2017, there were 509,642 warrants that were earned and outstanding with an additional 949,337 remaining 
warrants that is available for issuance upon achievement of minimum performance milestones.

Warrants Issued to Third Party Marketing Firm

 On February 25, 2011, the Company entered into a media and marketing services agreement with a direct marketing firm. 
Under the arrangement, the marketing firm will provide media purchasing, production, advertising, and marketing services in 
connection with the advertising and marketing of the Company’s services. In addition to cash consideration, the Company agreed to 
issue a warrant to the marketing firm to purchase up to 1,433,333 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $6.02 per share. 
The warrant expires eight years from the issuance date and as of December 31, 2014, all warrants have been earned and issued to the 
marketing firm. In March 2015, the warrant to purchase 1,433,333 shares of the Company’s common stock was exercised through a 
net settlement election. The Company issued 959,676 shares of its common stock to the third party marketing firm.
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Warrants Issued to Service Provider

 In May 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with an individual to provide marketing services to the 
Company. The Company agreed to issue a warrant to the individual to purchase up to 333,333 shares of the Company’s common stock 
at a price of $12.81 per share. All shares under the warrant agreement become exercisable in accordance with the vesting schedule 
over a four year period. The warrant expires five years from the issuance date or, if earlier, twelve months following the termination of 
the consulting agreement. In December 2015, the Company terminated the consulting agreement and the unvested warrants to 
purchase an aggregate of 187,500 shares of common stock were canceled. Upon termination, 145,833 of the warrants had vested and 
were outstanding at December 31, 2015. The warrant expired unexercised in December 2016.

 For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded the fair value of the warrant based on the following 
assumptions using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model: contractual life of 1.0 to 4.0 years, risk free rate of 0.52% to 1.28%, and 
volatility of 44.1% to 48.9%.

 For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a reduction in warrant expense of $1.0 million due to the 
remeasurement to fair value of the unvested shares through the vesting date, which was primarily related to the reduction in the 
Company’s stock price. The reduction in expense has been reflected as a reduction to sales and marketing expense on the 
accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. For the year ended December 31, 2015, warrants earned under this 
agreement totaled 112,500 shares. 

Reserve for Unissued Shares of Common Stock

 The Company is required to reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares of common stock such 
number of shares sufficient for the exercise of all outstanding warrants, plus shares granted and available for grant under the 
Company’s equity incentive plans.

 The amount of such shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for these purposes at December 31, 2017 is as follows:

  Number of Shares

Outstanding stock options 16,714,216
Outstanding restricted stock units 4,284,438
Outstanding common stock warrants 1,458,979
Additional shares available for grant under equity plan 2,323,819

Total 24,781,452
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8. Stock-based Awards

 The Company has four equity incentive plans: the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Plan (the “2005 Plan”), the 2008 Stock 
Plan (the “2008 Plan”), the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), and the 2015 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (the 
“Inducement Plan”). In connection with the Company’s IPO in May 2014, the 2005 Plan and the 2008 Plan were terminated. Upon the 
Company’s IPO in May 2014, the shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan include (i) shares that have been reserved but not 
issued pursuant to any awards granted under the 2005 Plan, plus (ii) shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under 
the 2005 Plan or the 2008 Plan that, after the registration date, expire or terminate without having been exercised in full and shares 
issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2005 Plan or the 2008 Plan are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company. In addition, 
the shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan include an annual increase on January 1 of each year equal to the least of: (i) 
10,000,000 shares; (ii) 5% of the total outstanding shares of TrueCar common stock as of the last day of the previous fiscal year; or, 
(iii) such other amount as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2017, the total number of shares 
available under the 2014 Plan was 2,323,819 shares. In accordance with the evergreen provision, effective January 1, 2018, an 
additional 5,021,432 shares of common stock was authorized to be issued under the 2014 Plan. Under the Inducement Plan, there were 
1,840,000 shares of common stock reserved for the issuance of nonqualified stock options. In December 2015, in conjunction with the 
hiring of the Company’s new president and CEO, the Company granted a stock option to purchase 1,840,000 shares of the Company’s 
common stock under the Inducement Plan that vest over a four year period and expire ten years from the date of grant. There are no 
shares available for future issuance as of December 31, 2015 under the Inducement Plan.

 Under the 2014 Plan, the Company has the ability to issue incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted 
stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units, and performance shares. Stock options granted under the 
2014 Plan must at least equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Stock options granted 
generally vest monthly over a four year period and expire ten years from the date of grant. Restricted stock units generally vest 
quarterly over a four to five year period.

Stock Options

 A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:

 
Number of

Options

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value (1)

    (in years) (in millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2016 24,541,512 $ 8.29 5.5  
Granted 4,846,453 18.38    
Exercised (11,650,950) 6.31    
Canceled/forfeited (1,022,799) 10.49    

Outstanding at December 31, 2017 16,714,216 $ 12.46 7.7 $ 21.7
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2017 16,714,216 $ 12.46 7.7 $ 21.7
Exercisable at December 31, 2017 8,005,880 $ 10.73 6.5 $ 13.5

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value represents the excess of the closing price of the Company’s common stock of $11.20 on 
December 31, 2017 over the exercise price of in-the-money stock option awards.

 
 At December 31, 2017, total remaining stock-based compensation expense for unvested option awards, including 
performance-based stock option awards, was $53.2 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 
years. 
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 The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 
2015 was $8.77, $4.50 and $4.76, respectively. The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense for stock option awards of 
$17.3 million, $14.8 million and $34.0 million, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

 The total intrinsic value of options exercised in 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $120.4 million, $8.5 million, and $19.2 million, 
respectively. 

Restricted Stock Units

 Activity in connection with restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is as follows for the year ended December 31, 2017:

 
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Non-vested — December 31, 2016 4,339,320 $ 7.85
Granted 2,086,878 18.26
Vested (1,681,447) 9.60
Canceled/forfeited (460,313) 10.10

Non-vested — December 31, 2017 4,284,438 $ 11.99
 

 The total fair market value of restricted stock units that vested for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015 was $25.6 
million, $11.8 million, and $6.5 million, respectively.

 The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 was 
$18.26, $7.37, and $8.17, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, the Company recorded $14.9 million, 
$9.9 million, and $8.6 million in compensation expense, respectively. At December 31, 2017, total remaining stock-based 
compensation expense for non-vested RSUs is $48.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
2.9 years. 

Modifications

 In November 2015, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors authorized the modification of equity awards in 
connection with the separation of the Company’s former CEO. In accordance with the terms of the separation agreement, the 
Company paid $0.1 million for the surrender and cancellation of options the former CEO holds to purchase 1,333,332 shares of the 
Company’s common stock with a weighted-average exercise price of $45.00. Additionally, under a limited advisory services 
arrangement, the former CEO will also continue to vest in his remaining options, covering 1,401,553 shares, and 154,088 remaining 
restricted stock units until May 2018. Although these awards continue to vest, no substantive additional service is required by the 
former CEO. As a result of this modification, the Company recognized $7.7 million in additional stock-based compensation expense 
for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

 In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company accelerated the vesting of stock options to purchase 337,111 shares of common 
stock and 48,113 RSUs to four former executives. Additionally, the Company extended the exercise period of all vested stock options 
to these former executives. As a result of these modifications, the Company recognized additional stock compensation expense of $3.0 
million for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

 In December 2015, the Company’s former President and current member of its Board of Directors agreed to surrender and 
forfeit unvested options to purchase 309,722 shares of the Company’s common stock with a weighted-average exercise price of 
$13.17. The Company’s former President will continue to vest in his remaining unvested options covering 252,431 shares and 57,679 
remaining RSUs, subject to his continued service as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. As a result of this forfeiture, the 
Company recognized additional stock compensation expense of $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
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Valuation Assumptions and Stock-based Compensation Cost

 The fair value of stock options granted to employees is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. This valuation model requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation, 
including the expected term, the volatility of the Company’s common stock, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividends. The 
Company uses the simplified method under the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, to calculate expected 
term for plain vanilla share options. For performance-based option awards and out of the money option grants, the Company 
determines the expected term based upon historical exercise and post-vesting cancellations, adjusted for expected future exercise 
behavior. The Company’s computation of volatility is based on an average of the historical volatilities of the common stock of several 
entities with characteristics similar to those of the Company. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in 
effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the option. The Company uses an expected dividend of 
zero, as it does not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. 

 The fair value of each stock option award was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 
the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Risk-free interest rate 1.89% 1.32% 1.66%
Expected term (years) 6.25 5.96 6.03
Expected volatility 47% 49% 49%
Dividend yield — — —

 
 As a result of the Company’s early adoption of the revised share-based payment guidance in 2016, forfeitures are recognized 
as they occur. Prior to the adoption of this guidance, forfeitures were estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in 
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

 The Company recorded stock-based compensation cost relating to stock options, restricted stock awards, and RSUs in the 
following categories on the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015
Cost of revenue $ 1,105 $ 960 $ 792
Sales and marketing 10,353 5,837 4,493
Technology and development 8,060 4,398 4,294
General and administrative 12,723 13,544 32,984

Total stock-based compensation expense 32,241 24,739 42,563
Amount capitalized to internal-use software 1,407 1,012 1,325

Total stock-based compensation cost $ 33,648 $ 25,751 $ 43,888  
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9. Income Taxes

 The components of the Company’s income tax provision (benefit) are as follows (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015
Current:      

Federal $ — $ — $ —
State 18 74 25

Total current provision 18 74 25
Deferred:      

Federal 410 547 547
State 40 34 34
Tax Act impact (2,632) — —

Total deferred (benefit) provision (2,182) 581 581
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ (2,164) $ 655 $ 606

 
 The Tax Act was enacted on December 22, 2017, and has several key provisions impacting accounting for and reporting of 
income taxes. The most significant provisions applicable to the Company include the reduction of the U.S. corporate statutory tax rate 
from 35% to 21%, the limitations on net operating losses (“NOLs”) generated after December 31, 2017 to 80% of taxable income, and 
the indefinite carryforward period applicable to NOLs generated after December 31, 2017. Although most provisions of the Tax Act 
are not effective until January 1, 2018, the Company is required to record the effect of a change in tax law in the period of enactment 
(2017).

 The 2017 income tax benefit of $2.2 million included a $2.6 million impact from the change in tax law. Of the $2.6 million 
Tax Act impact, $1.2 million results from the remeasurement of our U.S. federal deferred tax assets and liabilities at the tax rate 
expected to apply when the temporary differences are realized/settled (remeasured at a rate of 21% versus 34% for the majority of our 
deferred tax assets and liabilities) and $1.4 million results from the decrease in valuation allowance associated with the partial 
recognition of the Company’s tax-deductible goodwill amortization as an available source of income to realize deferred tax assets. 

 The Company has obtained and analyzed all necessary information to record the effect of the change in tax law, and do not 
anticipate reporting additional tax effects in the future. However, should the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) issue further guidance 
or interpretation of relevant aspects of the new tax law, the Company may adjust these amounts.

 Our 2016, and 2015 income tax provisions of $0.7 million, and $0.6 million, respectively, primarily reflect the amortization 
of tax-deductible goodwill that is not an available source of income to realize deferred tax assets. 

 The overall effective income tax rate differs from the statutory federal rate of 34% as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015
Income tax benefit based on the federal statutory rate 34.0% 34.0 % 34.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 9.4 3.2 2.4
Nondeductible expenses (1.2) (1.7) (0.3)
Change in valuation allowance, excluding Tax Act impact (130.0) (33.0) (30.7)
Stock-based compensation 86.5 (4.1) (6.4)
Tax Act impact 7.5 — —
Other — — 0.1
Overall effective income tax rate 6.2% (1.6)% (0.9)%
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 The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands):

  December 31,
  2017 2016

Deferred income tax assets:    
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 99,551 $ 95,342
Stock-based compensation 11,854 25,278
Accrued expenses 1,878 3,338
Research and development tax credits 568 543
Other 271 371

Gross deferred tax assets 114,122 124,872
Valuation allowance (107,046) (115,689)
Net deferred tax assets 7,076 9,183

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Property, equipment and software (3,540) (5,424)
Intangible assets and goodwill (4,348) (6,753)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (7,888) (12,177)

Total net deferred tax liabilities $ (812) $ (2,994)
 

 The net deferred tax liability at December 31, 2017 and 2016 relates to amortization of tax-deductible goodwill that is not an 
available source of income to realize deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the net deferred tax liability does not reduce the need for a 
valuation allowance related to the Company’s net deferred tax assets.

 At December 31, 2017, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $393.6 million and $247.5 
million, respectively. The Company’s federal and state net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in the years ending 
December 31, 2025 and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2017, the Company had federal and state research and development tax 
credit carryforwards of approximately $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The federal tax credit carryforwards begin to expire 
in the year ending December 31, 2028. The state tax credit carryforward can be carried forward indefinitely.

 The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses 
and other tax attributes in the event of an “ownership change” of a corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use pre-change net 
operating loss and research tax credits may be limited as prescribed under IRC Sections 382 and 383. Events which may cause 
limitation in the amount of the net operating losses and credits that the Company utilizes in any one year include, but are not limited 
to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. As a result of historical equity issuances, the Company 
has determined that annual limitations on the utilization of its net operating losses and credits do exist pursuant to IRC Sections 382 
and 383, however, such limitations are not expected to impact the Company’s ability to utilize these deferred tax assets prior to their 
statutory expiration dates.

 Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be 
generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss 
incurred over the three-year period ended December 31, 2017. Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective 
evidence such as its projections for future growth. On the basis of this evaluation, at December 31, 2017, a valuation allowance of 
$107.0 million has been recorded since it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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 The change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 is as follows (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Valuation allowance, at beginning of year $ 115,689 $ 84,167 $ 64,449
Increase in valuation allowance- share-based compensation guidance impact — 17,959 —
Valuation allowance, at beginning of year, as adjusted $ 115,689 $ 102,126 $ 64,449
Increase in valuation allowance, excluding Tax Act impact 45,512 13,563 19,718
Decrease in valuation allowance - federal tax rate change (52,757) — —
Release of valuation allowance due to the Tax Act (1,398) — —
Valuation allowance, at end of year $ 107,046 $ 115,689 $ 84,167

 
 The $1.4 million release of valuation allowance pertains to the partial recognition of the Company’s tax-deductible goodwill 
amortization as an available source of income to realize deferred tax assets due to the NOL provisions of the Tax Act. 

 The following is a reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Unrecognized tax benefit, beginning of year $ 3 $ 3 $ 46
Additions based on current year tax positions — —
Additions for prior years’ tax positions 1 — —
Settlements with tax authorities (7) — (13)
Reductions for prior years’ tax positions — (30)
Unrecognized tax benefit, end of year $ (3) $ 3 $ 3

 
 The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, in the income tax 
provision. At December 31, 2017, no interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions have been accrued. The Company does 
not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months.

 The Company is subject to United States federal and state taxation. Due to the presence of net operating loss carryforwards, 
all income tax years remain open for examination by the IRS and various state taxing authorities. During 2017, the Company settled 
an income tax examination for the 2013 and 2014 tax years, for an immaterial assessment. The Company is not currently under IRS or 
state tax examination.
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10. Net Loss Per Share

 The Company applies the two-class method for calculating basic earnings per share. Under the two-class method, net income 
(loss) is reduced by cumulative preferred stock dividends and the residual amount is allocated between common stock and other 
participating securities based on their participation rights. Participating securities comprised of restricted common stock, which 
participate in dividends, if declared, by the Company. As the Company has reported a net loss for all periods, and the participating 
securities were not contractually obligated to share in the losses of the Company, accordingly, no losses were allocated to the 
participating securities.

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding, net of the weighted average unvested restricted stock subject to repurchase by 
the Company, if any, during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to 
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive 
common stock, which are comprised of stock options, restricted stock units and stock warrants, using the treasury-stock method, and 
convertible preferred stock, using the if-converted method. Because the Company reported losses attributable to common stockholders 
for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive common stock are antidilutive for those periods.

 The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders 
during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands, except per share data):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Net loss $ (32,849) $ (41,708) $ (64,911)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 94,865 84,483 81,914
Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (0.35) $ (0.49) $ (0.79)

 
 The following table presents the number of anti-dilutive shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

  December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Options to purchase common stock 16,714 24,542 24,278
Common stock warrants 1,459 1,459 1,631
Unvested restricted stock awards 4,284 4,339 3,747

Total shares excluded from net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders 22,457 30,340 29,656

11. Employee Benefit Plan

 The Company has a 401(k) Savings Retirement Plan that covers substantially all full-time employees who meet the plan’s 
eligibility requirements and provides for an employee elective contribution. The Company made matching contributions to the plan of 
$2.3 million, $2.1 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.
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12. Related Party Transactions

Service Provider

 From October 2013 to October 2015, an executive officer of the Company was an officer of a firm that provided marketing 
services to the Company. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded sales and marketing expense of $6.8 million 
for expenses paid to this marketing firm. 

Transactions with USAA

 USAA is a large stockholder in the Company and the Company's most significant affinity marketing partner. The Company 
has entered into arrangements with USAA to operate its Auto Buying Program. The Company has amounts due from USAA at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively. In addition, the Company has amounts due to USAA at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $3.3 million and $3.9 million, respectively. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, $3.2 million and $2.9 
million was included in accounts payable, respectively, while $0.1 million and $1.0 million was included in accrued expenses and 
other current liabilities, respectively. The Company recorded sales and marketing expense of $16.5 million, $13.9 million, and $14.0 
million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, related to service arrangements entered into with USAA, 
including non-cash expense associated with warrants to purchase shares of common stock (Note 7).

13. Revenue Information

 The CODM reviews financial information on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about transaction revenue 
and forecasts, consulting and other revenue. The following table presents the Company’s revenue categories during the periods 
presented (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,
  2017 2016 2015

Transaction revenue $ 303,840 $ 259,516 $ 241,395
Forecasts, consulting and other revenue 19,309 17,991 18,443

Total revenues $ 323,149 $ 277,507 $ 259,838
 



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S 8 (No. 333-222684, No. 
333-215615, No. 333-209328, No. 333-202116 and No. 333-196017) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-215614) of TrueCar, Inc. of 
our report dated February 28, 2018 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, which appears in this Form 10 K.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 28, 2018 



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to

Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to

Securities 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Chip Perry, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TrueCar, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and  procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2018
 
/s/ Chip Perry
Chip Perry
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to

Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to

Securities 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, John Pierantoni, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TrueCar, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and  procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2018
 
/s/ John Pierantoni
John Pierantoni
Interim Chief Financial Officer & Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer & Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of TrueCar, Inc. (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for 
the period ended December 31, 2017, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), Chip Perry, 
as Chief Executive Officer, and John Pierantoni,  as Interim Chief Financial Officer, of the Company, each hereby certifies, 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350), to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company.

 

Date: February 28, 2018 By: /s/ Chip Perry
 Chip Perry

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 28, 2018 By: /s/ John Pierantoni
John Pierantoni

Interim Chief Financial Officer & Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer & Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 10.15

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this 
“Amendment”) is entered into as of February 28, 2018, and deemed effective as of February 18, 2018, by 
and between Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) and TrueCar, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“TrueCar”), 
TrueCar.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“TrueCar.com”), and ALG, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ALG 
and together with TrueCar and TrueCar.com, individually and collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrower”), 
whose address is 120 Broadway, Suite 200, Santa Monica, CA 90401.

Recitals

A. Bank and Borrower have entered into that certain Third Amended and Restated Loan and 
Security Agreement dated as of February 18, 2015 (as the same may from time to time be amended, modified, 
supplemented or restated, the “Loan Agreement”).  

B. Bank has extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.  

C. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement to (i) extend the maturity date, 
(ii) modify the financial covenants, and (iii) make certain other revisions to the Loan Agreement as more 
fully set forth herein.

D. Bank has agreed to so amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, 
in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties 
set forth below.

Agreement

Now, Therefore, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties 
hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the 
meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.

2. Amendments to Loan Agreement.

2.1 Section 6.6 (Operating Accounts).  Section 6.6(a) is amended by deleting it in its 
entirety and replacing it with the following:

“(a) Maintain its primary and its Subsidiaries’ primary operating and other deposit accounts 
and securities accounts with Bank or Bank’s Affiliates which accounts shall represent at least 
seventy percent (70%) of the dollar value of Borrower’s and such Subsidiaries’ accounts at 
all financial institutions; provided that if Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ operating and other 
deposit accounts and securities accounts with Bank or Bank’s Affiliates fall below such seventy 
percent (70%) requirement then Borrower shall promptly notify Bank in writing and shall 
have five (5) Business Days from the date of such notice to cause Borrower’s and its 



Subsidiaries’ operating and other deposit accounts and securities accounts with Bank or Bank’s 
Affiliates to be equal to or above such seventy percent (70%) requirement.”

2.2 Section 6.7 (Financial Covenants).  Section 6.7(a) is amended in its entirety and 
replaced with the following:

a. Maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio. A Consolidated Leverage Ratio, 
measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, not to exceed (i) as of the last day of each fiscal 
quarter ending after the Effective Date and on or prior to March 31, 2020, 3.00 to 1.00, and (ii) as of 
the last day of each fiscal quarter ending on or after April 1, 2020, 2.50 to 1.00.

2.3 Section 7.7 (Distributions; Investments.) Section 7.7(a)(iii) is amended in its entirety 
and replaced with the following:

(iii) Borrower may pay dividends, make distributions or payments, or redeem, retire or purchase any 
of its capital stock, including  repurchasing the stock of former employees or consultants pursuant to 
stock repurchase agreements, so long as, in each case, (A) an Event of Default does not exist at the 
time of any such action and would not exist after giving effect to any such action and (B) Borrower’s 
Adjusted Quick Ratio is, immediately prior to and after giving effect to any such action, at least 1.75 
to 1.00; 

2.4 Section 13 (Definitions).  Clause (b)(ii) of the definition of “Permitted Acquisitions” 
is amended in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(ii) Borrower’s Adjusted Quick Ratio is, immediately prior to such acquisition, and measured on a 
pro forma basis after giving effect to such acquisition, at least 1.75 to 1.00;

2.5 Section 13 (Definitions).  Clause (b)(iii) of the definition of “Permitted Acquisitions” 
is deleted in its entirety and the subsequent clauses (b)(iv), (b)(v), (b)(vi), and (b)(vii) are relabeled (b)(iii), 
(b)(iv), (b)(v), and (b)(vi) accordingly.

2.6 Section 13 (Definitions).  The following terms and their respective definitions set 
forth in Section 13.1 are amended in their entirety and replaced with the following: 

“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” is measured on a trailing twelve (12) month basis for the 
trailing twelve (12) month period ending on the date of determination and is the ratio of (a) (i) TrueCar’s 
Adjusted EBITDA, minus (ii) Borrower’s cash income taxes for such period, minus (iii) Borrower’s 
capital expenditures for such period, to (b) (i) Borrower’s cash interest payments for such period. 

“Revolving Line Maturity Date” is the date three (3) years from the First Amendment Date.

2.7 Section 13 (Definitions).  The following term and its definition are added to 
Section 13.1, in appropriate alphabetical order, as follows:

“First Amendment Date” is February 18, 2018.

2.8 Exhibit C (Compliance Certificate).  Exhibit C to the Loan Agreement is amended 
in its entirety and replaced with Exhibit C attached hereto.

3. Limitation of Amendments.



3.1 The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth 
herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, 
waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any 
right or remedy which Bank may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan 
Document.

3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan 
Documents and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the 
Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force 
and effect.

4. Representations and Warranties.  To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Borrower 
hereby represents and warrants to Bank as follows:

4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and 
warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of 
the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which 
case they are true and correct in all material respects as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred 
and is continuing;

4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to 
perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment;

4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower most recently delivered to Bank remain 
true, accurate and complete and have not been amended, supplemented or restated and are and continue to 
be in full force and effect;

4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by 
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, have been duly 
authorized; 

4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by 
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not and will not 
contravene (a) any material law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (b) any material contractual 
restriction with a Person binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other 
governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, or (d) the 
organizational documents of Borrower; 

4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by 
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not require any 
order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or 
exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, 
except as already has been obtained or made; and

4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding 
obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as such 
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or other 
similar laws of general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.

5. Integration.  This Amendment and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about 
this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or agreements.  All prior agreements, understandings, 



representations, warranties, and negotiations between the parties about the subject matter of this Amendment 
and the Loan Documents merge into this Amendment and the Loan Documents.

6. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of 
such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

7. Effectiveness.  This Amendment shall be deemed effective as of February 18, 2018 upon (a) 
the due execution and delivery to Bank of this Amendment by each party hereto, and (b) payment of Bank’s 
legal fees and expenses in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Amendment.

[Signature page follows.]
 

 



In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered 
as of the date first written above.

BANK BORROWER
Silicon Valley Bank

By:  /s/ Frank O'Brien
Name:  Frank O'Brien
Title:  Vice President

TrueCar, Inc.

By:  /s/ John Pierantoni
Name:  John Pierantoni
Title:  Interim Chief Financial Officer & 
Chief Accounting Officer

TrueCar.com, Inc.

By:  /s/ John Pierantoni
Name:  John Pierantoni
Title:  Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer

ALG, Inc.

By:  /s/ John Pierantoni
Name:  John Pierantoni
Title:  Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to First Amendment to
Third Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement]



EXHIBIT C

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

TO: SILICON VALLEY BANK      Date:   ______________   
FROM:  TrueCar, Inc., TRUECAR.com, Inc. and ALG, Inc.

The undersigned authorized officer of TrueCar, Inc., on behalf of TrueCar, Inc., TrueCar.com, Inc. and ALG, Inc. 
(individually and collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrower”) certifies that under the terms and conditions of the Third Amended 
and Restated Loan and Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank (the “Agreement”):

(1) Borrower is in complete compliance for the period ending _______________ with all required covenants except as 
noted below; (2) there are no Events of Default; (3) all representations and warranties in the Agreement are true and correct in all 
material respects on this date except as noted below; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to 
any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further 
that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and to the best of Borrower’s 
knowledge, complete in all material respects as of such date; (4) Borrower, and each of its Subsidiaries, has timely filed all required 
material tax returns and reports, and Borrower has timely paid all material foreign, federal, state and local taxes, assessments, 
deposits and contributions owed by Borrower except as otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of Section 5.9 of the Agreement; 
and (5) no Liens have been levied or claims made against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries relating to unpaid employee payroll 
or benefits of which Borrower has not previously provided written notification to Bank.  

Attached are the required documents supporting the certification.  The undersigned certifies that the attached financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied from one period to the next except as explained in an 
accompanying letter or footnotes and except, in the cases of unaudited financial statements for the absence of footnotes and subject 
to year-end adjustments.  The undersigned acknowledges that no borrowings may be requested at any time or date of determination 
that Borrower is not in compliance with any of the terms of the Agreement, and that compliance is determined not just at the date 
this certificate is delivered.  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the 
Agreement.

Please indicate compliance status by circling Yes/No under “Complies” column.

Reporting Covenant Required Complies

Quarterly financial statements with 
Compliance Certificate

Quarterly within 45 days for Q1
through Q3 and within 60 days for Q4 Yes   No
Within 5 days after filing with SEC Yes   No

Annual Financial Projections Within 60 days after FYE   Yes   No
Accounts at Bank or Bank’s Affiliates 85% of all accounts

The following Intellectual Property was registered (or a registration application submitted) since the date of the last 
Compliance Certificate delivered pursuant to Section 6.2(b) (if no registrations, state “None”)
___________________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________________



Financial Covenant Required Actual Complies

Maintain on a Quarterly Basis*:
Maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio:

Effective Date through 3/31/20 3.00:1.00 _____:1.00 Yes   No
4/1/20 and thereafter 2.50:1.00 _____:1.00 Yes   No

Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio: 1.25:1.00 _____:1.00 Yes   No

* Only required if Borrower’s Adjusted Quick Ratio is less than 1.50 to 1.00.

Performance Pricing; Unused Line Fee Applies

LIBOR + 1.75%; Prime - 0.25%; No Unused Line Fee Yes   No
LIBOR + 2.25%; Prime + 0.25%; Unused Line Fee = 0.15% Yes   No

AQR < 1.00:1.00 LIBOR + 2.50%; Prime + 0.50%; Unused Line Fee = 0.20% Yes   No

 The following financial calculations and covenant analyses and information set forth in Schedule 1 attached hereto are 
true and accurate as of the date of this Certificate.

 The following are the exceptions with respect to the certification above:  (If no exceptions exist, state “No exceptions 
to note.”)

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

TrueCar, Inc.
TrueCar.com, Inc.
ALG, Inc.

By: _________________________
Name: _________________________
Title: _________________________

BANK USE ONLY

Received by: _____________________
AUTHORIZED SIGNER

Date: _________________________

Verified: ________________________
AUTHORIZED SIGNER

Date: _________________________

Compliance Status:         Yes     No



Schedule 1 to Compliance Certificate

Financial Covenants of Borrower

 In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the Loan Agreement, the terms of the Loan Agreement shall 
govern.

Dated: ____________________

I. Adjusted Quick Ratio (This is not a financial covenant but is used to determine pricing, the Unused Revolving Line 
   Facility Fee, and whether the financial covenants apply)

Required: See below

Actual:  _____:1.00

A. Aggregate value of the unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of Borrower $________
B. Aggregate value of the net billed accounts receivable of Borrower $________
C. Quick Assets (the sum of lines A and B) $________
D. Aggregate value of Obligations to Bank $________
E. Aggregate value of liabilities that should, under GAAP, be classified as liabilities on Borrower’s

consolidated balance sheet, including all Indebtedness (including, without limitation, issued and
outstanding Letters of Credit), and not otherwise reflected in line D above that matures within
one (1) year $________

F. Current Liabilities (the sum of lines D and E) $________
G. Adjusted Quick Ratio (line C divided by line F) ____:1.00

Is line G equal to or greater than 1.50:1:00?

– LIBOR + 1.75%; Prime - 0.25%; No Unused Line Fee; Financial covenants do not apply

Is line G less than 1.50:1:00 but equal to or greater than 1.00:1.00?

– LIBOR + 2.25%; Prime + 0.25%; Unused Line Fee = 0.15%; Financial covenants apply

Is line G less than 1.00:1:00?

– LIBOR + 2.50%; Prime - 0.50%; Unused Line Fee = 0.20%; Financial covenants apply

II. Consolidated Leverage Ratio (Section 6.7(a)) (Only required if AQR < 1.50:1.00)

Maximum: 3.00:1.00 (from the Effective Date through March 31, 2020)
  2.50:1.00 (from and after April 1, 2020)

Actual:  _____:1.00



A. Funded Indebtedness, plus, without duplication, all issued and outstanding Letters of Credit and
all earn-out obligations (under GAAP) in connection with Permitted Acquisitions $________

B. Net Income of Borrower for the trailing 12 months most recently ended $________
C. To the extent included in the determination of Net Income $________

1.          The provision for income taxes $________
2.          Depreciation expense $________
3.          Amortization expense $________
4.          Net Interest Expense $________
5.          Stock based compensation expense $________
6.          Non-cash warrant expenses, impairment charges and other one-time non-cash expenses
approved by Bank $________
7.          The sum of lines 1 through 6 $________

D. Trailing 12-Month Adjusted EBITDA (line B plus line C.7) $________
E. Consolidated Leverage Ratio (line A divided by line D) ____:1.00

Is line E less than or equal to the appropriate amount set forth above?

 _______   No, not in compliance     _______   Yes, in compliance

III. Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (Section 6.7(b)) (Only required if AQR < 1.50:1.00)

Required: 1.25:100

Actual:  _____:1.00

A. Value of Line II.D (Trailing 12-Month Adjusted EBITDA) $________
B. Trailing 12-month cash income taxes paid $________
C. Trailing 12-month capital expenditures $________
D. Line A minus line B minus line C $________
E. Trailing 12-month cash interest payments $________
F. Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (line D divided by line E) ____:1.00

Is line G equal to or greater than 1.25:1.00?

 _______   No, not in compliance     _______   Yes, in compliance



EXHIBIT 10.28

TRUECAR, INC. 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of February 28, 2017 (the “Effective Date”) 
by and between TrueCar, Inc. (the “Company”), and Michael Darrow (“Executive” and, together with the Company, 
the “Parties”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to retain the services of Executive and Executive wishes to be employed 
by the Company on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recital and the respective undertakings of the Company 
and Executive set forth below, the Company and Executive agree as follows:

1. Duties and Obligations.

(a) Duties and Scope of Employment. As of March 1, 2017 (the “Start Date”), Executive will 
serve as Executive Vice President, OEM Development of the Company reporting directly to the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer (the “CEO”). Executive will have the authority generally allowed to persons discharging the duties 
of such position. Executive will render such business and professional services in the performance of his duties, 
consistent with Executive’s position within the Company, as will reasonably be assigned to him by the CEO. The 
period of Executive’s employment under this Agreement is referred to herein as the “Employment Term.”

(b) Obligations. During the Employment Term, Executive will perform his duties faithfully and 
to the best of his ability and will devote his full business efforts and time to the Company. For the duration of the 
Employment Term, Executive agrees not to actively engage in  any other employment, occupation, consulting or other 
business activity directly related to the business in which the Company is now involved or becomes involved during 
the Employment Term for any direct or indirect remuneration without the prior approval of the CEO or the Company’s 
Board of Directors (the “Board”), and Executive will not engage in any other activities that conflict with Executive’s 
obligations to the Company.

2. At-Will Employment. Subject to the terms hereof, Executive’s employment with the Company will 
be “at-will” employment and may be terminated by the Company at any time with or without cause or with or without 
notice. However, as described in this Agreement, Executive may  be entitled to severance benefits depending upon the 
circumstances of Executive’s termination of employment.

3. Compensation.

(a) Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company will pay Executive an annual base 
salary of $400,000 as compensation for his services (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary will be paid periodically in 
accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices and be subject to the usual, required withholding. Executive’s 
Base Salary will be subject to review and adjustments will be made based upon the Company’s normal performance 
review practices.

(b) Bonus. Executive will be eligible to receive a discretionary bonus targeted annually at 50% 
of Executive’s then-current Base Salary (the “Bonus”). Any Bonus may be based on a variety of metrics including 
Executive’s performance and the Company’s performance, and will be paid in the Company’s sole discretion. Because 
a primary objective of the discretionary Bonus is employee retention, Executive will only be eligible to earn a Bonus 
if Executive remains employed by the Company in good standing on the date that the Bonus is paid. The discretionary 
Bonus, if awarded, is generally paid, less the usual, required withholding, in quarterly installments and generally paid 
to employees during the quarter immediately following the end of the performance period to which the bonus relates, 
and in all cases, not later than March 15th of the year after the year to which the bonus relates. All or a portion of the 
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Bonus may,  at the discretion of the  Company, instead of quarterly installments be paid in the form of “spot” or periodic 
bonuses that may be paid throughout the year or in such other form as the Company determines. Any discretionary 
Bonus Executive receives for Q1 of 2017 will reflect a pro-ration based on Executive’s Start Date. The Company’s 
bonus program is subject to change at the Company’s discretion. In addition, the Company may, in their discretion, 
grant additional discretionary bonus amounts to Executive.

(c) Equity.

(i) Initial Stock Option. At the first meeting of the Compensation Committee of the Board 
(the “Compensation Committee”) following the Start Date, the Company will recommend that Executive be granted 
a stock option to purchase 200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock with an exercise price no less than 100% 
of the per share fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant (the “Option”). The Company 
will recommend that, subject to the accelerated vesting provisions set forth herein, the shares subject to the Option be 
scheduled to vest in forty-eight (48) approximately equal monthly installments, subject to Executive’s continued service 
with the Company through each vesting date, with the first vesting date occurring on the one (1)-month anniversary 
of Executive’s ninety-first (91st) day of employment with the Company. The Option will be subject to the terms, 
definitions and provisions of the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and a stock option agreement by and between 
Executive and the Company, which will control the Option grant, and both of which documents are incorporated herein 
by reference.

(ii) Initial RSU Award. At the first Compensation Committee meeting following the Start 
Date, the Company will recommend that Executive be granted 100,000 restricted stock units (the “RSUs”). The 
Company will recommend that the RSUs have a vesting commencement date of the fifteenth (15th) day of the third 
(3rd) month after the Start Date and will vest in approximately equal quarterly amounts over sixteen (16) quarters, 
subject to Executive’s continued service with the Company through each vesting date, with the first vesting date 
occurring on the three (3)-month anniversary of the vesting commencement date. All RSUs will be subject to terms 
and conditions of the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and restricted stock unit agreement provided by the 
Company, which will control the RSU grant, and both of which documents are incorporated herein by reference.

(iii) Executive will be eligible to receive additional awards of stock options, restricted 
stock, restricted stock units or other equity awards pursuant to any plans or arrangements the Company may have in 
effect from time to time. The Board or the Compensation Committee will determine in its discretion whether Executive 
will be granted any such equity awards and the terms of any such award in accordance with the terms of any applicable 
plan or arrangement that may be in effect from time to time.

4. Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, Executive will be entitled to participate in executive 
benefit plans and programs of the Company (including vacation and/or paid- time off), maintained by the Company 
for the benefit of its employees, if any, on the same terms and conditions as other similarly-situated employees to the 
extent that Executive’s position, tenure, salary, age, health and other qualifications make Executive eligible to participate 
in such plans or programs, subject to the rules and regulations applicable thereto. Executive will be provided with 
additional information about those benefits upon or shortly following Executive’s Start Date. The Company reserves 
the right to modify employee compensation and cancel or change the benefit plans and programs it offers to its employees 
at any time in its discretion.

5. Expenses. The Company will reimburse Executive for reasonable travel, entertainment or other 
expenses incurred by Executive in the furtherance of or in connection with the performance of Executive’s duties 
hereunder, in accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursement policy as in effect from time to time.

6. Severance Benefits.

(a) Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason Prior to a Change in Control. If 
the Company terminates Executive’s employment with the Company for a reason  other than Cause (and not by reason 
of Executive’s death or Disability), or Executive resigns from employment with the Company for Good Reason, and 
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in each case, such termination occurs prior to a Change in Control, then subject to Section 8 of this Agreement, Executive 
will receive as severance from the Company: (i) continuing payments of Executive’s Base Salary as in effect on the 
date of Executive’s termination, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures during the 
Severance Period; (ii) the immediate vesting of each of Executive’s then- outstanding Equity Awards as to the number 
of shares subject to each such Equity Award that otherwise would have vested had he remained an employee of the 
Company through the twelve (12)- month anniversary of Executive’s termination of employment; and (iii) subject to 
Section 6(d) below, the Company will either, at the Company’s election, reimburse Executive for the payments 
Executive makes, or pay directly to the insurance provider the premiums, for medical, vision and dental coverage for 
Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents under Title X of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act 
of 1985, as amended or comparable state law (“COBRA”) during the Severance Period or until Executive has secured 
other employment that provides group health insurance coverage, whichever occurs first provided Executive timely 
elects COBRA coverage, remains eligible for COBRA continuation coverage and, with respect to reimbursements, 
pays for COBRA coverage. With respect to Equity Awards granted on or after the Start Date, the same vesting 
acceleration provisions provided in the prior sentence will apply to such Equity Awards except to the extent provided 
in the applicable equity award agreement by explicit reference to this Agreement or to a later employment or other 
agreement providing for similar vesting acceleration provisions. Executive agrees and acknowledges that the terms 
of this Agreement may restrict the Company’s ability to make future modifications, including but not limited 
to the vesting schedule and/or payment timing, to Executive’s restricted stock units, performance shares and 
performance units without risking a violation of Section 409A (as defined below).

(b) Termination due to Death or Disability. If Executive’s employment with the Company 
terminates due to Executive’s death or Disability, regardless of whether before, on or after a Change in Control, then 
subject to Section 8 of this Agreement, Executive or, if applicable, his estate (in which case references to “Executive” 
in this Section 6(b) and in Section 6(d) will be deemed to refer to Executive’s estate) will receive as severance from 
the Company: (i) the immediate vesting as to 100% of each of Executive’s then-outstanding Equity Awards; and (ii) 
subject to Section 6(d) below, the Company will reimburse Executive for the payments Executive makes for medical, 
vision and dental coverage under COBRA during the Severance Period, provided Executive timely elects and pays for 
COBRA coverage and remains eligible for COBRA continuation coverage. With respect to Equity Awards granted on 
or after the Effective Date, the same vesting acceleration provisions provided in the prior sentence will apply to such 
Equity Awards except to the extent provided in the applicable equity award agreement by explicit reference to this 
Agreement or to a later employment or other agreement providing for similar vesting acceleration provisions.

(c) Termination Without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason on or after a Change in Control. 
If the Company terminates Executive’s employment with the Company for a reason other than Cause (and not by 
reason of Executive’s death or Disability), or Executive resigns from employment with the Company for Good Reason, 
and in each case, such termination occurs upon or after a Change in Control, then subject to Section 8 of this Agreement, 
Executive will receive as severance from the Company: (i) continuing payments of Executive’s Base Salary as in effect 
on the date of Executive’s termination, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures during 
the Severance Period; (ii) the immediate vesting as to 100% of each of Executive’s outstanding Equity Awards that 
both are outstanding as of the date of the termination of Executive’s employment and were granted at least ninety (90) 
days prior to the applicable Change in Control; and (iii) subject to Section 6(d) below, the Company will reimburse 
Executive for the payments Executive makes for medical, vision and dental coverage under COBRA during the 
Severance Period or until Executive has secured other employment that provides group health insurance coverage, 
whichever occurs first, provided Executive timely elects and pays for COBRA coverage and remains eligible for 
COBRA continuation coverage. With respect to Equity Awards granted on or after the Effective Date, the same vesting 
acceleration provisions provided in the prior sentence will apply to such Equity Awards except to the extent provided 
in the applicable equity award agreement by explicit reference to this Agreement or to a later employment or other 
agreement providing for similar vesting acceleration provisions.

(d) COBRA Benefits. Any COBRA reimbursements under this Agreement will  be made by the 
Company to Executive consistent with the Company’s normal expense reimbursement policy, provided that Executive 
submits documentation to the Company substantiating his payments for COBRA coverage. However, if the Company 
determines in its sole discretion that it cannot, without potentially violating applicable law (including, without limitation, 
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Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), provide any COBRA reimbursements or direct payments of COBRA 
premiums under this Agreement (either, the “COBRA Benefits”) that otherwise would be due to Executive under this 
Section 6, the Company will not provide, and Executive will not be entitled to, any payments in lieu of any such 
COBRA Benefits to which Executive is entitled under Section 6(b), but the Company will, in lieu of any such COBRA 
Benefits to which Executive is entitled under Section 6(a) or Section 6(c) of this Agreement, provide to Executive a 
taxable monthly payment (“Healthcare Premium Payment”) in an amount equal to the monthly COBRA premium 
that Executive would be required to pay to continue his group health coverage at coverage levels in effect immediately 
prior to Executive’s termination (which amount will be based on the premium for the first month of COBRA coverage), 
which payments will be made regardless of whether Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage. At the same time 
each monthly Healthcare Premium Payment (if any is due) is paid to Executive, the Company also will provide 
Executive with a gross-up amount, determined by the Company, necessary to pay federal and state income and 
employment taxes incurred by Executive with respect to such Healthcare Premium Payment (with such gross-up to 
be calculated by the Company based on the withholding rates the Company has in effect for Executive at the time the 
Healthcare Premium Payment is paid to Executive). Any Healthcare Premium Payments and any related gross-up 
payments will cease to be provided when, and under the same terms and conditions, COBRA Benefits would have 
ceased under this Section 6. For the avoidance of doubt, the taxable payments in lieu of COBRA Benefits may be used 
for any purpose, including, but not limited to, continuation coverage under COBRA, and will be subject to all applicable 
withholdings. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary under this Agreement, if at any time the Company determines 
in its sole discretion that it cannot provide the payments contemplated by the preceding sentence without violating 
applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), Executive will not receive 
such payment or any further COBRA Benefits.

(e) Voluntary Resignation; Termination for Cause. If Executive’s employment with the Company 
terminates (i) voluntarily by Executive (other than for Good Reason and other than due to Executive’s death or 
Disability), or (ii) for Cause by the Company, then Executive will not be entitled to receive severance or other benefits 
(including continued vesting) except for those (if any) as may then be established under the Company’s then-existing 
severance and benefits plans and practices or pursuant to other then-effective written agreements with the Company 
that have not been superseded by this Agreement.

(f) Exclusive Remedy. In the event of a termination of Executive’s employment as set forth in 
Section 6 of this Agreement, the provisions of Section 6 are intended to be and are exclusive and in lieu of and supersede 
any other rights or remedies to which Executive or the Company otherwise may be entitled, whether at law, tort or 
contract or in equity, or under this Agreement (other than the payment of accrued but unpaid wages, as required by 
law, and any unreimbursed reimbursable expenses). Executive will be entitled to no benefits, compensation or other 
payments or rights upon a termination of employment other than those benefits expressly set forth in Section 6 of this 
Agreement.

7. Change in Control Benefits. In the event of a Change in Control that occurs while Executive remains 
an employee of the Company, if Executive remains employed with the Company (or any successor of the Company 
or subsidiary thereof) as of the first day immediately following the twelve (12)-month anniversary of the Closing of 
the Change in Control (such day, the “Post-CIC Anniversary Date”), then 100% of any Equity Awards that both are 
outstanding as of the Post-CIC Anniversary Date and were granted to Executive at least ninety (90) days prior to the 
applicable Change in Control will vest and become fully exercisable (to the extent applicable) at such time.
With respect to Equity Awards granted on or after the Effective Date, but granted prior to the Closing, the same vesting 
acceleration provisions provided in the prior sentence will apply to such Equity Awards except to the extent provided 
in the applicable equity award agreement by explicit reference to this Agreement or to a later employment or other 
agreement providing for similar vesting acceleration provisions.

8. Conditions to Receipt of Severance; No Duty to Mitigate.

(a) Separation Agreement and Release of Claims. The payment of any severance set forth in 
Section 6(a), Section 6(b), Section 6(c) and Section 6(d) above is contingent upon Executive signing and not revoking 
a release of claims agreement with the Company (which may include an agreement not to disparage the Company, 
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non-solicit provisions and other standard terms and conditions) in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company (the 
“Release”) upon or following Executive’s separation from service and such Release becoming effective no later than 
sixty (60) days following Executive’s separation from service (such deadline, the “Release Deadline”). If the Release 
does not become effective by the Release Deadline, Executive will forfeit any rights to severance under this Agreement. 
In no event will severance payments or benefits be paid or  provided until the Release actually becomes effective. Any 
severance payments and benefits under this Agreement will be paid on, or, in the case of installments, will not commence 
until, the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s separation from service, or, if later, such time as required by Section 
8(b)(ii); provided, however, that any acceleration of vesting of options and restricted stock will be provided on the 
Release effectiveness date. Except as required by Section 8(b)(ii), any payments and benefits that would have been 
made to Executive during the sixty (60)-day period immediately following Executive’s separation from service but 
for the preceding sentence will be paid to Executive on the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s separation from 
service and the remaining payments will be made as provided in this Agreement. In no event will Executive have 
discretion to determine the taxable year of payment of any severance payments or benefits.

(b) Section 409A.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no Deferred Payments, 
if any, payable to Executive pursuant to this Agreement will be payable until Executive has a “separation from service” 
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the final 
regulations and official guidance thereunder (“Section 409A”). Similarly, no severance payable to Executive, if any, 
pursuant to this Agreement that otherwise would be exempt from Section 409A pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 
1.409A-1(b)(9) will be payable until Executive has a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A.

(ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Executive is a 
“specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of Executive’s separation from service (other 
than due to death), then the Deferred Payments, if any, that are payable within the first six (6) months following 
Executive’s separation from service, will become payable on the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the 
date of Executive’s separation from service. All subsequent Deferred Payments, if any, will be payable in accordance 
with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if 
Executive dies following his separation from service, but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of the separation from 
service, then any payments delayed in accordance with this Section 8(b)(ii) will be payable in a lump sum as soon as 
administratively practicable after the date of Executive’s death and all other Deferred Payments will be payable in 
accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Each payment, installment and benefit 
payable under this Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of 
the Treasury Regulations.

(iii) Any severance payment that satisfies the requirements of the “short- term deferral” 
rule set forth in Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the Treasury Regulations will not  constitute Deferred Payments for purposes 
herein. Any amount paid under this Agreement that qualifies as a payment made as a result of an involuntary separation 
from service pursuant to Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) of the Treasury Regulations that does not exceed the Section 409A 
Limit (as defined below) will not constitute Deferred Payments for purposes herein. Any payments or benefits due 
under Section 6 of this Agreement will be paid as provided under this Agreement, but in no event later than the last 
day of the second taxable year of Executive following Executive’s taxable year in which Executive’s separation from 
service from the Company occurs.

(iv) For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” means two (2) times the lesser 
of: (x) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive during Executive’s 
taxable year preceding Executive’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under, and 
with such adjustments as are set forth in, Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1) and any Internal Revenue 
Service guidance issued with respect thereto, or (y) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a 
qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which Executive’s employment is terminated.

(v) The foregoing provisions are intended to comply with or be exempt from the 
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requirements of Section 409A so that none of the severance payments and benefits to be provided hereunder will be 
subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities or ambiguous terms herein will be 
interpreted to so comply or be exempt. In no event will the Company reimburse Executive for any taxes that may be 
imposed on Executive as a result of Section 409A. Executive and the Company agree to work together in good faith 
to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or 
desirable to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to actual payment to Executive under 
Section 409A.

(c) Confidential Information Agreement/Non-Solicitation. Executive’s receipt of any payments 
or benefits under Section 6 will be subject to Executive continuing to comply with: (i) the terms of the Confidential 
Information Agreement (as defined in Section 11); (ii) the non- solicitation provisions contained in Section 15; and 
(iii) the provisions of this Agreement. In the event Executive breaches the provisions of this Section 8(c), all continuing 
payments and benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled to pursuant to Section 6 will immediately cease.

(d) No Duty to Mitigate. Executive will not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment 
contemplated by this Agreement, nor will any earnings that Executive may receive from any other source reduce any 
such payment.

9. Limitation on Payments. In the event that the severance or change in control-related or other benefits 
provided for in this Agreement or otherwise payable to Executive (i) constitute “parachute payments” within the 
meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this Section 9, would be subject to the excise tax imposed by 
Section 4999 of the Code, then such payments or benefits will be either:

(a) delivered in full, or

(b) delivered as to such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such benefits being 
subject to excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code, 

whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the 
excise tax imposed by Section 4999, results in the receipt by Executive on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount 
of severance or change in control-related or other benefits, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such benefits 
may be taxable under Section 4999 of the Code. If a reduction in severance and other benefits constituting 
“parachute payments” is necessary so that benefits are delivered to a lesser extent, reduction will occur in the 
following order: (i)reduction of cash payments, which will occur in reverse chronological order such that the cash 
payment owed on the latest date following the occurrence of the event triggering such excise tax will be the first 
cash payment to be reduced; (ii) reduction of acceleration of vesting of equity awards, which will occur in the 
reverse order of the date of grant for such stock awards (i.e., the vesting of the most recently granted stock awards 
will be reduced first); and (iii) reduction of other benefits paid or provided to the Executive, which will occur in 
reverse chronological order such that the benefit owed on the latest date following the occurrence of the event 
triggering such excise tax will be the first benefit to be reduced. If more than one equity award was made to the 
Executive on the same date of grant, all such awards will have their acceleration of vesting reduced pro rata. In no 
event will Executive have any discretion with respect to the ordering of payment reductions.

Unless the Company and Executive otherwise agree in writing, any determination required under this Section 
will be made in writing by a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants selected by the Company 
(the “Accountants”), whose determination will be conclusive and binding upon Executive and the Company for all 
purposes. For purposes of making the calculations required by this Section 9, the Accountants may make reasonable 
assumptions and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations 
concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code. The Company and Executive will furnish to the 
Accountants such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably request in order to make a 
determination under this Section. The Company will bear all costs the Accountants may reasonably incur in connection 
with any calculations contemplated by this  Section 9.
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10. Definitions.

(a) Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means: (i) Executive’s failure to perform 
his assigned duties responsibilities as an employee (other than a failure resulting from Executive’s Disability) after 
written notice thereof from the Company describing Executive’s failure to perform such duties or responsibilities; (ii) 
Executive engaging in any act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation with respect to the Company; (iii) Executive’s 
violation of any federal or state law or regulation applicable to the business of the Company or its affiliates; (iv) 
Executive’s breach of any confidentiality agreement or invention assignment agreement (including, but not limited to, 
the Confidential Information Agreement) between Executive and the Company (or any affiliate of the Company); or 
(v) Executive being convicted of, or entering a plea of nolo contendere to, any crime. For purposes of clarity, Executive’s 
termination of employment due to death or Disability is not, by itself, deemed to be a termination by the Company 
other than for Cause or a resignation for Good Reason.

(b) Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” means the 
occurrence of any of the following:

(i) Change in Ownership of the Company. A change in the ownership of the Company 
which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a group (“Person”), acquires ownership 
of the stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such Person, constitutes more than 50% of the total 
voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (i), the acquisition 
of additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own more than 50% of the total voting power of the stock 
of the Company will not be considered a Change in Control and, provided, further; that the Board may, in its reasonable 
judgment, determine that any change in the ownership of the stock of the Company as a result of a financing of the 
Company or otherwise, in the determination of the Board, for fundraising purposes, in each case that is approved by 
the Board prior to such change in ownership also will not be considered a Change in Control; or

(ii) [RESERVED]; or

(iii)  Change in Ownership of a Substantial Portion of the Company’s Assets. A change 
in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any Person acquires 
(or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person 
or persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than 50% of the total 
gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; 
provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (iii), the following will not constitute a change in the ownership 
of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the Company’s 
stockholders immediately after the transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the 
Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (2) an entity, 
50% or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (3) a Person, 
that owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total value or voting power of all the outstanding stock of the 
Company, or (4) an entity, at least 50% of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by 
a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3) and, provided, further; that the Board may determine that certain asset 
transfers that should not, in the reasonable judgment of the Board (as constituted immediately prior to such asset 
transfers), be considered to be a “Change in Control” due to extenuating factors such as, for example, a determination 
being made to continue its business using only a certain subset of its assets rendering the remainder obsolete or retention 
of the proceeds from such sale by the Company for subsequent business use. For purposes of this subsection (iii), gross 
fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined 
without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.

For purposes of this definition of Change in Control, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they 
are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business 
transaction with the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control unless the transaction 
qualifies as a change in control event within the meaning of Section 409A.
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Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in Control if: (i) its sole 
purpose is to change the state of the Company’s incorporation, or (ii) its sole purpose is to create a holding company 
that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company’s securities immediately 
before such transaction.

(c) Closing. For purposes of this Agreement, “Closing” means the closing of the first transaction 
constituting a Change in Control that occurs on or following the Start Date.

(d) Deferred Payments. For purposes of this Agreement, “Deferred Payments” means any 
severance pay or benefits to be paid or provided to Executive (or Executive’s estate or beneficiaries) pursuant to this 
Agreement and any other severance payments or separation benefits to be paid or provided to Executive (or Executive’s 
estate or beneficiaries), that in each case, when considered together, are considered deferred compensation under 
Section 409A.

(e) Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” means Executive (i) is unable to 
engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment 
which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) 
months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to 
last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period 
of not less than three (3) months under an accident and health plan covering Company employees.

(f) Equity Awards. For purposes of this Agreement, “Equity Awards” means any of Executive’s 
stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, restricted shares of the Company’s common stock 
(including unvested shares Executive has purchased through an early exercise of a stock option grant), stock appreciation 
rights, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units and any other equity compensation awards granted 
by the Company or any successor of the Company.

(g) Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means Executive’s resignation 
within thirty (30) days following the expiration of any Company cure period (discussed below) following the occurrence 
of one or more of the following, without Executive’s consent: (i) a material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary which 
reduction is not applicable to a majority of the Company’s senior management, excluding the substitution of 
substantially equivalent compensation and benefits; (ii) a material reduction of Executive’s authority, duties or 
responsibilities, unless Executive is provided with a comparable position; provided, however, that a reduction in 
authority, duties, or responsibilities primarily by virtue of the Company being acquired and made part of a larger entity 
whether as a subsidiary, business unit or otherwise (as, for example, when the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
remains as such following an acquisition where the Company becomes a wholly owned subsidiary of the acquirer, but 
is not made the Chief Executive Officer of the acquiring corporation) will not constitute “Good Reason”; or (iii) a 
material change in the geographic location of Executive’s primary work facility or location; provided, that a relocation 
of fifty (50) miles or less from Executive’s then present location or to Executive’s home as his primary work location 
will not be considered a material change in geographic location. In order for an event to qualify as Good Reason, 
Executive must not terminate employment with the Company without first providing the Company with written notice 
of the acts or omissions constituting the grounds for “Good Reason” within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of 
the grounds for “Good Reason” and a reasonable cure period of not less than thirty (30) days following the date of 
such notice, and such grounds must not have been cured during such time. Any resignation for Good Reason must 
occur within two (2) years of the initial existence of the acts or omissions constituting the grounds for “Good Reason”.

(h) Severance Period. For purposes of this Agreement, “Severance Period” means the period of 
time commencing immediately after Executive’s separation of service from the Company through the date that is six 
(6) months following such separation date, plus an additional two (2) months for every fully completed Year of Service; 
provided, however, that in all cases the Severance Period will end no later than on the twelve (12)-month anniversary 
of the date of Executive’s termination of employment.
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(i) Year of Service. For purposes of this Agreement, “Year of Service” means the twelve (12)-
month period measured from Executive’s Start Date.

11. Confidential Information. As a condition to  employment, Executive will enter into the Company’s 
standard At-Will Employment, Confidential Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement (the 
“Confidential Information Agreement”) upon or prior to commencing employment hereunder. This Agreement 
requires, among other provisions, Executive’s assignment of intellectual property rights to any invention made during 
Executive’s employment at the Company and non-disclosure of proprietary information.

12. Identity Verification and Employment Authorization. Pursuant to the Immigration Reform and Control 
Act, the Company is required to verify the identity and employment authorization of all new hires. To comply with 
this legal obligation, the Company must complete an Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9 within three (3) 
days of Executive’s Start Date or the Company’s employment relationship with Executive may be terminated. 
Information about what Executive will need to bring to work to complete this form will be provided to Executive as 
soon as possible following Executive’s execution and return of this Agreement.

13. Reference and Background Checks. This offer of employment with the Company is contingent upon 
the Company’s satisfactory completion of reference and background checks, proof of Executive’s authorization to 
work in the United States and Executive’s execution of the provided Confidential Information Agreement.

14. No Conflicting Obligations. Executive confirms that Executive is not under any existing obligations 
that may impact Executive’s eligibility to be employed by the Company or limit the manner in which Executive may 
be employed. Executive agrees not to bring any third-party confidential information to the Company, including that 
of Executive’s former employer, and that Executive will not in any way utilize any such information in performing 
Executive’s duties for the Company.

15. Non-Solicitation. Until the date one (1)-year after the termination of Executive’s employment with 
the Company for any reason, Executive agrees not, either directly or indirectly, to solicit, induce, attempt to solicit, 
recruit, or encourage any employee of the Company (or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) to leave his 
employment either for Executive or for any other entity or person. Executive represents that he (i) is familiar with the 
foregoing covenant not to solicit, and (ii) is fully aware of his obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, the 
reasonableness of the length of time, scope and geographic coverage of these covenants.

16. Successors.

(a) The Company’s Successors. Any successor to the Company (whether direct  or indirect and 
whether by purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the Company’s 
business and/or assets will assume the obligations under this Agreement and agree expressly to perform the obligations 
under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform such 
obligations in the absence of a succession. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” will include 
any successor to the Company’s business and/or assets which executes and delivers the assumption agreement described 
in this Section 16(a) or which becomes bound by the terms of this Agreement by operation of law.

(b) Executive’s Successors. The terms of this Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder 
will inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, 
administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.

17. Notices.

(a) General. Notices and all other communications contemplated by this Agreement will be in 
writing and will be deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered or when mailed by U.S. registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid or when delivered by a private courier service such as UPS, 
DHL or Federal Express that has tracking capability. In the case of Executive, mailed notices will be addressed to him 
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at the home address which he most recently communicated to the Company in writing. In the case of the Company, 
mailed notices will be addressed to its corporate headquarters, and all notices will be directed to the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company.

(b) Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause or by Executive for Good 
Reason or as a result of a voluntary resignation will be communicated by a notice of termination to the other party 
hereto given in accordance with Section 17(a) of this Agreement. Such notice will indicate the specific termination 
provision in this Agreement relied upon, will set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to 
provide a basis for termination under the provision so indicated, and will specify the termination date (which will be 
not more than thirty (30) days after the giving of such notice). The failure by Executive to include in the notice any 
fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason will not waive any right of Executive hereunder 
or preclude Executive from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing Executive’s rights hereunder.

18. Severability. In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect without said 
provision.

19. Integration. This Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties 
as to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements whether written or oral, but 
this Agreement does not supersede any applicable Company policy with respect to the treatment of Company equity 
awards upon death or disability. This Agreement may be modified only by agreement of the Parties by a written 
instrument executed by the Parties that is designated as an amendment to this Agreement.

20. Waiver of Breach. No provision of this Agreement will be modified, waived or discharged unless the 
modification, waiver or discharge is agreed to in writing and signed by Executive and by an authorized officer of the 
Company (other than Executive). The waiver of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement will not operate 
as or be construed to be a waiver of any other previous or subsequent breach of this Agreement.

21. Headings. All captions and section headings used in this Agreement are for convenient reference only 
and do not form a part of this Agreement.

22. Tax Withholding. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to withholding of 
applicable taxes.

23. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of California (with the 
exception of its conflict of laws provisions).

24. Acknowledgment. Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to  discuss this matter 
with and obtain advice from his private attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands 
all the provisions of this Agreement, including that Executive is waiving his right to a jury trial, and is knowingly 
and voluntarily entering into this Agreement.

25. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, and each counterpart will have the 
same force and effect as an original and will constitute an effective, binding agreement on the part of each of the 
undersigned.

26. Deadline for Execution. The offer under this Agreement will expire at the close of business on March 
1, 2017, if the Company has not received Executive’s signed Agreement and Confidential Information Agreement by 
that date.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



[SIGNATURE PAGE TO MICHAEL DARROW EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by 
their duly authorized officers, as of the day and year first above written.

COMPANY:

TRUECAR, INC.

By: /s/ Chip Perry
Title: CEO

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Michael Darrow
MICHAEL DARROW
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